8X8 INC /DE/

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 6/29/2007 For Period Ending 3/31/2007

Address 3151 JAY STREET

SANTA CLARA, California 95054
Telephone 408-727-1885
CIK 0001023731
Industry Communications Services
Sector Services
Fiscal Year 03/31

powered 8y EINGA ROnline

hitpiherwew_edgar-online.com/
D Copyright 2005. All Rights Reservad
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Onlines Terms of Use.




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007

Commiission file number 00621783

8x8, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as Specified in its Grart

Delaware 77-0142404
(State or Other Jurisdiction of IncorporationQrganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Nbar)

3151 Jay Street
Santa Clara, CA 95054
(Address of Principal Executive Offices includingpZode)

(408) 7271885

(Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Gode

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefRct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $.001 PER Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
SHARE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(gh@fct: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant isell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleof®e Securities Act.
YES O NO

Indicate by check mark if the registrantd required to file reports pursuant to Sectiorol $ection 15(d) of the Act.
YES O NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registtahhas filed all reports required to be filed®gction 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exche
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiech shorter period that the registrant was reduodile reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

YES NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of dglient filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation $8&29.405 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the beskgistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infaation statements incorporated by refere



in Part Il of this Form10-K or any amendment tstRorm 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registiaatlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated, filea non-accelerated filer. See definition of
"accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRie 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registimiatshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 efffkchange Act).
YES O NO

Based on the closing sale price of the Reggits common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Marke$t8m on September 30, 2006, the
aggregate market value of the voting stock helddy-affiliates of the Registrant was $60,355,11d. furposes of this disclosure, shares of
common stock held by persons who hold more tharobéhte outstanding shares of common stock and shesle by officers and directors of
the Registrant have been excluded because suamparsy be deemed to be affiliates. The deternoinati affiliate status for this purpose is
not necessarily a conclusive determination for @fer purpose.

The number of shares of the Registrant's comstock outstanding as of June 15, 2007 was 68321

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part Il inmate information by reference from the Proxy &tagnt to be filed within 120 days of March
31, 2007 for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockhodder

Note: PDF provided as a courtesy

8X8, INC.

INDEX TO
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007

Part I. Page
ltem 1. Business 1
Item 1A. Risk Factors 12
Iltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments 25
Item 2.  Properties 25
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 25
Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 25
Part II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Relatexlifty Holder Matters 25
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 27
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finanataddtion and Results of Operations 27
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk 40
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 41
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @ouing and Financial Disclosure 74
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures 74
Iltem 9B.  Other Information 75
Part 1.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveoaa 75
ltem 11. Executive Compensation 75
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder 75

Matters



Iltem 13.
Iltem 14.

Part IV.

Iltem 15.

Signatures

Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsarettor Independence

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

75
76

76
77




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

Statements contained in this annual report on Fb@AK, or Annual Report, regarding our expectationdjelf® estimates, intentions
strategies are forwardoking statements within the meaning of SectioA 27 the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exde Act. An
statements contained herein that are not statenoértistorical fact may be deemed to be forwkmoking statements. For example, wc
such as "may," "will," "should,” "estimates,” "piet," "potential,” "continue,” "strategy," "belies," "anticipates,” "plans," "expect
"intends," and similar expressions are intendeidi¢ntify forward-looking statements. You should ptace undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements. Actual results and trends mgrdmaterially from historical results or thoseopected in any such forwaldeoking
statements depending on a variety of factors. Tfagers include, but are not limited to, custoraeceptance and demand for our voice
Internet protocol, or VolIP, telephony products aedvices, the reliability of our services, the psidor our services, customer renewal r
customer acquisition costs, actions by our commstitincluding price reductions for their telephaservices, potential federal and s
regulatory actions, compliance costs, potentialrargy claims and product defects, our needs fortaedavailability of adequate worki
capital, our ability to innovate technologicalljhet timely supply of products by our contract maotufeers, potential future intellecti
property infringement claims that could adverseffe@ our business and operating results, and dilityato retain our listing on tr
NASDAQ Capital Market. The forwa-looking statements may also be impacted by thetiaddl risks faced by us as described in
Report, including those set forth under the sectiotitled "Factors that May Affect Future Resuliall' forward-looking statements includ

in this Annual Report are based on information lakéé to us on the date hereof, and we assume ligatbn to update any such forward-
looking statements. Readers are urged to carefeMiew and consider the various disclosures madbisnAnnual Report, which attempt
advise interested parties of the risks and fadt@smay affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.

Ouir fiscal year ends on March 31 of each calendar.yEach reference to a fiscal year in this AnRegort, refers to the fiscal year ending
March 31 of the calendar year indicated (for examfiscal 2007 refers to the fiscal year ended M&t, 2007). Unless the context requires
otherwise, references to "we," "us," "our," "8x8ldahe "Company" refer to 8x8, Inc. and its cordatied subsidiaries.

Overview

We develop, market and sell telecommunication ses/and technology for Internet protocol, or Iepgkony and video applications. We
offer the Packet8 broadband VolP, phone servicekd?8 Virtual Office service and Packet8 videophegaipment and service. We shipped
our first VolIP product in 1998, launched our Pa8lksdrvice in November 2002, launched the Packat8ialiOffice business service in Ma
2004 and launched the Packet8 videophone servidenia 2004. As of March 31, 2007, we had more 1¥n000 Packet8 residential and
videophone lines and approximately 7,000 Packetgigli Office companies in service.

The Packet8 voice and video broadband phone seifeeket8) enables broadband Internet users to digithl voice and vide
communications services to their high-speed Intecomnections. Customers can choose a daidtphone number from any of the 1
centers offered by the service, and then use ars8gflied terminal adapter to connect any telephioreebroadband Internet connection
make or receive calls from a regular telephone rermAll Packet8 telephone accounts come with vaiegl, caller ID, call waiting, ce
waiting caller ID, call forwarding, hold, line-atate, 3-way conferencing, web and vomrempt access to account controls, and o
billing. In addition, we offer videophones and vadelephony software in conjunction with our seevitans that connect to a customer's high-
speed Internet connection to deliver all of thecedieatures above, as well as unlimited video d¢alny other Packet8 videophone custc
in the world. We also offer IP telephones with biril connectivity to Packet8 via an IP connector lwa phone. We have developed a sui
business services called Packet8 Virtual Office thffer feature-rich communications services to kraad mediumsized business tr
eliminate the need for traditional telecommunicagigervices and business phone systems. Our pripnagyict focus is on replacing priv
branch exchange, or PBX, telephone systems inntfadl susiness marketplace with a hosted busine$B Vo
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solution. Packet8 Virtual Office can completelylege a company's PBX infrastructure and deliveteddicom services over a managed or
unmanaged Internet connection. We also sell prgrpromed analog telephones with speakerphones disglay screen, in conjunction with
our Virtual Office service plans, which enable business customers to access additional featuréstafl Office through on-screen menus
on the phone.

Available Information

We maintain a corporate Internet website at theesddhttp://www.8x8.com. The contents of this wibare not incorporated in or otherw
to be regarded as part of this Annual Report. Wéeréiports with the Securities and Exchange Comanser SEC, which are available on
website free of charge. These reports include dmeparts on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on For@aQ, current reports on Formk8-anc
amendments to such reports, each of which is peovioh our website as soon as reasonably practiedtde we electronically file su
materials with or furnish them to the SEC. You a#so read and copy any materials we file with tB€ %t the SEC's Public Reference R
at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Yam obtain additional information about the operaif the Public Reference Room
calling the SEC at 1.800.SEC.0330. In addition, $6C maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that costa@ports, proxy and informati
statements, and other information regarding isstinextsfile electronically with the SEC, including.u

Industry Background

VolIP is a technology that enables communicationsr akie Internet through the compression of voiééew and/or other media into d
packets that can be efficiently transmitted ovaadeetworks and then converted back into the asigimedia at the other end.dba network:
such as the Internet or local area networks, or § Aave always utilized packeivitched technology to transmit information betwéen
communicating terminals (for example, a PC downilogié page from a web server, or one computer sgrah email message to anott
computer). The most common protocol used for conioating on these packet switched networks is IRPvallows for the transmission
voice along with other data over these same paskigthed networks, and provides an alternativeaditional telephone networks, which
a fixed electrical path to carry voice signals tigb a series of switches to a destination.

As a result of the potential cost savings and addatlires of VolP, consumers, enterprises, tratititelecommunication service providers
and cable television providers are viewing VolRhesfuture of telecommunications. VolP has expesensignificant growth in recent years
due to:

e Demand for lower cost telephone service;

e | mproved quality and reliability of VoIP calls dte technological advances, increased network deweént and greater bandwidth
capacity; and

e New product innovations that allow VolP providessoffer services not currently offered by tradiébrtelephone companies.

IDC predicts that residential U.S. VoIP subscribei$ grow from 10.3 million in 2006 to 44 milliomn 2010. Access Market Internatio
Partners, Inc. report that the hosted business VimFket in North America will grow from the curreB®4,000 lines in service general
$416 million in revenue to 3 million lines generati$1.6 billion in revenue by 2010.

The traditional telephone networks maintained byynacal and long distance telephone companiesyhres the publicwitched telephor
networks, or PSTN, were designed solely to carmy-fidelity audio signals with a high level of relidibj. Although these tradition
telephone networks are very reliable for voice camitations, we believe these networks are not stétked to service the explosive gro
of digital communication applications for the fallimg reasons:

e They are expensive to build because each subssrtbphone must be individually connected tocénaral office switch, which is
usually several miles away from a typical subsctiblecation;

e They transmit data at very low rates and resolstiomaking them poorly suited for delivering higtdiity audio, entertainmeruality
video or other rich multimedia content;

e They use dedicated circuits for each telephone waikh circuits allot fixed bandwidth throughobtietduration of each call, whethel
not voice is actually being transmitted; and




e They may experience difficulty in providing newdifferentiated services or functions, such as vide@mmunications, that the
network was not originally designed to accommodate.

Until recently, traditional telephone companieséavoided the use of packet switched networksrémsmitting voice calls due to the
potential for poor sound quality attributable ttelacy issues (delays) and lost packets which cewept real-time transmission. Recent
improvements in packet switching technology, corapien and broadband access technologies, as welpagved hardware and
provisioning techniques, have significantly imprduge quality and usability of packet-switched wogalls.

Historically, packet-switched networks were buikinly for carrying non real-time data, althoughytlaee now fully capable of transmitting
real time data. The advantages of such networkthareefficiency, flexibility and scalability. Bawidth is only consumed when needed.
Networks can be built in a variety of configurasaie suit the number of users, client/server appibo requirements and desired availab

of bandwidth, and many terminals can share the sameection to the network. As a result, signifitamore traffic can be transmitted over
a packet-switched network, such as a home netwuaitkeolnternet, than a circuit-switched telephoeywork. Packet switching technology
allows service providers to converge their tradidily separate voice and data networks and moigeaftly utilize their networks by carrying
voice, video, facsimile and data traffic over theng® network. The improved efficiency of packet shiiig technology creates network cost
savings that can be passed on to the consumee fioitim of lower telephony rates.

The growth of the Internet in recent years has @nahe scalability of these underlying packet-smétt networks. As broadband connectivity,
including cable modem and digital subscriber lmeDSL, has become more available and less experisig now possible for service
providers like us to offer voice and video servitlest run over these IP networks to businessesemidential consumers. Providing such
services has the potential to both substantiallelathe cost of telephone service and equipmerts toghese customers and to increase the
breadth of features available to our subscribezsvi€es like full-motion, two-way video are now ggoted by the bandwidth spectrum
commonly available to broadband customers, whéthsiness or residential.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to provide reliable, scalable, panafitable worldwide Internet communication seesavith unmatched quality by delivering
innovative technologies and services. We fostezrarironment that empowers our employees to pravidédest service to our customers and
partners in every way that they interact with ug Mtend to bring the best possible voice and vigleadlucts and services, at an affordable
price, to businesses and residential consumergrimahce the ways in which these customers comntaniéeh each other, and with the
world.

Specific strategies to accomplish this objectivadude:

e Focus on our Packet8 Virtual Office product line. Towards the end of fiscal 2006, we began to shétfbcus of our sales and
marketing efforts to growing the Packet8 VirtuafiG# services and applications. Packet8 Virtuai&@ffenerates higher margins for
us than our residential consumer service offerifige. businesses that subscribe to the servicequakiéd premise equipment and
generate higher monthly service revenues. In amdithey are more likely to subscribe to our adddil services and are less likely to
leave the service.

e Capitalize on our technological expertise to introduce new products and features. Over the past 10 years, we have developed or
acquired several core technologies that form tlokiiene of our video and VolP service and which miend to use to develop prod
enhancements and future products. We developeehifigoint technologies used to provide video andevsérvice at the customer
premises, and control the embedded software tinatthese endpoint devices. As a result, we aretahipdate the software
functionality of our customers' endpoints withchitd party assistance. We were the first VolP sergrovider to ship two-way video-
enabled hardware, and our Packet8 Virtual Officgises are one of the most featuieh hosted VolP business service in the indu

e Offer the best possible service and support to our customers with a world class customer support organization. We have established a
call center and customer support group at our hestlers in Santa Clara, California and have outslicall center operations in lo
City, lowa and Santa Maria, California. We alsodawested in significant upgrades to our exisbagk office infrastructure to
enhance the support we can provide to new andmxistibscribers, as well as our distribution pagn®ur strengths include custor
service from onshore,




technically sophisticated customer service agéhtis.call center statistics are better than thestiguaverages with abandoned call
rates averaging less than 5% and average wait awesiging less than one minute.

e Develop additional distribution channels. We have established relationships with reselletsjlers and other distributors of
telecommunications products and services such fise@epot with whom we launched the sale of owdpicts in 1,100 stores in the
third fiscal quarter of 2007. To further accelergtewth of our Packet8 residential and businessriofis, we intend to build upon our
existing relationships and establish new relatigestvith distributors, value added resellers arstesy integrators, other service
providers, equipment manufacturers and retailemdke our products more readily available and ailskesto potential customers of
our services.

Our Packet8 Services

Packet8 is the brand that we use to market ourretébased communication services. These servicek aver virtually any higtspeel
Internet connection in the world, and allow calisor from any phone in the world, whether that phéman IP phone or a PSTN phc
Packet8 utilizes IP communication endpoints (ieeQroadband phone adapter) which, when used irugotipn with the Packet8 netw
software and any standard telephone, enable pldgpkay installation and a familiar dialtone useteiface. The Packet8 service also

web-based technologies to enable account setup, acommagement, billing and customer support. We hiweloped a significant amo
of the technology underlying our Packet8 servickictv works with third party carriers to terminatel? calls on the PSTN network. As |
of the Packet8 service, we currently resell privanded telephone IP terminal adapters that alloggalar analog telephone to be conne
to an IP network, IP telephones and videophones,paeprogrammed business telephones. These dextities derivatives of our licens
semiconductor technology and certain unique sofiwaodifications to the protocol and application €dkat enable them to connect to
Packet8 IP services platform. We continue to enbamel develop new functionality in the softwareectitht is embedded in these devices.

Products and Services
Packet8 VolP and Video Telephone Service

Our Packet8 VolP telephone service was introducedldovember 2002. To obtain the service, the customast enter into a servi
agreement with us and select a calling plan basdgti@anticipated use of the service. Service phaogide various minutes of usage, up t
unlimited amount, for calls in North America andrn@da that are made to non-Packet8 customers. $hdrscare charged at a painute rat
for international calls to noRacket8 customers, and, depending on the levelaof gelected, may be charged for calls to the P8They
exceed the minutes allowed under the chosen pltf Aur plans allow for unlimited calling betwe&acket8 customers. Depending or
service plan selected, 8x8 will either sell or pdevat no cost to the customer the 8x8 broadbandelhdapter or desktop videophone tc
with the Packet8 service. Each subscriber is asdigntelephone number in any of the area codesiaerlying rate centers currently offe
by the service. We currently offer area codes ityfeix U.S. states and the ability for a subscribepaat a number from another sen
provider. All Packet8 customers can receive actess variety of telephone features, including vaicail, caller 1D, call forwarding, ce
waiting, 3way calling, online account management and billinggrnational call blocking and caller ID blocking/e currently offer enhanc
911, or E911, service on all Packet8 calling phaith a United States service address. A Packet8 Eall is routed as 911 emergency tre
and is accompanied by caller information, whichkdes emergency personnel to ensure that calleesvieethe exact same response that
receive from 911 services provided by landline mbent telephone carriers. Subscribers may also tudivieee numbers (e.g., 800 numb
or virtual numbers. A virtual number is an addiagbphone number, which will ring through to an érig subscriber line. We offer virtt
numbers in all of our U.S. rate centers, as welhasertain areas of the United Kingdom, France,Nletherlands, Norway, Sweden, Finle
Italy, Ireland and Denmark. We are also offerinded over IP service using the Packet8 Tango or BuWs&eophone products which inclu
all of the voice service plans and features deedribove plus unlimited video calls to any otherkiét8 videophone subscriber anywher
the world.

Packet8 Virtual Office Business Telephone Service

Our Packet8 Virtual Office business class teleptsm®ice was launched in March 2004 and is targatéide small and medium-sized
business market. Packet8 Virtual Office is an gasyse alternative to traditional PBX systems ont@x class services from legacy
telecommunications providers, and provides featanesservices that neither can provide. Packet@idiOffice allows users with a high-
speed Internet connection anywhere in the worltktpart of a virtual PBX that includes automatedratants to assist callers, conference
bridges, extension-to-extension dialing and ringugss, in addition




to a rich variety of other business class PBX feztunormally found on dedicated PBX equipment. Bt&Kirtual Office extensions do not
require dedicated communications infrastructures 3érvice is received through an office's existirigrnet connection, thus eliminating the
need for additional phone lines or digital subsarilnes for extensions, in contrast to traditioBehtrex or PBX products.

Packet8 Virtual Office subscribers have the abtlityhoose any phone number available to Packé&t&csbers regardless of a user's
geographic location. Subscribers also can port rusncluding tollfree numbers, from other service providers. Eadaresion in the virtue
PBX can be located anywhere in the world with Iné&traccess and Packet8 Virtual Office extensioextension calls and transfers are
accomplished over the Internet, anywhere in thddyémee of extra charges to third party telecomioations carriers. Packet8 Virtual Office
offers the following essential services for smalllanedium-sized businesses:

Auto-attendant providing dial by extension, naméygroup;
Unlimited calling to the US, Canada and other P& kabscribers, as well as low international rates;
Unlimited Packet8 extension-to-extension dialingvalnere in the world;
Direct Inward Dial (DID) phone number with any desi area code for each extension;
Conference bridge, 3-Way conferencing, music on heall park/pick-up, call transfer, hunt groupsdalo not disturb;
Business-class voice mail including email alens] direct transfer to mailbox;
Call waiting / Caller-1D;
Distinctive tone ringing; and
Optional receptionist console application offering:
o Multiple call viewing and handling;
o Direct transfer to extension's voicemail;
o Supervised transfers; and
o View of extension status.

As of March 31, 2007, each Packet8 Virtual Officstomer subscribed to an average of seven services.
Wholesale Voice and Video Services

Our wholesale voice and video services include rapgete suite of VolP platforms with a session atitin protocol, or SIP, IP switchi
infrastructure at its core, and voice, video andeless endpoint devices to form a complete, enelhtb-solution. Our technology deliv
differentiating features for residential, businessl video value-added services withlranding and private branding options availabl
enable our partners to offer a differently labebkatvice similar to Packet8. Our network addressensal, or NAT, firewall travers
technologies and quality of service, or QOS, teghes are also integrated into the wholesale soluffowholesale billing interface is al
included, enabling service providers to deployiagte-branded offering that integrates into exggtimoadband billing platforms.

During fiscal 2006, we launched new private lalegl/ces with DSG international in the United Kingaddgunder thdreetalk brand) and wit
BellSouth in its nine state region bundled withIBelith's FastAccess DSL services. The agreemehtD#G was terminated in the sec
fiscal quarter of 2007. The agreement with Belleowas terminated in the fourth fiscal quarter 0020n connection with its merger w
at&t. Wholesale revenues represented less tharpéweent of total revenues in fiscal 2007.
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Broadband Phone Adapter

Our broadband phone adapter, or BPA, product Sreeset of telephone handset&ifiernet adapters that interface regular analogehuvitt
IP-based telephony networks. We use the BPA-41®fwrVirtual Office service and the broadband phgateway, or BPG10, for ou
residential service. We also have begun shippimgwa device, the BPA30, with our Virtual Office services. The BPA oP8 device i
installed by the subscriber at its premises angaup up to two voice ports with its own directIdidone number. These adapters ri
variety of communication and network protocols/uging SIP and MGCP.

Video Terminal Adapter

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2007, we launchled Packet8 Tango videophone terminal adapter VTAZ64 Packet8 Tango is an ada
that interfaces regular analog phones wittb#8ed telephony networks. The Packet8 Tango cantdirof the voice features of a regi
Packet8 service account. In addition, when a P&ckieleophone subscriber calls another Packet8 piu@oe subscriber, the videopha
connect with instant-on higepeed video sent over the Internet. The videophoaede configured by the user to use a maximuad tatt:
bandwidth between 84 kilobits per second and 64dbks per second. The video quality of the callies with the data bandwidth selec
and other network conditions. The Packet8 Tangeoptione is designed to be compatible with othermp®dkocol devices.

Desktop IP Videophone

Our desktop videophone product, the DV326, is arvitleophone that contains all of the voice featwes regular Packet8 service.
addition, when a Packet8 videophone subscribes emlbther Packet8 videophone subscriber, the viteggs connect with instant-on high-
speed video sent over the Internet. The videophoaede configured by the user to use a maximuah datta bandwidth between 84 kilol
per second and 640 kilobits per second. The videdity of the call varies with the data bandwidéhested and other network conditions.
Packet8 videophone is designed to be compatible attier SIP protocol devices. During the fourth rtgraof fiscal 2006, we suspenc
purchases of the DV326, which were a major contoibto our negative product margins. In the secgudrter of fiscal 2007, we place
final order with our equipment manufacturer, or OFiNthe DV326 at a lower price point. We do nopest to order additional DV326 in 1
future.

Packet8 Enabled Handsets

Uniden America Corporation, or Uniden, offers thRaeket8 service-ready whole house VolP phonemgstihe UIP1868, the UIP160P and
the UIP165P. These products are Packet8-enabl&Hz. 8igital expandable corded/cordless phonesatfgéxpandable to multiple handsets,
deploying VolIP capability to each handset usiningls highspeed Internet connection. Incorporating 8x8'srhaetelephony software, the
Uniden phones offer plug-and-play access to Patk&t8ture-rich broadband telephone service, acidde a built-in 1-port router. The
Uniden Packet8- enabled phones also include oneepport to interface external analog phone deviesh as an answering machine or
facsimile machine, to the base station.

Packet8 Softalk

In the second quarter of fiscal 2007, we launchaeckt8 Softalk. Packet8 Softalk is a video-enaBldIsoftphone for use with Packet8 voice
and video Internet phone services. With Softalkbssubers can make and receive voice and videogbalfs directly from their personal
computers using any microphone, speaker and/orcaetera attached to the computer. Along with tradél landlines and cell phones,
Softalk users can also call Packet8 videophonecsibigss to enjoy high quality video communicatiavisen traveling without needing to

carry along a DV326 or Packet8 Tango videophone.

We use third-party manufacturers to make the videaps, broadband phone adapters, business telephod&ordless handsets that we sell
to our customers. We do not have long-term purchgseements with any of our contract manufactuk&ftsle we believe that we could
replace our suppliers if necessary, our abilitpriovide service to our subscribers would be impghdigring this timeframe, and this could
have an adverse effect on our business, finaneiaition and results of operations.

Sales, Marketing and Promotional Activities

We currently sell and market our Packet8 and P8&cké@tual Office services to end users through direct sales force, website, re
channels, online channels, network marketing fiamg third party resellers. We launched the reteahnel in
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fiscal 2005 and since then have entered into aeraegts with numerous electronics retail chainsh siscCompUSA, Fry's, J&R Music Wo
and Office Depot, and on-line retailers includingndzon.com and TigerDirect. We also have developseh&ork marketing channel and
entered into agreements with marketing firms suc@agnigen, Escape International and Melaleucangmthers. These network marketing
firms contract with networks of independent agevite resell our services and receive commissions fie. Retail channels, online channels,
network marketing firms and third party reselleengrated approximately 40% of our subscriber amttbtin fiscal 2007.

We sell devices required to use our service throreghil stores and olire retailers. All retailers have unlimited returights of thit
equipment. We offer all of our customers a 12-mamdéinranty from the date of purchase for defectiyeigment.

We market our wholesale voice and video servicerfg to Internet service providers, cable teleristompanies and digital subscriber |
or DSL, providers. Packet8 is offered to thesedtiparties through reseller agreements, hosted eephigl service agreements or equipr
manufacturer, or OEM technology license agreements.

Competition

We face strong competition from incumbent telephoo@panies, cable companies and alternative voidesleo communication providers.
Because most of our target customers are already@sing communications services from one or mbthase providers, our success is
dependent upon our ability to attract these custsraeay from their existing providers. This willdzene more difficult as the early adopter
market becomes saturated and mainstream custonagesup more of our target market. We believe thatprincipal competitive factors
affecting our ability to attract and retain custosare price, call quality, reliability, customergice, and enhanced services and features. For
more information regarding the risks associateth witch strong competition, please refer to ItemRi&k Factors Intense competition in

the markets in which we compete could prevent us &m increasing or sustaining our revenue and prevenis from achieving

profitability. "

I ncumbent telephone companies

The incumbent telephone companies are our primamypetitors and have historically dominated thegigaal markets. These competitors
include AT&T, Qwest Communications and Verizon Coamications as well as rural incumbents, such adéfiram Corporation. These
competitors are substantially larger and betteitabged than we are and have the advantage ofja kxisting customer base, providing
broadband services that are required to use oviceeand larger marketing budgets than we have.

Cable companies

These competitors include companies such as CalayiComcast, Cox Communications and Time Warradnl€C Cable companies have
made and are continuing to make substantial inverstisrin delivering last mile broadband Interneteasdo their customers. As a result, they
are offering bundled services inclusive of phonwise. Cable companies are able to advertise dnlteal access channels with no
significant out- of-pocket cost and through maiirig bills with little marginal cost. They also ed¢e advertising time as part of their
relationships with television networks, and theg able to use this time to promote their telephsergice offerings.

Alternative voice and video communication providers

There are many alternative competitors for the Btckesidential service which includes AT&T Calltage, Net2Phone, Sunrocket, and
Vonage. There are also many competitors for ouggithone services and videoconferencing systemagding Polycom and various softwi
offerings that implement videophone functionality @ personal computer. Competitors for the Packat8al Office service include
traditional PBX and key system manufacturers aed tiesellers, including Avaya and Toshiba, Centewices offered by incumbent
telephone companies, and VolP services offeredduwa@, XO Communications, Cbeyond, M5 Networks atiéiocompanies.

Operations

We have a centrally managed platform consistindaté management, monitoring, control and billingtesns, that support all of our prodt
and services. We have invested substantial resouccelevelop and implement our réate call management information system.
elements of this system include customer provisigncustomer access, fraud control, network sgcudll routing, call monitoring, mec
processing and normalization, call reliability, ashetailed call records. Our platform monitors otmgess of digitizing and compressing v«
and video into packets and transmitting these pgaakeer data networks around the world. We maingadall switching platform, which is
software-based product that manages call




admission, call control, call rating and routedsctd an appropriate destination or endpoint. Unitae recipient is using an Internet telephony
device, the packets (representing a voice andéwmovcall initiated by a Packet8 subscriber) are¢ ea gateway belonging to one of our
partner telecommunications carriers where the pa@e reassembled and the call is transferrdtet®STN and directed to a regular
telephone anywhere in the world. Our billing andkbaffice systems manage and enroll customers dinchbs as they originate and
terminate on the service.

Network Operations Center

We maintain a network operations center at our tpeaders in Santa Clara, California and employaé sf 10 individuals with experience
both voice and data operations to provide I2d4r operations support We use various tools toitmoand manage all elements of our nety
in realtime. Additionally, our network operations centeoyides technical support to troubleshoot equipnaewt network problems. We a
rely upon the network operations centers and ressuof our telecommunications carrier partnersugneent our monitoring and respo
efforts.

Customer and Technical Support

We maintain a call center at our headquarters mé&S@lara, California and have a staff of 84 emeks/and contractors that provide custc
service and technical support to customers. Intaadiwe have outsourced certain customer supmtistites to third parties. We also prov
customer service and technical support directlpuo resellers, while some resellers provide thein @upport directly to their suleseller.
and customers. Customers who access our servicestlgithrough our web site receive customer sendad technical support throt
multilingual telephone communication, web-basedamer service and e-mail support.

Interconnection Agreements

We are party to telecommunications interconnectsandice agreements with VolP providers and PSTétoenmunications carriers, such as
our 24-month agreement with Level 3 Communicatievtsch is for domestic services which expires oryN3&, 2008 and for international
services, which is in effect from March 1, 2007otigh May 31, 2008. Pursuant to these agreementB, 8&dls originating on our network
can be terminated on other VolP networks or theNPSJorrespondingly, calls originating on other Vai€tworks and the PSTN can be
terminated on our network. While we believe théatiens with our suppliers are good, there candassurance that our suppliers will be

or willing to supply products and services to ushie future.

Research and Development

The VolP market is characterized by rapid technicligchanges and advances. Accordingly, we maksetantial investments in the des
and development of new products and services, 4sawéhe development of enhancements and featoresr existing Packet8 products
services. Future development also will focus on uBe and interoperability of our products and sewiwith emerging audio and vic
telephony standards and protocols, quality andopeidince enhancements to multimedia compressiornithlgs, the 802.11 standard «
other wireless applications. We also seek to devakw endpoints for subscribers to our services.béleve that the development of r
products and the enhancement of existing produetsssential to our success.

We currently employ 25 individuals in research, @lepment and engineering activities in our fa@htin Santa Clara, California and So|
Antipolis, France. Research and development exgeinseach of the fiscal years ended March 31, 22006 and 2005 were $4.7 millic
$5.9 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Regulatory

Although several regulatory proceedings are undgmvare being contemplated by federal and stateoaties, including the Federal
Communications Commission, or FCC, and state régylagencies, VolP communication services haveameed largely unregulated in the
United States when compared to traditional telegtsamvices. To date, VolP service providers hawanbmainly treated as information
service providers although the FCC has thus faidadospecifically ruling on this classification foénmation service providers are largely
exempt from most federal and state regulations g traditional common carriers. The FCC is catleexamining the status of VolP
service providers and the services they provide. HGC initiated a notice of proposed rule-makin@ W) in early 2004 to gather public
comment on the appropriate regulatory environmentR telephony. In November 2004, the FCC ruled the VolP service of a competitor
and "similar" services are jurisdictionally intext and not subject to state certification, targfand most other state telecommunications
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regulations. The FCC ruling was appealed by sewtatés and on March 21, 2007, the United Statest@bAppeals for the & Circuit
affirmed the FCC ruling.

Interconnected VolP providers, like us, are requivg the FCC to offer 911 emergency calling cajpidsl similar to those available to
subscribers of traditional switched phone linesrédwer, interconnected VolP providers were requicedistribute stickers and labels
warning customers of the limitations associatedh\aitcessing emergency services through an inteecteh VolP service, as well as notify
and to obtain affirmative acknowledgement from customers that customers were aware of the diffeebetween the emergency calling
capabilities offered by interconnected VolP providas compared to traditional, wireline providefrsetephone service. The FCC's
Enforcement Bureau released an order stating ltleaEhforcement Bureau will not pursue enforcemgatrest interconnected VolP providers
that have received affirmative acknowledgement fedrieast 90% of their subscribers. We have rededférmative acknowledgement from
substantially all of our customers and have sulist&nsatisfied this requirement of the rule.

Like many interconnected VolP providers, we cuigeaannot offer VolP E911 services that route eraegy calls in a manner consistent
with the FCC rules for all of our customers. We agldressing this issue with our VolP E911 Solupooviders. On November 28, 2005, we
began routing certain 911 calls to a national eeey call center. The emergency dispatchers imgiional call center utilize the location
information provided to route the call to the catrBSAP or first responder. The FCC may deternfiaédur VolP E911 solution for these
customers does not satisfy the requirements o¥the E911 order because, in some instances, wenafilbe able to connect our subscribers
directly to a PSAP. As of April 5, 2007, we providemergency calling services to 100% of our subscsilocated in the United States and
91% of these subscribers are supported with eithéf911 solution that is in compliance with the R@911 order or were customers prior to
November 28, 2005. We may be subject to enforcemetitns including, but not limited to, fines, ceasd desist orders, or other penal

for those customers that we are unable to provlelEervice in a manner consistent with the VolRIESrder.

On June 1, 2007, the FCC released a Notice of BeapRulemaking Proceeding to consider whetheotilshmpose additional VolP E911
obligations on interconnected VolP providers inahgdconsideration of a requirement that intercoted/olP providers automatically
determine the physical location of their custonagher than allowing customers to manually registeir location. The Notice includes a
tentative conclusion that all interconnected VodP/e providers that allow customers to use theivice in more than one location (nome
VolP service providers such as us) must utilizewruatic location technology that meets the sameracgwstandards applicable to provider
commercial mobile radio services (mobile phoneiserproviders). We cannot predict the outcome isf phoceeding nor its impact on the
Company at this time.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC unanimously adoptedrderaequiring interconnected VolP providers to pnmwith the Communications
Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA. CALE&quires covered providers to assist law enforecgmgencies in conducting
lawfully authorized electronic surveillance. Undlee FCC order, interconnected VolP providers wetglired to comply with CALEA
obligations by May 14, 2007 and make certain féipgior to that date. Consistent with the relevatgs, we continue to work with a third-
party solution provider to devise a CALEA-compligofution. As of May 14, 2007, we had installegtholution in our network operations
and data centers, but had not yet completed tesfialj required intercept capabilities of this gauent. We are diligently working to
complete the testing of this equipment in ordeaidhieve full compliance with the FCC's order. Weyrha subject to enforcement actions
including, but not limited to, fines, cease andistesrders, or other penalties if we are not ableamply with CALEA.

On June 21, 2006, the FCC expanded the base oéts$aivService Fund, or USF, contributions to irdareected VolP providers. The FCC
established a safe harbor percentage of 64.9%alf\{olP service revenue to which federal USF dbations apply. We were allowed to
calculate our contribution based on the safe hasbby submitting a traffic study that would subsently be approved by the FCC. For a
period of at least two quarters beginning Octoh&0D6, we were required to contribute to the U&Foftir subscribers' retail revenues as well
as through our underlying carriers' wholesale cbsr8eginning October 1, 2006, we began charginguloscribers a USF surcharge fee
equal to the USF contribution amounts we were reguio contribute. The FCC order applying USF dbations to interconnected VolP
providers was appealed and on June 1, 2007, theQd18t of Appeals for the District of Columbia edlthat the FCC was within its authority
when it required interconnected VolIP service prexgdo contribute to the Universal Service Fundugh it struck down the provision of the
order which required pre-approval of traffic studi®y the FCC and the provision that required doabteributions to the fund for two
quarters from our underlying carriers' wholesalargbhs. While we are still examining the impacthaf tuling, we believe that we are entitled
to a credit for the two quarters in which we doutbatributed to USF and for the portion of our ciimttion that exceeded the percentage of
interstate traffic that we produced in our trafftady. We further believe that we will have a restli€)SF contribution rate on a goifgrward
basis. Meantime,




the FCC continues to evaluate alternative methodadsessing USF charges, including imposing asasgnt on telephone numbers. The
outcome of these proceedings cannot be determirtbdsdime nor can we determine the potentialrizial impact as the details of an
alternative method of USF contribution have notrbéetermined at this time. There is also a risk skete USF funds may attempt to impose
state USF contribution obligations and other saaig local charges. At this time, at least one statéends that providers of interconnected
VolIP services, like us, should contribute to itsF~USnd.

On April 2, 2007, the FCC released an order extentlie application of customer proprietary netwiofermation, or CPNI, rules to
interconnected VolP providers. CPNI includes infation such as the phone numbers called by a constimegrequency, duration, and
timing of such calls; and any services/featuresipased by the consumer, such as call waitingfaallarding, and caller ID, in addition to
other information that may appear on a consumét'sdmder the FCC's existing rules, carriers may mse CPNI without customer approval
except in narrow circumstances related to theivigion of existing services, and must comply withadled customer approval processes
when using CPNI outside of these narrow circumsanthe new CPNI requirements are aimed at edtaigisnore stringent security
measures for access to a customer's CPNI data fiotim of enhanced passwords for on-line accesgalhih access to account information
as well as customer notification of account or pasd changes. At the present time we do not utdizecustomer's CPNI in a manner which
would require us to obtain consent from our custamnaut in the event that we do in the future, vilélve required to adhere to specific CPNI
rules aimed at marketing such services. Effectieeddnber 8, 2007, we will be required to implematdrnal processes in order to be
compliant with all of the FCC's CPNI rules. Thisymmpose additional compliance costs on the Compartyreduce our profitability or
cause us to increase the retail price for our sesvi

On April 18, 2007, the FCC released a Notice opBsed rulemaking or Notice tentatively concludihgttproviders of interconnected VolP
services, like us, should pay regulatory fees. Adiog to the Notice, the FCC would like to begilection of such fees in the August to
September 2007 timeframe. The FCC is consideritaylzding contribution obligations for interconnedtVolP providers based on either
revenues or telephone numbers used by us. We cpareditt the outcome of this proceeding.

On June 8, 2007, the FCC released an order impkimyerarious recommendations from its IndependemePReviewing the Impact of
Hurricane Katrina on Communications Networks Paineluding a requirement that certain interconngdtelP providers submit reports
regarding the reliability and resiliency of thelt19systems. At this time, we are not subject tealreporting requirements but may become
subject in future years.

On June 15, 2007, the FCC extended the disabditgss requirements of Sections 225 and 255 of dinen@inications Act, which applied to
traditional phone services, to providers of intemected VolP services and to manufacturers of afpeciesigned equipment used to provide
those services. Section 255 of the Communicatiastgéquires service providers to ensure that itspgent and service is accessible to and
usable by individuals with disabilities, if readéghievable, including requiring service provid@rensure that information and documente
provided in connection with equipment or servicesabcessible to people with disabilities, wherelitgachievable and that employee
training account for accessibility requirementsatidition, the FCC said that interconnected Vol®vjaters were subject to the requirements
of Section 225, including contributing to the Telsanunications Relay Services, or TRS, fund andttiet must offer 711 abbreviated
dialing for access to relay services. At this tinve,cannot predict the impact of these rules orbosiness or our ability to comply with these
disability access obligations. We may be subjeerimrcement actions including, but not limitedfines, cease and desist orders, or other
penalties if we are not able to comply with theser wlisability obligations. When the Order becomfésctive, we will begin contributing to
the federal TRS fund and we will likely pass théeses through to our customers increasing theis it service. Moreover, compliance with
the new disability rules may impose additional sast the Company and reduce our profitability arsgaus to increase the retail price for our
services.

The effect of any future laws, regulations and dnders on our operations, including, but not limit®, the Packet8 service, canno
determined. But as a general matter, increasedatimu and the imposition of additional funding iglaltions increases our costs of provic
service that may or may not be recoverable fromoustomers which could result in making our sewvitEss competitive with traditior
telecommunications services if we increase ouilnetizes or decrease our profit margins if we e to absorb such costs.

Regulation of the Internet

In addition to regulations addressing Internetght;y and broadband services, other regulatorgssselating to the Internet in general could
affect our ability to provide our services. Congréas adopted legislation that regulates certgiads of the Internet, including online
content, user privacy, taxation, liability for thiparty activities and jurisdiction. In additionnamber of initiatives pending in Congress and
state legislatures would prohibit or restrict adig@ng or sale of certain products and servicetherinternet, which may have the effect of
raising the cost of doing business on the Integeeerally.
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Federal, state, local and foreign governmentalrirgaions are considering other legislative andil&gry proposals that would regulate the
Internet. We cannot predict whether new taxeshélimposed on our services, and depending on ffeedf/taxes imposed, whether and how
our services would be affected thereafter. Incréasgulation of the Internet may decrease its gnaavtd hinder technological development,
which may negatively impact the cost of doing basswia the Internet or otherwise materially adelgraffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our ability to compete depends, in part, on oulitgtio obtain and enforce intellectual propertytarction for our technology in the Uni
States and internationally. We currently rely priilyaon a combination of trade secrets, patentpydghts, trademarks and licenses to pr¢
our intellectually property. As of May 30, 2007, Wad 68 United States patents that have been isswkddditional United States and fore
patent applications pending. We do not considerairthe pending patents to be critical to our bes@ Our patents expire on dates rar
from 2012 to 2024. We cannot predict whether omdjreg patent applications will result in issuedquas.

To protect our trade secrets and other propriatdormation, we require our employees to sign agrests providing for the maintenance
confidentiality and also the assignment of rigleténventions made by them while in our employ. Bhean be no assurance that our mea
protecting our proprietary rights in the United t8saor abroad will be adequate or that competitidh not independently devel
technologies that are similar or superior to oghiwlogy, duplicate our technology or design aroang of our patents. In addition, the
of foreign countries in which our products are @ynbe sold do not protect our intellectual propeigits to the same extent as do the lav
the United States. Our failure to protect our pietary information could cause our business andatjpg results to suffer.

We are also subject to the risks of adverse claintslitigation alleging infringement of the intedteral property rights of others, such cla
and litigation could require us to expend substhméisources and distract key employees from tiegimal duties, which could have a mate
adverse effect on our operating results, cash flawdsfinancial condition. The communications anfiveare industries are subject to freqt
litigation regarding patent and other intellectpebperty rights. Moreover, the VolP service providemmunity is becoming increasingl
target of patent holders. There is a risk that vilebg a target of assertions of patent rights trad we may be required to expend signifi
resources to investigate and defend against susehtems of patent rights.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwanel software, licensed from third parties. There be no assurance that the technc
licensed by us will continue to provide competitfeatures and functionality or that licenses fahteology currently utilized by us or otl
technology which we may seek to license in thertutwill be available to us on commercially reasdeakrms or at all. The loss of,
inability to maintain existing licenses could rdsal shipment delays or reductions until equivaliemthnology or suitable alternative prodi
could be developed, identified, licensed and irgtgt, and could harm our business. These licensesnastandard commercial terms
generally available by the companies providinglitenses. To date, the cost and terms of thesedéezindividually has not been materie
our business.

Information about Segments and Geographic Areas

We have only one reportable segment. Financiatinédion relating to our product lines and inforroaton revenues generated in different
geographic areas are set forth in Note 9 to ousa@lighated financial statements contained in Paftdm 8 of this Report.

Employees

As of March 31, 2007, our workforce consisted od Einployees and 35 contractors. None of our emplbwee represented by a labor u
or are subject to a collective bargaining arrangegme

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers as of the date of this repoe listed below.

Bryan R. Martin, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President.Bryan R. Martin, age 39, has served as our Presglene Marc
2007 and Chairman since December 2003. Mr. Madmderved as Chief Executive Officer and as a wirexd the Company since Febru
2002. From February 2001 to February 2002, he deagePresident and Chief Operating Officer andectbr of the Company. He servec
Senior Vice President, Engineering Operations faoiy 2000
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to February 2001 and as the Company's Chief Teah@ifficer from August 1995 to August 2000. He atgoved as a director of the
Company from January 1998 through July 1999. Iriteatd Mr. Martin served in various technical rolies the Company from April 1990 to
August 1995. He received a B.S. and an M.S. intEted Engineering from Stanford University.

Dan Weirich, Chief Financial Officer. Dan Weirich, age 33, has served as our Chief Finh@fficer since July 2006 and Acting Cfr
Financial Officer from June 2006 to July 2006. Mfeirich served as Vice President of Operationshef@ompany from April 2006 to Ju
2006 and Director of Strategic Sales from Marchf2@0April 2006. From September 2001 to March 2004, Weirich served as independ
consultant in Asia and the United States. From Betal998 to September 2001, Mr. Weirich served &= President of Busine
Development for iAsiaWorks. From March 1998 to (o 1998, Mr. Weirich served as Manager of Acquasitintegration at Qwe
Communications and from August 1996 to March 1988,Weirich served as a Financial Analyst and Podddianager for Phoenix Netwo
He received a B.S. in International Business fromWniversity of Colorado at Boulder.

Huw Rees, Vice President of Sales and Marketindduw Rees, age 46, has served as Vice Presiderts &atl Marketing since Janu
2001. He served as the Chairman and Chief Execffieer of the Company's wholly owned subsidia@gntile, Inc., from July 2001 ur
September 2003. Additionally, he served as VicesiBemt, Sales and Business Development of Cembla March 2001 to July 2001.
served as Vice President, Sales of the Solutiormuof the Company from August 2000 until Februda®01 and as Director, No|
American Sales of the Company from April 1999 tagAst 2000. He previously worked at Mitel Corporatas Sales Manager of the Wes
Region and also in sales management roles at GESS@3t Inc. and Marconi PLC. Mr. Rees also servetherboard of Frucall, Inc. t
received a B.Sc. (Hons) from the University of Maester, Institute of Science and Technology in tilead and Electronic Engineering an
M.B.A. from the University of LaVerne.

Marc Petit-Huguenin, Chief Technology Officer.Marc PetitHuguenin, age 42, has served as Chief TechnolofjgeDtince July 2003 a
Vice President of Research and Development from 2003 to October 2006. From May 2000 to July 20@8, PetitHugenin serviced
various technical roles for the Company. He presfipuworked at Odisei in France from June 1998 toil 900 and joined the Company
April 2000 upon the Company's acquisition Odise2@90.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
If any of the following risks actually occur, oundiness, results of operations and financial carditould suffer significantly.
The success of our Company is dependent on the gritwand public acceptance of our Packet8 Service.

Our future success as a Company depends on oity abisignificantly increase revenues generatedhfour Packet8 services. In turn, the
success of our Packet8 voice and video communitaservices depends, among other things, uporefdiemand for VolP telephony
systems and services. Because the use of our seegjaires that the user be a subscriber to atirexisroadband Internet service, most
typically provided through a cable or digital sutilser line, or DSL, connection, slow or limited qudion of broadband Internet service could
adversely affect the growth in our subscriber laserevenues. Although the number of broadbandcsibless worldwide has grown
significantly over the last five years, this seevttas not yet been adopted by a majority of consuirife increase deployment of broadband
Internet service providers of broadband Internetise, such as traditional telephone companiescaihte companies must continue to invest
in the deployment of high speed broadband netwiarkssidential and business customers, developnogetswhich we have no control. In
addition, VolP networks must improve quality of\see for real-time communications, managing effettsh as packet jitter, packet loss, and
unreliable bandwidth, so that toll-quality servi@n be provided; VolP telephony equipment and sesvinust achieve a similar level of
reliability that users of the PSTN have come toeetfirom their telephone service, and the costfaatlire benefits of VolP must be suffici
to cause customers to switch away from traditidelgiphony service providers. Furthermore, custonmensarkets serviced by deregulated
telecommunications providers are not familiar vdtitaining services from competitors of these prexdcand may be reluctant to use new
providers, such as us. We will need to devote subist resources to educate customers and endalseus the benefits of VolP telephony
solutions in general and our services in particufany or all of these factors fail to occur, duwsiness may be affected adversely.

It is not clear whether suppliers of broadbandrimteaccess have a legal obligation to allow tbestomers to access and use our service
without interference. As a result of recent decisiby the U.S. Supreme Court and the FCC, provigfdosoadband services are subject to
relatively light regulation by the FCC. Consequgnfitderal and state regulators might not prolibitadband providers from limiting their

customers' access to VolP or otherwise discrimmigadigainst VolP providers. Conceivably, some prersdbf broadband access may take
measures that affect their customers' ability ® s
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service, such as degrading the quality of the pat&ets we transmit over their lines, giving thpaekets low priority, giving other packets
higher priority than ours, blocking our packetsirethy or attempting to charge their customers nforealso using our services. Interference
with our service or higher charges for also usingservice could cause us to lose existing custsnimpair our ability to attract new
customers and harm our revenue and growth. Theddepns have arisen in international markets.

Certain aspects of our service are not the same &raditional telephone service, which may limit theacceptance of our services by
mainstream consumers and businesses customers and potential for growth.

Certain aspects of our service are not the sartraditional telephone service. Because our contirgrewth is dependent on the adoption of
our services by mainstream customers and businsssnsers, our ability to adequately address sicanifi differences through our technolc
customer services, marketing and sales efforteésming increasingly important. For example:

e Our business services differ from traditional bess private branch exchange, or PBX, systems tmthaustomer premise equipmi
is required other than our telephones and ternaidapters. There is no "equipment closet" or deelitabice wiring that needs to be
accomplished. For many of our customers, thesersemiliar concepts.

e Our E911 calling service is different, in signifitaespects, from the E911 service associatedtvéttitional wireline and wireless
telephone providers.

e Our customers may experience higher dropped-da than they are used to from traditional wiretiglephone carriers because our
services depend on networks and services with singe points of failure than traditional wirelinetworks.

e Our customers cannot accept collect calls.

e In the event of a power loss or Internet accegsrimption, our services are interrupted. Unlike sarable VoIP services, we have not
installed batteries at the customer premises taeiggecemergency power for our customers' equipnfehey lose power, though our
data centers are protected by power backup and wibasures to mitigate the risk that we can mairgar data center operations in
the event of a power outage or some other emergan@tion.

If customers do not accept the differences betveegrservice and traditional telephone service, thé@ht not subscribe to our VolP services
and our business, operating results and cash fiowdd be affected adversely.

We have a history of losses and are uncertain as oor future profitability.

We recorded an operating loss of $14.3 milliontfer year ended March 31, 2007 and ended the pefthcain accumulated deficit of $200
million. In addition, we recorded operating lossé€$25 million and $20 million for the fiscal yeaeaded March 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We may continue to incur operatirggés for the foreseeable future, and such lossgbensubstantial. We will need to incre
revenues in order to generate sustainable openatofi. Given our history of fluctuating revenussd operating losses, we cannot be certain
that we will be able to achieve profitability orthedr a quarterly or annual basis in the future.

The VolP telephony market is subject to rapid techological change, and we depend on new product andrsice introductions in order
to maintain and grow our business.

VolIP telephony is an emerging market that is cheraed by rapid changes in customer requiremémtguent introductions of new and
enhanced products, and continuing and rapid teolieal advancement. To compete successfully ingimisrging market, we must continue
to design, develop, manufacture, and sell new ahdreced VolP telephony software products and seswitat provide increasingly higher
levels of performance and reliability at lower cadtese new and enhanced products
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must take advantage of technological advancemewitsl@anges, and respond to new customer requirsn@ut success in designing,
developing, manufacturing, and selling such proslacid services will depend on a variety of factorduding:

the identification of new technologies and timetyplementation of product design and development;
the scalability of our VolIP telephony software puots;

product and feature selection;

product performance;

cost-effectiveness of current products and senaoelsproducts under development;

our ability to successfully implement service featumandated by federal and state law; and
effectiveness of promotional efforts.

Decreasing telecommunications rates and increasimggulatory charges may diminish or eliminate our conpetitive pricing advantage.

Decreasing telecommunications rates may diminigiorinate the competitive pricing advantage of senvices. Increased regulation and
imposition of additional regulatory funding obligats at the federal and state level could regusreither to increase the retail price for our
services, thus making us less competitive or absoch costs, thus decreasing our profit marginfistal 2007, we began to pass Universal
Service and E911 fees and taxes onto our custofnéesnational and domestic telecommunicationssratere decreased significantly over
last few years in most of the markets in which werate, and we anticipate these rates to contmdedline in all of the markets in which we
do business or expect to do business. Users whotsrlir services to take advantage of the curnéecing differential between traditional
telecommunications rates and our rates may swittratitional telecommunications carriers if suckeipg differentials diminish or
disappear, and we will be unable to use such gridifferentials to attract new customers in theufat In addition, our ability to market our
services to other service providers depends uppexistence of spreads between the rates offereid bpd the rates offered by traditional
telecommunications carriers, as well as a spreatidan the retail and wholesale rates charged bygdléers from which we obtain wholes:
services. Continued rate decreases would requite losver our rates to remain competitive and vétluce or possibly eliminate any gross
profit from our services. Furthermore, if telecommioations rates continue to decline, we may lossatibers for our services.

We rely on third party network service providers to originate and terminate substantially all of our public switched telephone network
calls.

We leverage the infrastructure of third party netagervice providers to provide telephone numbeg&T N call termination and origination
services and local number portability for our castos rather than deploying our own network throughioe United States. This decision has
resulted in lower operating costs for our busineghe short term but has reduced our operatingtfiiity and ability to make timely service
changes. If any of these network service provideese operations or otherwise terminate the sertteg we depend on, the delay in
switching our technology to another network seryoavider, if available, and qualifying this newgee could have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results and cash flows.

While we believe that relations with our currentvéee providers are good and we have contractsaicep there can be no assurance that these
service providers will be able or willing to suppgst-effective services to us in the future ot tha will be successful in signing up
alternative or additional providers. While we beéghat we could replace our current provideragifessary, our ability to provide service to
our subscribers would be impacted during this tiar@k, and this could have an adverse effect otaginess, financial condition or results

of operations. The loss of access to, or requirétieechange, the telephone numbers we provide tawstomers also could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Intense competition in the markets in which we comgte could prevent us from increasing or sustainingur revenue and prevent us
from achieving profitability.

The telecommunications industry is highly competitiWe face intense competition from traditionédpbone companies, wireless
companies, cable companies, competitive local exgpha&arriers, alternative voice communication ptexs and independent VoIP providers.
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Most traditional wireline and wireless telephonevgm providers and cable companies are substhnigagier and better capitalized than we
are and have the advantage of a large existingmestbase. Because most of our target customeedraegly purchasing communications
services from one or more of these providers, aacess is dependent upon our ability to attragetacustomers away from their existing
providers. Until recently, our target market hasrbeomposed largely of early adopters, or people tehd to seek out new technologies and
services. Attracting customers away from their tixgsproviders will become more difficult as thelgadopter market becomes saturated
mainstream customers make up more of our targetenhdn addition, these competitors could focusrthebstantial financial resources to
develop competing technology that may be morediwato potential customers than what we offerr Gampetitors' financial resources may
allow them to offer services at prices below castwen for free in order to maintain and gain maskeare or otherwise improve their
competitive positions. Our competitors also cowdd their greater financial resources to offer VedPvices with more attractive service
packages that include on-site installation and malest customer service. In addition, becausb@bther services our competitors provide,
they may choose to offer VolP services as parthiradle that includes other products, such as vidigh speed Internet access and wireless
telephone service, which we do not offer. This hemday enable our competitors to offer VolP sendterices with which we may not be
able to compete or to offer functionality that omates VolP service with their other offerings,of which may be more desirable to
consumers. Any of these competitive factors couddkenit more difficult for us to attract and retaimstomers, cause us to lower our prices in
order to compete and reduce our market share ardues.

We also compete against established alternativeevammmunication providers and face competitiomfagher large, well-capitalized
Internet companies that have recently launchedaar o launch VolP-enabled instant messaging sesvim addition, we compete with
independent VolP service providers. Some of thesdce providers may choose to sacrifice revenusder to gain market share and have
offered their services at lower prices or for frimeorder to compete with such service providems,may have to significantly reduce our
prices, which would delay or prevent our profitéil

We also are subject to the risk that new technelbgiay be developed that are able to deliver cangpebice services at lower prices, better
or more conveniently. Future competition from newtinologies could have a material adverse effecuomgrowth and operating results.

Given the significant price competition in the metkfor our products, we are at a significant disatige compared to our competitors, v
of whom have substantially greater resources, la@kfore may be better able to withstand an exttpdeiod of downward pricing pressure.
The adverse impact of a shortfall in our revenuag be magnified by our inability to adjust spendiogompensate for such shortfall.
Announcements by our competitors or us of new prtsdand technologies could cause customers to gefehases of our existing products,
which also could have a material adverse effedwrbusiness and operating results.

Most of our current and potential competitors hiwveer operating histories, significantly greagsaurces and name recognition and a larget
base of customers than we have. As a result, t@apetitors may have greater credibility with oxiséng and potential customers. They
also may be able to adopt more aggressive priaitigips and devote greater resources to the deralop promotion and sale of their
products than we can to ours. Our competitors Ny @fer bundled service arrangements offeringoaentomplete product despite the
technical merits or advantages of our products. @ition could decrease our prices, reduce ousshkleer our gross profits or decrease our
market share.

We depend on contract manufacturers to manufacturesubstantially all of our products, and any delay olinterruption in
manufacturing by these contract manufacturers wouldresult in delayed or reduced shipments to our custers and may harm our
business.

We do not have long-term purchase agreements witikantract manufacturers and we depend on a ctnated group of contract
manufacturers for a substantial portion of manuwfidey our products. There can be no assurancethatontract manufacturers will be able
or willing to reliably manufacture our productsMalumes, on a cost-effective basis or in a tinmmebnner. If we cannot compete effectively
for the business of these contract manufactureifsaoy of the contract manufacturers experiencaricial or other difficulties in their
businesses, our revenue and our business couldvieesaly affected. In particular, if one of our trast manufacturers becomes subject to
bankruptcy proceedings, we may not be able to ofatay of our products held by the contract manufact

We also rely on third party component supplierprimvide semiconductor circuit packages for our patsl. In some instances, these
components are provided by a single supplier. Glimnce on these suppliers involves a number k$risicluding reduced control over
delivery schedules, quality assurance and costcuffently do not have long-term supply contracith any of these component vendors. As
a result, most of these third party vendors areobbgated to provide products or perform servitmess for any specific period, in any spec
guantities or at any specific price, except as by
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provided in a particular purchase order. The irighilf these third party vendors to deliver compmaiseof acceptable quality and in a timely
manner, particularly the sole source vendors, cadicersely affect our operating results or causmtto fluctuate more than anticipated.
Additionally, some of our products may require sakzed or high-performance component parts that n@ be available in quantities or in
time frames that meet our requirements.

We may have difficulty identifying the source of tle problem when there is a problem in a network.

Our Packet8 service must successfully integratie pribducts from other vendors, such as gatewairaddional telephone systems. As a
result, when problems occur in a network, it maylificult to identify the source of the problemhé& occurrence of hardware and software
errors, whether caused by our Packet8 serviceahanvendor's products, may result in the delapss of market acceptance of our prod
and any necessary revisions may force us to irignifieant expenses. The occurrence of some ofktiygses of problems may seriously harm
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Our infringement of a third party ' s proprietary t echnology would disrupt our business.

There has been substantial litigation in the coninations, VolP services, semiconductor, electrgracsl related industries regarding
intellectual property rights, and from time to tittdrd parties may claim infringement by us of thatellectual property rights. Our broad
range of technology, including IP telephony systethigital and analog circuits, software, and seméttectors, increases the likelihood that
third parties may claim infringement by us of thetellectual property rights. If we were foundite infringing on the intellectual property
rights of any third party, we could be subjectisdilities for such infringement, which could beter@al. We could also be required to refrain
from using, manufacturing or selling certain produar using certain processes, either of whichdbalve a material adverse effect on our
business and operating results. From time to timeehave received, and may continue to receivedrfuture, notices of claims of
infringement, misappropriation or misuse of othartigs' proprietary rights. There can be no asserémat we will prevail in these discussi
and actions or that other actions alleging infrmget by us of third party patents will not be atspr prosecuted against us.

Certain technology necessary for us to providesewvices may in fact be patented by other partteerenow or in the future. If such
technology were held under patent by another pemgerwould have to negotiate a license for theaighat certain technology. We may not
be able to negotiate such a license at a pricadtzaiceptable. The existence of such a patewtjinability to negotiate a license for any s
technology on acceptable terms, could force ugése using such technology and offering produassarvices incorporating such
technology.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwane software, licensed from third parties. Thene lse no assurance that the technology
licensed by us will continue to provide competitfieatures and functionality or that licenses fahteology currently utilized by us or other
technology which we may seek to license in therfutuill be available to us on commercially reasdadbrms or at all. The loss of, or
inability to maintain, existing licenses could ritsn shipment delays or reductions until equivalEthnology or suitable alternative products
could be developed, identified, licensed and irgtgt, and could harm our business. These licemsamastandard commercial terms made
generally available by the companies providinglitenses. The cost and terms of these licensesidhdilly are not material to our business.

Inability to protect our proprietary technology would disrupt our business.

We rely in part on trademark, copyright, and traderet law to protect our intellectual propertytia United States and abroad. We seek to
protect our software, documentation, and othertenimaterials under trade secret and copyrightvavich afford only limited protection. W
also rely in part on patent law to protect ourllettual property in the United States and intaoretlly. As of May 30, 2007, we hold 68
United States patents and have additional UnitateStand foreign patent applications pending. Wiaapredict whether such pending
patent applications will result in issued patehts effectively protect our intellectual propertye may not be able to protect our proprietary
rights in the United States or internationally (wéheffective intellectual property protection mayumavailable or limited), and competitors
may independently develop technologies that ardasimr superior to our technology, duplicate cestinology or design around any pater
ours. We have in the past licensed and in thedugdpect to continue licensing our technology teect many of whom are located or may be
located abroad. There are no assurances thatiseosdes will protect our technology from misappietjpn. Moreover, litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellecfuaperty rights, to determine the validity andseof the proprietary rights of others, or to
defend against claims of infringement or invalidBuch litigation could result in substantial ccstsl diversion of management time and
resources and could have a material adverse @ifiectir business, financial condition, and operatesylts. Any settlement or adverse
determination in such litigation would also subjestto significant liability.
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Our products must comply with industry standards, FCC regulations, state, local, country-specific anthternational regulations, and
changes may require us to modify existing productand/or services.

In addition to reliability and quality standardisetmarket acceptance of telephony over broadbanétiRorks is dependent upon the adoption
of industry standards so that products from mudtiplanufacturers are able to communicate with etiwdr.oOur VolP telephony products rely
heavily on communication standards such as SIP, @& network standards such as TCP/IP and UDRdmperate with other vendors'
equipment. There is currently a lack of agreemerdray industry leaders about which standard shoeldded for a particular application, and
about the definition of the standards themselvaesg& standards, as well as audio and video connmetandards, continue to evolve. We
also must comply with certain rules and regulatiohthe Federal Communications Commission (FCCamiag electromagnetic radiation
and safety standards established by Underwritdosiadories, as well as similar regulations andddaths applicable in other countries.
Standards are continuously being modified and oeplaAs standards evolve, we may be required tafynodr existing products or develop
and support new versions of our products. We musipty with certain federal, state and local requieats regarding how we interact with
our customers, including marketing practices, careuprotection, privacy, and billing issues, thevyision of 911 emergency service and the
quality of service we provide to our customers. Tdikire of our products and services to complydelays in compliance, with various
existing and evolving standards could delay orrmifg volume production of our VolP telephony protiy subject us to fines or other
imposed penalties, or harm the perception and amopdtes of our service, any of which would haveaterial adverse effect on our busin
financial condition or operating results.

Our ability to offer services outside the U.S. isubject to the local regulatory environment, which may be unknown, complicated and
uncertain.

Regulatory treatment of VolP telephony outsideliimited States varies from country to country arntdrothe laws are unclear. We currently
distribute our products and services directly toszoners and through resellers that may be sulgjéetdcommunications regulations in their
home countries. The failure by us our customersrasellers to comply with these laws and regulaticould reduce our revenue and
profitability. Because of our relationship with tresellers, some countries may assert that weegréred to register as a provider in that
country. In such case, our failure to do so coulgjext us to fines or penalties. In addition, s@moentries are considering subjecting VolP
services to the regulations applied to traditideldphone companies. Regulatory developments suttheae could have a material adverse
effect on our international operation.

Future legislation or regulation of the Internet ard/or voice and video over IP services could restriiour business, prevent us from
offering service or increase our cost of doing busess.

There are an increasing number of regulations aliys that specifically address access to commendecommunications services on the
Internet, including IP telephony. We are unableredict the impact, if any, that future legislatitegal decisions or regulations concerning
the Internet may have on our business, financiatlition, and results of operations. Regulation inayargeted towards, among other things,
assessing access or settlement charges, impogegriglated to internet communications and impogriffs or regulations based on
encryption concerns or the characteristics andityuafl products and services, any of which coulstriet our business or increase our cost of
doing business. The increasing growth of the braadhbP telephony market and popularity of broadd&nilephony products and services
heighten the risk that governments or other letiisaodies will seek to regulate broadband IPgieteny and the Internet. In addition, large,
established telecommunication companies may desudistantial lobbying efforts to influence the redigin of the broadband IP telephony
market, which may be contrary to our interests.

Many regulatory actions are underway or are beorgemplated by federal and state authorities, dinythe FCC and other state and local
regulatory agencies. On February 12, 2004, the ir@i@ted a notice of public rule-making to upd&eC policy and consider the appropriate
regulatory classification for VolP and other IP leleal services. On November 9, 2004, the FCC ridatiYonage DigitalVoice and similar
services are jurisdictionally interstate and ndijsct to state certification, tariffing and oth@memon carrier regulations. This ruling was
subsequently appealed by several states. On Marc20D7, the United States Court of Appeals for&HeCircuit affirmed the FCCS
declaratory ruling.

There is risk that a regulatory agency requiremuonform to rules that are unsuitable for IP camioations technologies or rules that
cannot be complied with due to the nature andiefiies of IP routing, or are unnecessary or uorEse in light of the manner in which
Packet8 offers service to its customers. It ispussible to separate the Internet, or any senffeeenl over it, into intrastate and interstate
components as we currently have no means to autaihaidentify the physical location of one of csmbscribers on the Internet. While
suitable alternatives may be developed in the &tilne current IP network does not enable us tatiigethe geographic nature of the traffic
traversing the Internet.
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We may be subject to liabilities for past sales anddditional taxes, surcharges and fees.

Excluding California sales and use tax, federaMdrsal Service Fund or USF and E911 state and feeal, we do not collect state and
federal telecommunications taxes or other teleconaeations surcharges with respect to our PacketBcgein accordance with current
industry practice. Based upon a new ruling publidhe the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, we akasBecting Federal Excise Tax, or
FET, on June 1, 2006. We do not collect Value Adtax, or VAT, for services that we provide to custrs in European Union, or EU,
member countries. Future expansion of our Paclextce, along with other aspects of our evolvingibass, may result in additional sales
and other tax obligations. One or more statesmida countries may seek to impose sales or o#xecdllection obligations on out-of-
jurisdiction companies that provide telephone servA successful assertion by one or more statég@ign countries that we should colls
sales or other taxes on the sale of merchandiservices could result in substantial tax liabititfer past sales, decrease our ability to con
with traditional telephone companies, and couldehawnaterial adverse effect on our business, finhogndition or operating results.

We have received inquiries or demands from numestates and municipal taxing and 911 agencies isggikdyment of taxes that are applied
to or collected from the customers of providersradiitional public switched telephone network seegi We have consistently maintained
these taxes do not apply to our service for a tsad€reasons depending on the statute or rulegstatblishes such obligations. In September
2006, our largest third party network service pdevivendor began passing through E911 taxes ©Omu€ctober 1, 2006, we began collec
certain state and local E911 charges from our ousts for these amounts. The amounts collected fnantustomers are paid to the third
party network service provider. We have not coidabr accrued liabilities for E911 taxes prior tet@er 1, 2006, and it is possible that
substantial claims for back taxes may be assegaithst us, which could adversely affect our busirfemncial condition or operating results.

One or more states or foreign countries may se@kpose sales, use or other tax collection obligegtion us. We have received inquiries or
demands from numerous state authorities and arentlyr under audit by one state. A successful &issepy one or more states or foreign
countries that we should collect sales, use orrdths on the sale of customer premise equipnres#ruices could result in substantial tax
liabilities for past sales, decrease our abilitgdonpete with traditional telephone companies,@ndd have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or operating resiW'e. have recorded an expense of $841,000 and $BBigbyears ended March 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, as our estimate of the incr@apeobable tax exposure for such assessmentsaealis/e that our exposure for assessments
is $1,570,000 as of March 31, 2007, which is reedrds an other accrued liability in our condensetsalidated balance sheets.

Our emergency and E911 calling services are diffent from those offered by traditional wireline telephone companies and may expose
us to significant liability. There may be risks assciated with limitations associated with E911 ememncy dialing with the Packet8
service.

Both our emergency calling service and our E91lincptervice are different, in significant respedtsm the emergency calling services
offered by traditional wireline telephone companieseach case, the differences may cause signtfalays, or even failures, in callers'
receipt of the emergency assistance they need.

Traditional wireline telephone companies route gyapcy calls over a dedicated infrastructure diyetctlan emergency services dispatcher at
the Public Safety Answering Point, or PSAP, indhbder's area. Generally, the dispatcher autormbticeceives the caller's phone number
actual location information. While the E911 serwioe have deployed in the United States is desigmedute calls in a fashion similar to
traditional wireline services, our E911 capabititere not yet available from all locations. In &iddi, the only location information that our
E911 service can transmit to a dispatcher at a FS## information that our customers have regstavith us. A customer's registered
location may be different from the customer's ddzation at the time of the call because cust@nean use their Packet8 equipment to n
calls almost anywhere a broadband connection isaée.

We are currently deploying E911 service that isilginio the emergency calling services providedustomers of traditional wireline
telephone companies in the same area. For thosenoers located in an E911 area, emergency calloated, subject to the limitations
discussed below, directly to an emergency sendcgsatcher at the PSAP in the area of the custemeglstered location. The dispatcher will
have automatic access to the customer's telephonbar and registered location information. If atooser moves their Packet8 service to a
new location, the customer's registered locatiéorination must be updated and verified. Until ttakies place, the customer will have to
verbally advise the emergency dispatcher of hisepractual location at the time of an emergency il

The emergency calls of customers located in aré@sewve are currently unable to provide E911 seragdescribed above are supported by
a national call center that is run by a third-pamgvider and operates 24 hours per day, sevenaagek.
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These operators still receive the customer's ragidtservice location and phone number automatjcaild coordinate connecting the caller to
the appropriate PSAP or emergency services proaid@mproviding the customer's registered servication and phone number to those local
authorities. In the event that a customer expeéegmcbroadband or power outage, or if a netwollraivere to occur, the customer will not
be able to reach an emergency services provideg asir services.

Delays our customers encounter when making emeygsreices calls and any inability of the answeroint to automatically recognize the
caller's location or telephone number can resulferthreatening consequences. Customers majyeifutiure attempt to hold us responsible
any loss, damage, personal injury or death suffesea result of any failure of our E911 services, amlike traditional wireline and wireless
telephone providers, there are no state or fegeoaisions that currently indemnify or limit theability of VolP services such as ours for
connecting and carrying emergency 911 phone cadls & networks.

In May 2005, the FCC unanimously adopted an orddrNotice of Proposed Rulemaking, or NPRM, whiafuieed VolP providers that
interconnect with the PSTN, or interconnected Vpiéviders, to provide enhanced 911, or E911, servic

On November 7, 2005, the Enforcement Bureau oFtB€ issued a notice to interconnected VolP prosidetailing the information require

to be submitted to the FCC in E911 complianceiigttiele by November 28, 2005. In this notice, thioEExement Bureau stated that, although
it would not require providers that had not achiefidl E911 compliance by November 28, 2005 to digmue the provision of
interconnected VolP services to any existing cusitsnit did expect that such providers would discme marketing VolP services, and
accepting new customers for their services, iadas where they are not transmitting 911 calteeéappropriate PSAP in full compliance
with the Commission's rules. On November 28, 20@5began offering nomadic E911 service to all afaustomers with United States
service addresses, and began charging those custameadditional $1.99 per month plus any apple#idal 911 taxes and surcharges
effective January 1, 2006. On November 28, 2005alse modified the Packet8 account signup procediareequire service addresses to be
entered and validated, at the time an order farigeis placed, to ascertain whether Packet8's dant911 service is available at that
address. On November 28, 2005, we also filed odlE®@mpliance report which is available on the RG@&bsite, at http://www.fcc.gov,
under Wireline Competition Docket Number 05-196. \@arch 19, 2007, the Company received a letter filmenEnforcement Bureau of the
FCC requesting that the Company file an updatedlE&tus Report no later than April 11, 2007. OmilAd, 2007, the Company responded
to the FCC stating that 91% of the Company's siitiesir are either in compliance with the VolP 91dewsror were signed up prior to
November 28, 2005. We provide a nomadic emergealtyng service to 100% of our subscribers who havecation within the United Stat
registered with us.

The FCC may determine that our nomadic emergentipgaolution does not satisfy the requirementg®#/olP E911 order because, in
some instances, our nomadic emergency callingisaluéquires that we route an emergency call tational emergency call center instea
connecting Packet8 subscribers directly to a IB&AP through a dedicated connection and throughppeopriate selective router. The FCC
may issue further guidance on compliance requirésnarthe future that might require us to disconitieose subscribers not receiving access
to emergency services in a manner consistent Wigh/plP E911 order. The effect of such disconnestinonetary penalties, cease and ¢
orders or other enforcement actions initiated lgyRIEC or other agency or task force against usideave a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, cashwvBor business reputation.

On June 1, 2007, the FCC released a Notice of BezpRulemaking in which they tentatively concluat &all interconnected VolP service
providers that allow customers to use their seriria@ore than one location (nomadic VoIP serviggvfaters such as us) must utilize an
automatic location technology that meets the sagneracy standards which apply to providers of conememobile radio services (mobile
phone service providers). The outcome of this prdey cannot be determined at this time and we onayay not be able to comply with a
such obligations that may be adopted. At preseatcwvrently have no means to automatically identigy physical location of one of our
subscribers on the Internet . The FCC ' s VoIP EStlér has increased our cost of doing businessraydadversely affect our ability to
deliver the Packet8 service to new and existingoruasrs in all geographic regions or to nomadicamstrs who move to a location where
emergency calling services compliant with the FGRamdates are unavailable. We cannot guaranteentgigency calling service consistent
with the VolP E911 order will be available to allaur subscribers, especially those accessingenrices from outside of the United States.
The FCC ' s current VolP E911 order or follow-oders or clarifications or their impact on our cusérss due to service price increases or
other factors could have a material adverse effeaur business, financial position and resultsperations.

There may be risks associated with our ability to @amply with the requirements of federal law enforcerent agencies.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC unanimously adoptedrderaesponsive to a joint petition filed by thepaement of Justice, the Federal Bur
of Investigation, and the Drug Enforcement Admirigbn asking the FCC to declare that broadbaretet access services and VolP
services be covered by the Communications Assistiord_aw Enforcement Act, or CALEA.

The FCC, in a subsequent order released on MagQIiB, required all interconnected VolP providerbésome fully CALEA compliant by
May 14, 2007. The FCC allowed VolP providers to ppnwith CALEA through the use of a solution progitiby a trusted third party with
the ability to extract call content and call-idéyitig information from a VVolP provider's network.Aile the FCC permits carriers to use the
services provided these third parties to become EXAtompliant by the deadline, the carrier remailtisnately responsible for ensuring the
timely delivery of call content and call-identifgjrinformation to law enforcement, and for protegtsubscriber privacy, as required by
CALEA.

We have selected a partner to work with us to dgwalsolution for CALEA compliant lawful intercepti of communications and, as of May
14, 2007, we had installed this solution in oumark operations and data centers, but had notgrapteted testing of all required interct



capabilities of this equipment. We are diligentlgrking to complete the testing of this equipmenbiider to achieve full compliance with the
FCC's order, but there are no guarantees thatdutpliance can be achieved. We could be subjeat tenforcement action by the FCC or
enforcement agencies if our CALEA solution doesh®tome fully operational. We may be subject t@mr@ment actions including, but not
limited to, fines, cease and desist orders, orrgibaalties if we are not able to comply with CALEBwr failure to achieve compliance with
any future CALEA orders, rules, filings or standgrdr any enforcement action initiated by the F€Gther agency, state or task force ag:
us could have a material adverse effect on ounéig position, results of operations or cash flows

There may be risks associated with our ability to @mply with the requirements of federal and other rgulations related to Customer
Proprietary Network Information (CPNI).
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On April 2, 2007, the FCC released an order extenthie application of the customer proprietary mekanformation, or CPNI, rules to
interconnected VolP providers. VolP providers haixemonths from the effective date of the ordeiniplement all the CPNI rules. CPNI
includes information such as the phone numbersd¢dly a consumer; the frequency, duration, anchgimf such calls; and any
services/features purchased by the consumer, sucdllavaiting, call forwarding, and caller 1D, &aldition to other information that may
appear on a consumer's bill.

Under the FCC's existing rules, carriers may net@BNI without customer approval except in narrasurnstances related to their provis

of existing services, and must comply with detadedtomer approval processes when using CPNI eutdithese narrow circumstances. The
new CPNI requirements are aimed at establishingrstringent security measures for access to ames® CPNI data in the form of
enhanced passwords for on-line access and catleisa to account information as well as customgfigadion of account or password
changes.

At the present time we do not utilize our custom@&PNI in a manner which would require us to obtainsent from our customers, but in the
event that we do in the future, we will be requiteédhere to specific CPNI rules aimed at markesinch services. By December 8, 2007
will be required to implement internal processesrnaer to be in compliance with all of the FCC'SNTRules. Our failure to achieve
compliance with any future CPNI orders, rulesnfié or standards, or any enforcement action iadiély the FCC or other agency, state or
task force against us could have a material adwedfset on our financial position, results of ogéras or cash flows.

There may be risks associated with our ability to @amply with funding requirements of the Universal Sevice Fund, or USF,
Telecommunications Relay Service, or TRS, fund, fedal regulatory recovery fees and similar state ofederal funds, or that our
customers will cancel service due to the impact tifiese price increases to their service.

On June 21, 2006, the FCC expanded the base oéts$aivService Fund, or USF, contributions to irdareected VolP providers. The FCC
established a safe harbor percentage of intenrsaémue of 64.9% of total VolP service revenue.Wéee allowed to calculate our
contribution based on the safe harbor or by pregaaitraffic study. We began contributing to théeiel USF on October 1, 2006. For a
period of at least two quarters beginning Octoh&0D6, we were required to contribute to the U&Ftf subscribers' retail revenues as well
as through its underlying carriers' wholesale cesrghe FCC order applying USF contributions tencinnected VolP providers was
appealed and on June 1, 2007, the U.S. Court oé&lpgdor the District of Columbia ruled that the@®&®as within its authority when it
required interconnected VolP service providersawtibute to the Universal Service Fund, thougstriick down the provision of the order
which required prepproval of traffic studies by the FCC and the iown that required double contributions to theddior two quarters fror
our underlying carrierswholesale charges. There is also a risk that kt&te organizations may attempt to assert state Wfotner state ar
local charges. At this time, at least one statderads that providers of interconnected VoIP sesyitike us, should contribute to its USF fu
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We charge our subscribers a USF fee equal to tikedd8tribution amounts we must contribute basedupo subscribers' retail revenues.
The impact of this price increase on our custoreisur inability to recoup our costs or liabilitissremitting USF contributions or other
factors could have a material adverse effect orfinancial position, results of operations and ciels.

On May 31, 2007, the FCC extended the disabiligeas requirements of Sections 225 and 255 of tmen@mications Act, which applied to
traditional phone services, to providers of intemected VolP services and to manufacturers of afpeciesigned equipment used to provide
those services. Section 255 of the Communicatiatg@quires service providers to ensure that itspent and service is accessible to and
usable by individuals with disabilities, if readéghievable, including requiring service providerensure that information and documente
provided in connection with equipment or servicesabcessible to people with disabilities, wherelitgachievable and that employee
training account for accessibility requirementsattdition, the FCC said that interconnected Vol#vioters were subject to the requirements
of Section 225, including contributing to the Teleanunications Relay Services, or TRS, fund andttiet must offer 711 abbreviated
dialing for access to relay services. At this timetil the formal release of the FCC order, we cdnqmedict the impact of these obligations on
our business or our ability to comply with thessadility obligations. We will likely pass these &tthal costs on to our customers and the
impact of this price increase or our inability &oup our costs or liabilities or other factorslddwave a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and ciavs. We may be subject to enforcement actionkiding, but not limited to, fines, cease i
desist orders, or other penalties if we are na &dbkcomply with these new disability requirements.

The Federal Communications Commission, or FCC vamius state commissions are considering the iitipp®f additional fees on
interconnected VolP providers, like us. The FCCumently considering subjecting interconnectedR/ptoviders to regulatory fee recovery
obligations. Several states are either considerktgnding or have imposed state USF, state TRS deesother taxes and fees on
interconnected VolIP providers like us. If we pdsstigh the taxes, fees and surcharges that mapphedto our service, the impact of this
price increase on our customers or our inabilityelmoup our costs or liabilities in remitting suelies, fees and surcharges could have a
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows.

If we are unable to improve our process for local amber portability provisioning, our growth may be negatively affected.

We support local number portability, or LNP, foraustomers, which allow our customers to reta@irtbxisting telephone numbers when
subscribing to our services. Transferring numbgesinanual process that in the past has taken igst@ess days or longer, although we
have taken steps to automate this process to redeakelay. A new customer of our services mushiaai both the new Packet8 service and
the customer's existing telephone service durieghtimber transfer process. By comparison, transtewireless telephone numbers among
wireless service providers generally takes seVerafs, and transferring wireline telephone numbensng traditional wireline service
providers generally takes a few days. The additidakay that we experience is due to our reliant¢hérd party carriers to transfer the
numbers, as well as the delay the existing telepls@nvice provider may contribute to the processal. number portability is considered an
important feature by many potential customers, @sfig our business customers, and if we fail tduee related delays, we may experience
increased difficulty in acquiring new customergetaining existing customers.

Our success also depends on our ability to handlelarge number of simultaneous calls, which our netark may not be able to
accommodate.

We expect the volume of simultaneous calls to imseesignificantly as the Packet8 subscriber baseggrOur network hardware and softw
may not be able to accommodate this additionalmeluf we fail to maintain an appropriate leveloperating performance, or if our service
is disrupted, our reputation could be hurt, we ddase customers, all of which could have a mdtadaerse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We could be liable for breaches of security on ouwveb site, fraudulent activities of our users, or tk failure of third-party vendors to
deliver credit card transaction processing services

A fundamental requirement for operating an intetreted, worldwide voice and video communicatiomgise and electronically billing our
Packet8 customers is the secure transmission éfleoial information and media over public netwarlklthough we have developed
systems and processes that are designed to pecotesuimer information and prevent fraudulent creditl transactions and other security
breaches, failure to mitigate such fraud or breachay adversely affect our operating results. alerklating to the liability of providers of
online payment services is currently unsettled.réle on third party providers to process and gu@payments made by Packet8
subscribers up to certain limits, and we may be
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unable to prevent our customers from fraudulergbeiving goods and services. Our liability risklircrease if a larger fraction of our
Packet8 transactions involve fraudulent or disputedit card transactions. Any costs we incur essalt of fraudulent or disputed
transactions could harm our business. In additlom functionality of our current billing systemiesl on certain third-party vendors delivering
services. If these vendors are unable or unwillingrovide services, we will not be able to chdiayeour Packet8 services in a timely or
scalable fashion, which could significantly deceeaar revenue and have a material adverse effegtiohusiness, financial condition and
operating results.

We have experienced losses due to subscriber fraadd theft of service.

Subscribers have obtained access to the PackeiBesaithout paying for monthly service and intefanal toll calls by unlawfully using our
authorization codes and submitting fraudulent d¢realid information. To date, such losses from umanized credit card transactions and theft
of service have not been significant. We have imgleted anti-fraud procedures in order to contreéds relating to these practices, but these
procedures may not be adequate to effectively Ehibf our exposure in the future from fraud. Urgprocedures are not effective, consumer
fraud and theft of service could significantly dese our revenue and have a material adverse effextr business, financial condition and
operating results.

A higher rate of customer terminations would negatiely affect our business by reducing our revenue aequiring us to spend more
money to grow our customer base.

Our rate of customer terminations, or average mgmthstomer churn, was 4.2% for the year ended Madg 2007. Our churn rate could
increase in the future if customers are not satisivith our service. Other factors, including ireed competition from other providers, also
influence our churn rate.

Because of churn, we have to acquire new custoomeas ongoing basis just to maintain our existawgl of customers and revenues. As a
result, marketing expense is an ongoing requiremiotir business. If our churn rate increases, \llehave to acquire even more new
customers in order to maintain our existing revenifée incur significant costs to acquire new custi@anand those costs are an important
factor in determining our net losses and achietingre profitability. Therefore, if we are unsucsks in retaining customers or are required
to spend significant amounts to acquire new custsiineyond those budgeted, our revenue could decesmsour net losses could increase.

Our success also depends on third parties in our giribution channels.

We currently sell our products direct to consunzerd through resellers, and are focusing effortdiversifying and increasing our
distribution channels. Our future revenue growth e@pend in large part on sales of our produatsugh reseller and other distribution
relationships. We may not be successful in devafpadditional distribution relationships. Agreenmsewith distribution partners generally
provide for one-time and recurring commissions daseour list prices, and do not require minimumcpases or restrict development or
distribution of competitive products. Thereforetiges that distribute our products may competéwis. In addition, distributors and resellers
may not dedicate sufficient resources or give sigffit priority to selling our products. Our failueedevelop new distribution channels, the
loss of a distribution relationship or a declindtie efforts of a material reseller or distributould have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operadi

Our future operating results may vary substantiallyfrom period to period and may be difficult to predict.

Our historical operating results have fluctuatephgicantly and will likely continue to fluctuata ithe future, and a decline in our operating
results could cause our stock price to fall. Omanual and a quarterly basis, there are a numifactdrs that may affect our operating
results, many of which are outside our control.Sehimclude, but are not limited to:

changes in market demand,;

the timing of customer orders;

customer cancellations;

competitive market conditions;

lengthy sales cycles and/or regulatory approvalesyc
new product introductions by us or our competitors;
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market acceptance of new or existing products;

the cost and availability of components;

the mix of our customer base and sales channels;

the mix of products sold;

the management of inventory;

continued compliance with industry standards agdlegory requirements; and
general economic conditions.

Due to these and other factors, we believe thabgdo-period comparisons of our results of operaiare not meaningful and should not be
relied upon as indicators of our future performaricis possible that in some future periods osules of operations may be below the
expectations of public market analysts and investbthis were to occur, the price of our commtotk would likely decline significantly.

We need to retain key personnel to support our prodcts and ongoing operations.

The development and marketing of our VolP produgliscontinue to place a significant strain on dianited personnel, management, and
other resources. Our future success depends uparottiinued services of our executive officers atingr key employees who have critical
industry experience and relationships that we oalyo implement our business plan. None of ourccef or key employees are bound by
employment agreements for any specific term. The & the services of any of our officers or keyptyees could delay the development
and introduction of, and negatively impact our ipilo sell our products which could adversely affeur financial results and impair our
growth. We currently do not maintain key persoa lifsurance policies on any of our employees.

We may not be able to manage our inventory leveldfectively, which may lead to inventory obsolescemcthat would force us to incur
inventory write-downs.

Our products have lead times of up to several ngrthd are built to forecasts that are necessarpyecise. Because of our practice of
building our products to necessarily imprecise ¢asts, it is likely that, from time to time, we lilave either excess or insufficient product
inventory. In addition, because we rely on thirdtp&endors for the supply of components and catirganufacturers to assemble our
products, our inventory levels are subject to theditions regarding the timing of purchase ordeit delivery dates that are not within our
control. Excess inventory levels would subjectaithe risk of inventory obsolescence, while insuéint levels of inventory may negatively
affect relations with customers. For instance,augtomers rely upon our ability to meet committetivééry dates, and any disruption in the
supply of our products could result in legal acticm our customers, loss of customers or harnutaability to attract new customers. Any
these factors could have a material adverse effecur business, operating results or financiataan.

The fair value of certain warrant liabilities may increase or decrease, and as a result, we may beuw@ed pursuant to EITF 00-19 to
reflect a corresponding increase or decrease in ouret income or net loss, as the case may be, an@ timount of our recorded liability
for the warrants for the applicable quarter also ma fluctuate materially.

Pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force Issue Nd9p0Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruntedndexed to and Potentially Settled
in a Company's Own Stock" ("EITF 00-19"), warraistued to three investors in three different edfiitgncings we consummated in fiscal
2005 and 2006 are classified as liabilities bec#usgossibility, however likely or unlikely, théite Company would be unable to deliver
registered shares upon a future exercise of thasemts means that the warrants are deemed talmeltinet cash settlement” provision
within the meaning of EITF 00-19. The required asting for a warrant with a "net cash settlememtvjsion under EITF 00-19 is to
estimate the fair value on the date of issuanca@nekcord a liability equal to that value to refl¢he required assumption that the Company
will breach its obligation to deliver registeredhsts in the future (which we refer to as a "presibreach™). The warrants will continue to be
recorded as liabilities until such time as the wats are exercised, expire or we and the warrddetmamend the applicable warrant
agreement in a manner that renders this accoutragment unnecessary. In the event that at th@fany fiscal quarter the fair value of
these warrants increases or decreases, we wildquered to re-value the warrants and reflect sinamge for the applicable fiscal quarter in
our financial statements in accordance with EITFLOOIf the fair value at the end of any fiscal daaincreases, we will recognize a
corresponding increase in expense for such fiacaltgr, as well as reflect a
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corresponding increase in our liabilities for stickal quarter, in accordance with EITF 00-19, t&sg in a reduction of our stockholders'
equity on our balance sheet for such fiscal quantera decrease in net income on our income statdoresuch fiscal quarter. If the fair val
at the end of any fiscal quarter decreases, we@dthgnize a corresponding decrease in expensei¢orfiscal quarter, as well as reflect a
corresponding decrease in our liabilities for sfistal quarter, in accordance with EITF 00-19, Hasg in an increase of our stockholders'
equity on our balance sheet for such fiscal quamerincrease in net income on our income statefoestich fiscal quarter. The amount we
record as a liability under EITF 00-19 is not, dorwe intend for it to be an admission or stipolatbf the amount that we would owe or be
obligated to pay the warrant holder in the everdarofctual breach by us of the warrant terms.dh fae have made no determination of the
amount of liability, if any, that we would owe toet warrant holder in the event of such a breach.

We may need to raise additional capital to supporbur future operations.

As of March 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equitsaénd investments of approximately $11.9 millidnless we achieve and maintain
profitability in the future, we will need to raiselditional capital. We may not be able to obtaichsadditional financing as needed on
acceptable terms, or at all, which may requireougtiuce our operating costs and other expendjtimelsading reductions of personnel and
capital expenditures. If we issue additional eqoitgonvertible debt securities to raise funds,aeership percentage of our existing
stockholders would be reduced and they may expeisignificant dilution. New investors may demaigts, preferences or privileges
senior to those of existing holders of our commimals If we are not successful in these actionsmag be forced to cease operations.

Our stock price has been highly volatile.

The market price of the shares of our common shaskbeen and is likely to continue to be highlyatitd. It may be significantly affected by
factors such as:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

announcements of technical innovations;

future legislation or regulation of the Internetitor VolP;

loss of key personnel;

new entrants into the VOIP service marketplacduiting cable and incumbent telephone companieo#ret well-capitalized
competitors;

new products or new contracts by us, our compstiboitheir customers;

the perceived or real impact of events that negbtiaffect our direct competitors; and

e developments with respect to patents or proprigights, general market conditions, changes imfiie estimates by securities
analysts, and other factors which could be unréltdeor outside of, our control.

The stock market has from time to time experiersigdificant price and volume fluctuations that hgeagticularly affected the market prices
for the common stocks of technology companies hatitave often been unrelated to the operatingpeeince of particular companies.
These broad market fluctuations may adversely affecmarket price of our common stock. In the padfowing periods of volatility in the
market price of a company's securities, securii@ss action litigation has often been initiatediagt the issuing company. If our stock price
is volatile, we may also be subject to such lifigat Such litigation could result in substantiastsand a diversion of management's attention
and resources, which would disrupt business anttl@awse a decline in our operating results. Artifesaent or adverse determination in
such litigation would also subject us to significhability.

We may not be able to maintain our listing on the RSDAQ Capital Market.

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Capital Mankéaich has certain compliance requirements faortiooed listing of common stock.
We have in the past been subject to delisting phaes due to a drop in the price of our commonksth@ur minimum closing bid price per
share falls below $1.00 for a period of 30 consgeutading days in the future, we may again bgesutio delisting procedures. As of the
close of business on June 15, 2007, our commoR &t a closing bid price of approximately $1.38 sfzare. We must also meet additional
continued listing requirements contained in NASD®M@rketplace Rule 4310(c)(2)(b), which requires tiwathave a minimum of $2,500,000
in stockholders' equity or $35,000,000
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market value of listed securities held by non-&fféds or $500,000 of net income from continuingrapens for the most recently completed
fiscal year (or two of the three most recently ctetgd fiscal years). As of June 15, 2007, basedusrtliosing price as of that day, the market
value of our securities held by non-affiliates apgmated $84,753,000 and we were in compliance WASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4310(c)
(2)(b). There can be no assurance that we willinaatto meet the continued listing requirements.

Delisting could reduce the ability of our sharelgoflto purchase or sell shares as quickly andexpémnsively as they have done historically.
For instance, failure to obtain listing on anothmearket or exchange may make it more difficult faders to sell our securities. Broker-dealers
may be less willing or able to sell or make a maike@ur common stock. Not maintaining our NASDA@pltal Market listing may:

result in a decrease in the trading price of ounmmon stock;

lessen interest by institutions and individualéwesting in our common stock;
make it more difficult to obtain analyst coveragad

make it more difficult for us to raise capital etfuture.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal operations are located in an appretéty 47,000 square foot facility in Santa Claralifdrnia that is leased through Aug
2009. Design, testing, research and developmede aad marketing, shipping, customer service amistrative activities are performec
this facility. We also lease office space for oesaarch and development operation in Sogmigpolis, France. We believe that our exis
facilities are adequate to meet our current andskeeable future needs. For additional informategarding our obligations under leases
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statementdained in Part II, Item 8 of this Repa

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various legal claims and litigatthat have arisen in the normal course of owraions. While the results of such cla
and litigation cannot be predicted with certainty do not believe that the final outcome of suchtens will have a material adverse effec
our financial position, results of operations osttélows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitglérd during the fourth quarter of fiscal 20
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We completed our initial public offering on July 2997 under the name 8x8, Inc. From that date gircdpril 3, 2000, our common stc
was traded on what was then known as the NASDAGoNalt Market (the NASDAQ) under the symbol "EGHFrom April 4, 2000 throuc
July 18, 2001, our common stock was traded on tASIDAQ under the symbol "NTRG." Since July 19, 2@k common stock has trac
under the symbol "EGHT." In July 2002, our listimgs transferred to the NASDAQ Capital Market of M&sdaqg Stock Market LLC. V
have never paid cash dividends on our common stadkhave no plans to do so in the foreseeablegfuttfe did not repurchase any of
equity securities during the fourth quarter of éis2007. As of June 15, 2007, there were 299 hslderecord of our common stock.
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The following table sets forth the range of higld é&mw sale prices for each period indicated:

Period High Low
Fiscal 2007:
First quarter $1.78 $0.85
Second quarter $1.24 $0.65
Third quarter $1.96 $1.03
Fourth quarter $1.84 $1.12
Fiscal 2006:
First quarter $2.49 $1.03
Second quarter $2.50 $1.45
Third quarter $3.39 $1.21
Fourth quarter $2.16 $1.55

See Item 12 of Part Il of this Report regarding irfformation about securities authorized for issuance@inder our equity compensation
plans.

The graph below shows the cumulative total stodidoiteturn over a five year period assuming thestment of $100 on March 31, 2002 in
each of 8x8's common stock, the NASDAQ Compositixrand the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. Tragpbris furnished, not filed,
and the historical return cannot be indicativeutfife performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among 8 x 8, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Telecommunications Index

5450
$400
$350
£300
$250
$200
$150
$100

$50

oz 303 aro4 305 3106 3T

—H—8x8, Inc. — A — NASDAQ Composite - - O - - NASDAQ Telecommunications

* 3100 invested on 3/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending March 31.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information presented in the following tableSeflected Financial Data for the years ended Matgl2006 and 2005 has been restated to
reflect the restatement of our financial results fk described in Note 2 "Restatement" to the alifested financial statements included in
Item 8 "Financial Statements and Supplementary'Qxtdhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 (1)

(Restated) (Restated)
(in thousands, except per share amot

Total revenue $ 53,130 $ 31,892 $ 11,475 $ 9,308 $ 11,003
Net loss $ (9930% (23,253 $ (15348 $ (3,039 $ (11,403
Net loss per shar

Basic $ (0.16. $ 0.42 $ (0.35 $ (0.09' $ (0.40'
Diluted $ (0.16' $ 0.42'$ (0.35 $ (0.09' $ (0.40°
Total asset $ 19,958 $ 31,120 $ 39,080 $ 15571 $ 6,705
Fair value of warrant liabilit $ 3,387 $ 7,123 $ 4,837 $ - $ -
Contingently redeemable common st $ -$ - $ - $ - $ 669
Accumulated defici $ (200,249% (190,319 $ (167,066 $ (151,718 $ (148,679
Total stockholders' equit $ 5377 $ 12,970 $ 24,907 $ 12,786 $ 2,164

1. Netloss and net loss per share include restingtand other charges of $3.4 million.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following "Management's Discussion and Analydifinancial Condition and Results of Operatiorestects the restatement discussed
below and in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolid&tmancial Statements.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have incldidiee restated Consolidated Balance Sheet as afiV&dr, 2006, Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statsméash Flows for the 2005 and 2006 fiscal yeardselected financial data for

each of the seven quarters ended in the period ended December 31, 2006 . See "ltem 6 - Selected Financial Data", ITEM 8 -
CONSOLIDATED QUARTERY FINANCIAL DATA and Note 2 (Retatement of Financial Statements) of the NoteékddConsolidated
Financial Statements for more detailed informatiegarding the restatement and the changes to #wopsly issued financial statements.
previously issued financial statements are beistated because we have determined that they camairs in accounting for warrants issued
to three investors in three equity financings comsuated in fiscal 2005 and 2006. We have concluldat] tnder accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of AmgiGRAAP"), the warrants should have been accounte@s liabilities. Our restated financial
statements reflect a liability in the consolidabedance sheets for the warrants. The effect ofllamge is that we must reflect income or loss
in the consolidated statement of operations forctrenge in the fair value of the warrant from pe+io-period. Previously, we had treated
these warrants as equity. The restatement alscteflhe effect of other unrecorded adjustmentsihee previously determined to be
immaterial.

OVERVIEW

We were founded in 1987 and completed an initisalipwoffering of common stock in 1997. We develomanarket telecommunication
services for Internet protocol, or IP, telephonyg aideo applications. We offer the Packet8 broadbéolP and video communications
service, Packet8 Virtual Office service and vidempd equipment and services. We shipped our firéP\pooduct in 1998, launched our
Packet8 service in November 2002 and launcheddbke®8 Virtual Office business service offeringMarch 2004. As of March 31, 2007,
we had more than 100,000 Packet8 residential atebphone lines and approximately 7,000 businesscsbers to our Packet8 Virtual
Office service. Since fiscal 2004,
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substantially all of our revenues have been geeérabm the sale, license and provision of VolPdpieis, services and technology. Prior to
fiscal 2003, our focus was on our VolP semicondubtsiness.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES & ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepiarednformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of
America. Note 1 to the consolidated financial steats in Part Il, ltem 8 of this Report descrildes gignificant accounting policies and
methods used in the preparation of our consolidfieghcial statements.

We have identified the policies below as some efitfore critical to our business and the understandi our results of operations. These
policies may involve a higher degree of judgmert esmplexity in their application and representdh#cal accounting policies used in the
preparation of our financial statements. Althoughbelieve our judgments and estimates are apptepaetual future results may differ from
our estimates. If different assumptions or condgiavere to prevail, the results could be materiififerent from our reported results. The
impact and any associated risks related to thelsggsoon our business operations is discusseditfirout Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiiems where such policies affect our reportedexmkcted financial results.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial steets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the reported amounts of assetslitieb and equity and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effittencial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our esggnancluding, but not limited to, those relatedad debts, valuation of inventories, and
litigation and other contingencies. We base ouneges on historical experience and on variousraksumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutddeying value of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sourcesu@ results could differ from those estimatesarrdifferent assumptions or conditions. We
base our estimates on historical experience angnaus other assumptions that are believed teasanable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgnsesibout the carrying value of assets, liabilitied aquity that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results could differ fromsb@stimates under different assumptions or camditiAdditional information regarding risk
factors that may impact our estimates is includealva under Item 1A, "Risk Factors."

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are describedateN to the consolidated financial statementsairt I, Item 8 of this Report. As described
below, significant management judgments and estisaust be made and used in connection with trentevrecognized in any accounting
period. Material differences may result in the amtaand timing of our revenue for any period if smanagement made different judgments or
utilized different estimates.

Historically, we recognized new subscriber revefnam our Packet8 service offerings upon the exjiradf the applicable acceptance per
Under the terms of our typical subscription agresmeew customers can terminate their service wig@ days of order placement and
receive a full refund of fees previously paid. Digrihe first few years of our Packet8 service, aokéd sufficient history to apply a return |
and reserve against new order revenue and acctrdaeferred new subscriber revenue until the 3@alaxeptance period had expired. In the
first quarter of 2007, we evaluated two years efdrical data related to the termination of sendudng the 30-day acceptance period and by
June 2006, had determined that we had sufficiextotyi of subscriber conduct to make reasonablmegtis of cancellations within the 30-day
trial period. Therefore, in the first quarter afdal 2007, we began recognizing new subscribenteya the month in which the new order
was shipped, net of an allowance for expected diatioms. As a result of this change in accountioticy, we accelerated the recognition of
an additional $68,000 of new order service revefia80,000 of new order product revenue and $466000@w order cost of product for the
first quarter of fiscal 2007.

Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) consensus N@1QOAccounting for Revenue Arrangements with Mal#iDeliverables" requires that
revenue arrangements with multiple deliverabledibigled into separate units of accounting if thévéeables in the arrangement meet
specific criteria. In addition, arrangement considien must be allocated among the separate uhétsomunting based on their relative fair
values, with certain limitations. The provisioniofithe Packet8 service with the accompanying dgstdominal or videophone adapter
constitutes a revenue arrangement with multiplesdedbles. In accordance with the guidance of BNBEF00-21, we allocate Packet8
revenues, including activation fees, among the tdpsterminal adapter or videophone and subscrietices. Subsequent to the subscriber's
initial purchase of the service, revenues allocaettie desktop terminal adapter or videophoneeregnized as product revenues during the
period of the
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sale less the allowance for estimated returns dgufia 30-day trial period. All other revenues aeognized when the related services are
provided. The cost of the products sold is recogphizontemporaneously with the recognition of reeenu

At the time of each revenue transaction we asshsgher the revenue amount is fixed and determiratdewhether collection is reasonably
assured. We assess whether the fee is fixed aathuatble based on the payment terms associatbdhvettransaction. If a significant
portion of a fee is due after our normal paymemnng; which are 30-90 days from invoice date, weantfor the fee as not being fixed and
determinable. In these cases, we recognize revesitiee fees become due. We assess collection basedumber of factors, including past
transaction history with the customer and the t¢weatthiness of the customer. We generally do nguest collateral from our customers. If
we determine that collection of a fee is not reabbnassured, we defer the fee and recognize revanihe time collection becomes
reasonably assured, which is generally upon recéipayment. We defer recognition of revenue ordpob sales to retailers where the rigk
return exists until products are resold to the @set and the trial period has expired.

During fiscal 2007 and 2006, revenues from softWiaensing and related arrangements were limited.afrangements with multiple
obligations (for example, undelivered maintenanue support), we have allocated revenue to each coemnt of the arrangement using the
residual value method based on the fair value @itidelivered elements, which is specific to ugs fireans that we defer revenue from the
arranged fee that is equivalent to the fair valihe undelivered elements. Fair values for theoimgymaintenance and support obligations
for our technology licenses are based upon sepsadds of renewals to other customers or upon rehmtes quoted in the contracts. We |
the fair value of services, such as training orsoidting, on separate sales of these services & otlstomers. We recognize revenue for
maintenance services ratably over the contract.t®um training and consulting services are billeddd on hourly rates, and we generally
recognize revenue as these services are performed.

If a software license arrangement includes acceptarniteria, revenue is not recognized until we @amonstrate objectively that the software
or service can meet the acceptance criteria otthleatustomer has signed formal acceptance docatimntlf a software license arrangement
obligates us to deliver unspecified future produetgenue is recognized on a subscription badibhisaover the term of the contract.

For all sales, except those completed via the hietemve use either a binding purchase order or gigeed agreement as evidence of an
arrangement. For sales over the Internet, we gsedit card authorization as evidence of an arnarege, and recognize revenue upon
settlement of the transaction, if there are noarust acceptance conditions. We do not settle coadit transactions until equipment relate
the transaction, if any, is shipped to a customer.

Our ability to enter into revenue generating tratisas and recognize revenue in the future is stittea number of business and econc
risks discussed above under ltem 1A,"Risk Factors."

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable

We must make estimates of the collectibility of aacounts receivable. Management specifically aslyccounts receivable, including
historical bad debts, customer concentrationspoust creditworthiness, current economic trendscrahges in our customer payment terms
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance daibtful accounts. As of March 31, 2007, the accoueteivable balance was $854,000,
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $58,0Acluding a reserve for disputed credits, anéstimated returns reserve of $64,000. If
the financial condition of our customers deteriesabur actual losses may exceed our estimatesddfitibnal allowances would be required.

Valuation of Inventories

We write down our inventory for estimated obsolesesor unmarketable inventory equal to the diffeesbbetween the cost of inventory and
the estimated market value based upon assumptimng future demand, market conditions and replac¢mests. If actual future demand or
market conditions are less favorable than thosggted by us, additional inventory write-downs nieyrequired.

Warrant Liability

We account for our warrants in accordance with Eynerissues Task Force Issue No. 00-19, "Accourfongerivative Financial

Instruments Indexed to and Potentially Settled @oanpany's Own Stock" ("EITF 00-19") which requivesrrants to be classified as
permanent equity, temporary equity or as assdtalilities. In general, warrants that either raquiet-cash settlement or are presumed to
require net-cash settlement are recorded as asstabilities at fair value and warrants thatuieg settlement in shares are recorded as
equity instruments. Certain of our warrants regagtlement in shares and are accounted for asgpemh equity. We also have three investor
warrants that are classified as liabilities becahsg
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include a provision that specifies that we musivéelfreely tradable shares upon exercise by theamtholder. Because there are
circumstances, irrespective of likelihood, that may be within our control that could prevent defiy of registered shares, EITF 00-19
requires the warrants be recorded as a liabilifgiatvalue, with subsequent changes in fair vakerded as income (loss) in change in fair
value of warrant liability. The fair value of theawant is determined using a BlaSkholes option pricing model, and is affected bgngjes ir
inputs to that model including our stock price, esed stock price volatility and contractual term.

Income and Other Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consoldifiteancial statements we are required to estimmaténcome taxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. This procesauiegs us to estimate our actual current tax expanddao assess temporary differen
resulting from bookax accounting differences for items such as dederevenue. These differences result in deferredgaets and liabilitie
which are included within our consolidated balagsiceet. We must then assess the likelihood thadeferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and to the extent wéelelthat recovery is not likely, we must establsialuation allowance. In the event that
we determine that we would be able to realize defetax assets in the future in excess of theawatrded amount, an adjustment to the
deferred tax asset would increase income in thegsuch determination was made.

Significant management judgment is required tordatee the valuation allowance recorded againsinetideferred tax assets, which consist
of net operating loss and tax credit carry forwakle have recorded a valuation allowance of apprately $73 million as of March 31,
2007, due to uncertainties related to our abibtytilize most of our deferred tax assets befoey tixpire. The valuation allowance is base
our estimates of taxable income by jurisdictionvimch we operate and the period over which ourmdefetax assets will be recoverable.

We have received inquiries, demands or audit reéquiesn several states and municipal taxing and&@feincies seeking payment of taxes
are applied to or collected from the customersrofigers of traditional public switched telephoreswork services. We have consistently
maintained that these taxes do not apply to itds®for a variety of reasons depending on thaustair rule that establishes such obligations.
We have recorded an expense of $841,000 and $5Bfg0the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006eotisply as our estimate of the
increase in probable tax exposure for such assegsn@ur cumulative estimate for probable assessmg$1,570,000 as of March 31, 2007,
which is recorded in the other accrued liabilities item in the condensed consolidated balancetshe

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective April 1, 2006, we account for our empley&ock options and stock purchase rights undet996é Employee Stock Purchase Plan
("Purchase Plan") under the provisions of StateroERtnancial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), 'Y@Hgased Payment" ("SFAS 123(R)
Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") TdchhBulletin 97-1, "Accounting under Statement ¥8BCertain Employee Stock
Purchase Plans with a Look-Back Option" and Sdesrand Exchange Commission ("SEC") Staff AccounBalletin ("SAB"), No. 107.
Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), share-asepensation cost is measured at the grantliaded on the estimated fair value of
the award, and is recognized as an expense oventhyee's requisite service period (generallytsing period of the equity grant), ne
estimated forfeitures. We have adopted the modpgiedpective transition method as provided by SRNaS123(R) and, accordingly,
financial statement amounts for the prior perioagehnot been restated to reflect the fair valuehowbdf expensing share-based
compensation.

Prior to April 1, 2006, we accounted for stdgksed awards in accordance with APB 25, wherebdifference between the exercise price
the fair market value on the date of grant, oritiiensic value, is recognized as compensation egpeUnder the intrinsic value method of
accounting, no compensation expense generally ecgnized when the exercise price of the emplotak ®ption grants equaled the fair
market value of the underlying common stock ondate of grant. However, to the extent awards weaatgd either below fair market value
or were modified which required a re-measuremerbaipensation costs, we recorded compensation sgpen

Stockbased compensation expense recognized in the Gaeteal Statements of Operations for fiscal 200Wuohed both the unvested porti
of stock-based awards granted prior to April 1,2860d stock-based awards granted subsequent tblAR6H06. Stock options granted in
periods prior to fiscal 2007 were measured baseSFARS No. 123 criteria, whereas stock options g@ustibsequent to April 1, 2006 were
measured based on SFAS No. 123(R) criteria. Inucation with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), waiehed our method of attributing the
value of stock-based compensation to expense fneradcelerated multiple-option approach to thegditdine single option method.
Compensation expense for all share-based paymemtiawranted subsequent to April 1, 2006 has besgnized using the straight-line
single-option method. Stock-based compensationresgmcluded in fiscal 2007 included the impact¢stimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123
(R) requires
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forfeitures to be estimated at the time of gramt @evised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstuied forfeitures differ from those estimates.
For the periods prior to fiscal 2007, we accouritedorfeitures as they occurred.

To value option grants and stock purchase righteeuthe Purchase Plan for actual and pro form&sgtased compensation we used the
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Fair valutedmined using the Black-Scholes option valuatiadei varies based on assumptions
used for the expected stock prices volatility, extee life, risk free interest rates and future didrid payments. For fiscal years 2007 and 2
we used the historical volatility of our stock oeperiod equal to the expected life of the optimrtheir fair value. The expected life
assumptions represent the weighted-average padokl-based awards are expecting to remain outsign@ihese expected life assumptions
were established through the review of historica&ireise behavior of stock-based award grants vintiila vesting periods. The risk free
interest was based on the closing market bid yiefdactively traded U.S. treasury securities indher-the-counter market for the expected
term equal to the expected term of the option. diielend yield assumption was based on our histoy expectation of future dividend
payout.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires us to calculate the aatukiti paid in capital pool ("APIC Pool") availabeabsorb tax deficiencies recognized
subsequent to adopting SFAS No. 123(R), as if vieatlpted SFAS No. 123 at its effective date otidanl, 1995. There are two allowable
methods to calculate our APIC Pool: (1) the longrfanethod as set forth in SFAS No. 123(R) or (2)ghort form method as set forth in
FASB Staff Position No. 123(R)-3. We have electedge the long form method under which we trackeaeard grant on an employee-by-
employee basis and grant-by-grant basis to deterihthere is a tax benefit or tax deficiency faclk award. We then compared the fair value
expense to the tax deduction received for eacht grashaggregated the benefits and deficienciestabksh the APIC Pool.

Due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, some exesaissult in tax deductions in excess of previovstprded benefits based on the option
value at the time of grant, or windfalls. We reciagrwindfall tax benefits associated with the eissof stock options directly to
stockholders' equity only when realized. Accordyngle are not recognizing deferred tax assetsdbpperating loss carryforwards resulting
from windfall tax benefits occurring from April 2006 onward. A windfall tax benefit occurs when #wtual tax benefit realized by the
company upon an employee's disposition of a shasedaward exceeds the deferred tax asset, ibasgciated with the award that the
company had recorded. We use the "with and withapproach as described in Emerging Issue Task FdEtEF") Topic No. D-32, in
determining the order in which our tax attributes atilized. The "with and without" approach resiiit the recognition of the windfall stock
option tax benefits only after all other tax attitibs of ours have been considered in the annualdzaxial computation. Also, we have elected
to ignore the indirect tax effects of share-basmdmensation deductions in computing our researdidamelopment tax and as such, we
recognize the full effect of these deductions mititome statement in the period in which the texakient occurs.

KEY BUSINESS METRICS

We periodically review certain key business mefngighin the context of the performance goals setanagement, in order to evaluate the
effectiveness of our operational strategies, at®oasources and maximize the financial performafi@ar business. The key business me
include the following:

» Churn: Average monthly subscriber line churndqrarticular period is calculated by dividing thember of lines that terminated
during that period by the simple average numbéinet during the period and dividing the resultthg number of months in the
period. The simple average number of lines dutiiregperiod is the number of lines on the first dithe period, plus the number of
lines on the last day of the period, divided by tWerminations, as used in the calculation of ctaiatistics, do not include customers
terminated during the period if termination occdrvethin the first 30 days after purchasing ounvem. Management reviews this
metric to evaluate whether we are retaining ousténg subscribers in accordance with our plan. Glapproximated 4.2% for the
fiscal 2007, 3.0% for fiscal 2006 and 3.7% for &is2005. We believe that the increase in churn ffisoal 2006 to fiscal 2007 was ¢
to a strengthening in our collection policies andcedures in the first fiscal quarter of 2007 camelli with an increase in terminations
of our residential service because of price inaea@snd competition. We believe that the decreashum from fiscal 2005 to 2006
was due to a reduction in service outages and@adse in voice quality and customer service sigfievels. We believe that retaini
and building upon our existing subscriber baseiigal to our future growth and business succ&bgrefore, significant increases in
our churn rate would be likely to have an advensgaict on our operating results and the value obosmess.

* Subscriber acquisition cost: Subscriber acquisitiost is defined as the sum of the advertisirayketing, promotions, commissions
and equipment subsidy costs associated with oarteffo acquire new subscribers. Management revileiwsnetric to evaluate how
effective our marketing programs are in acquiriegvrsubscribers
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on an economical basis in the context of estimataxscriber lifetime value. Subscriber acquisitiostancreased to $126 for fiscal
2007 from $122 for fiscal 2006 and $113 for fis2@05 due to a shift in marketing efforts from resitial to small businesses.

Management believes it is useful to monitor thesgriecs together and not individually as it does matke business decisions based upot
single metric.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our Consolidated Financial Statements raated notes included elsewhere in
this Report.

REVENUES
Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Service revenue $ 450469% 26,113% 09,086 $ 18,933 725%$ 17,027 187.4%
Percentage of total revent 84.8% 81.9% 79.2%

Service revenuesonsist primarily of revenues attributable to thewision of our Packet8 service and VolP technoltiggnses and ai
royalties earned under such licenses. Prior t@lfi2004, our service revenues were primarily gaedray nonrecurring license transacti
and related maintenance revenues.

The increase in fiscal year 2007, as comparedstmaffiyear 2006, was primarily attributable to a.$1million increase in Packet8 sen
revenues attributed to the growth in the Packet8&i Office subscriber base. In early fiscal 2018, Company redirected its marketing fi
targeting residential customers to marketing itsket8 Virtual Office services to small businessdse Packet8 Virtual Office subscriber b
grew from less than 4,000 customers at the enedlf2006 to approximately 7,000 on March 31, 2@Ddr residential customer base did
increase between the end of fiscal 2006 and 20fi@ctive March 1, 2007, we increased the monthlyise fees on our unlimited residen
service and unlimited business service for existimgtomers by $2 and $5 and by $5 and $10 for nestomers who subscribed to the ser
after March 1, 2007. License and royalty revenusdeiated with our IP semiconductor technology laosted iPBX product decreased
$0.4 million from $0.7 million to $0.3 million. Iaddition, we recognized $1.8 million in wholesatevice revenue in fiscal 2007 compare
$0.1 million in fiscal 2006.

The increase in revenues in fiscal year 2006 frimoaf year 2005 consisted primarily of a $17.4 imnillincrease in Packet8 service revel
attributable to the significant growth in the sufilser base from approximately 57,000 lines at Ma&3th2005 to 133,000 at March 31, 2(
In addition, we began charging a regulatory recp¥ee of $1.50 per line effective in May 2005 an$199 emergency 911 service
recovery fee of $1.99 per line effective in Janu2B®6. These fees are recorded as service revdnaesase and royalty revenues associ
with our IP semiconductor technology and hosteddPBoduct declined by $0.4 million however.

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Product revenue $ 8084% 5779% 2,380% 2,305 39.9%$ 3,390 141.9%
Percentage of total revent 15.2% 18.1% 20.8%

Product revenuesconsist of revenues from sales of VolP terminalptels, telephones and videophones, primarily aitizile to our Packe
service. For fiscal years 2006 and 2005, produeemaes also included sales of VolP semiconductnds aiher system products of $
million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Product revenues increased in fiscal year 2007usecaf the shift in marketing from residential cusérs to small businesses which rest
in an increase in new subscriptions to the Packéti®ial Office service. Residential customers ace charged for the broadband ph
gateways but do pay a $29.99 activation fee whesales of Packet8 Virtual Office telephones are $®@ach plus a $39.99 activation fee.
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In fiscal year 2006, we experienced a $3.8 milliecrease in product revenue from sales of Packddptars due to growth in the subscr
base. There was a $0.4 million decrease in salg®léf semiconductors.

Revenues from our ten largest customers in thalfisears ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ateddor approximately 5%, 3% and
11%, respectively, of our total revenues. No sirgistomer represented more than 10% of our tot@iees during fiscal 2007, 2006 or 2C

Sales to customers outside the United States maexs 1%, 2% and 9% of total revenues in the figeats ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The following table illustratas net revenues by geographic area. Revenuestabeited to countries based on the
destination of shipment (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
United State: $ 52,463 $ 31,141 $ 10,472
Europe 317 291 646
Taiwan 165 127 157
Other 185 333 200
$ 53,130 $ 31,892 $ 11,475
I I I
Cost of Service Revenues
Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of service revenu $ 19,020% 12,367$ 5195% 6,653 53.8%$ 7,172 138.1%
Percentage of service reveni 42.2% 47.4% 57.2%

The cost of service revenues consists of costsgpilynassociated with network operations and relgtersonnel, telephony origination
termination services provided by third party cagiand royalty expenses. During the fourth quastdiscal 2006 and the second quarte
fiscal year 2007, we began using new carriers &lirarigination and termination for a substantiakrton of our phone traffic. This char
resulted in lower per minute pricing and cost of/&® per customer.

The increase in cost of service revenues in figeal 2007 from fiscal year 2006 was primarily daeah increase in third party teleph
origination and termination service fees and otlosts due to the growth in the Packet8 subscriase b

The increase in cost of service revenues in figealr 2006 from fiscal year 2005 was primarily doeah increase in Packet8 netw
operations headcount, third party telephony orig@maand termination service fees and other cosds@ated with significant year-ovgeal
growth in Packet8 lines in service.

Cost of Product Revenues

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of product revenut $ 8,074% 10,732% 4546 $ (2,658 -24.8%$ 6,186 136.1%
Percentage of product revent 99.9% 185.7% 190.3%

The cost of product revenues consists of costscagsd with systems, components, estimated warrabligations and direct and indir
costs associated with product purchasing, schegluliuality assurance, shipping and handling. Weegdly do not charge Packi
subscribers for the terminal adapters used to geowur service when they subscribe through our ikeebBa&/e have also offered incentive:
customers who purchase terminal adapters in oail annels to offset the customer's cost of tngipment purchased from a retailer
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issu@d81, a portion of
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Packet8 service revenues is allocated to produentees, but these revenues are less than thefdbstterminal adapters. Accordingly, cost
of product revenues exceeds product revenues, arekpect this trend to continue. In the seconddfdical 2006, we began shipping lower
cost broadband phone gateways. In the first hdisoél 2007, we suspended purchases of DV326 pii@oes and began shipping Tango
video terminal adapters in the fourth quarter s¢4il 2007.

The decrease in cost of product revenues in fiagalr from fiscal 2006 resulted primarily from lowarst broadband phone gateways fol
entire year rather than for part of the year, afisital 2006. In addition, we shipped fewer restddrbroadband phone gateways and Pac
videophones in fiscal 2007 than 2006. The decreasgpenses was partially offset by an increasthénnumber of Packet8 Virtual Offi
sales.

The increase in cost of product revenues in fi2€d6 from fiscal 2005 resulted primarily from arpegximately $6.6 million increase
broadband phone gateways provided and sold to Easkbscribers upon commencement of service amtieteimanufacturing, persont
handling, overhead and shipping costs. The incréasBacket8 expenses was partially offset by a edme in cost of revenues
semiconductor products, which decreased duringlfi2d05 following our decision to cease the salsumh products which we announce
the 2004 fiscal year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Research and developm $ 4712% 5916% 3,109% (1,204 -204% $ 2,807 90.3%
Percentage of total revent 8.9% 18.6% 27.1%

Historically, our research and development expemsa® consisted primarily of personnel, systematype design, and equipment ci
necessary for us to conduct our development andhesgng efforts. We expense research and developrests, including softwa
development costs, as they are incurred.

The decrease in research and development expeamrsischl 2007 from fiscal 2006 was primarily ditrtable to a $1.4 million decrease
personnel and contractor headcount expenses, 86t4Mmillion in SFAS 123(R) stock based compensatixpense. A total of $0.6 million
the decrease from 2006 to 2007 is related to thartiere of the Company's Vice Chairman in Janu@fg2

The increase in research and development expeosésdal 2006 from fiscal 2005 was primarily dwea $2.7 million increase in person
costs due to additional employee and contractoddmant.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $ 35657% 27,863% 18534% 7,794 28.0%$ 9,329  50.3%
Percentage of total revent 67.1% 87.4% 161.5%

Selling, general and administrative expenses cbpsimarily of personnel and related overhead ctmtsales, marketing, customer supf
finance, human resources and general managemeadh &sts also include outsourced customer servade center operations, sa
commissions, as well as trade show, advertisingotimelr marketing and promotional expenses.

The increase in selling, general and administratixgenses for fiscal 2007, from fiscal 2006, cdesigprimarily of a $2.5 million increase
compensation expense for personnel due to headealditions, a $2.0 million increase in contractgpenses relating to the increas:
staffing of our customer service organizations1@%nillion increase in credit card transactiongassing fees, a $0.4 million increase in ¢
and use tax expense, a $0.3 million increase ieriding and other marketing and promotional expena $0.2 million increase in legal fe
a $0.2 million increase in sales agent and retatgnmissions and a $0.2 million increase in extesaitor and tax expenses. We i
reported $1.3 million in SFAS 123(R) stock basethpensation expense in fiscal 2007, which expenszs wot required to be includec
this line item in fiscal 2006.
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The increase in selling, general and administratixgenses for fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005, coesigirimarily of a $2.5 million increase
compensation expense for personnel due to headeoigitions, a $1.0 million increase in advertisipgblic relations and other market
and promotional expenses, a $1.2 million increasmntractor expenses relating to the increaséaffirgy of our telemarketing and custor
service organizations, a $3.6 million increaseadtes agent and retailer commissions and a $0.9omilhcrease in credit card transac
processing fees. These increases were partiabeblify a $0.3 million decrease in consultant amtitauexpenses related to compliance
Sarbanes Oxley Section 404 and a $0.6 million deserén legal fees attributable to reduced legaéeses for patent and regulatory matters.

INTEREST INCOME AND OTHER, NET

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Interest income and other, r $ 667 $ 847 3 558 $ (180; -21.3% $ 289 51.8%
Percentage of total revent 1.3% 2.7% 4.9%

Our interest income and other, net, primarily cstssof interest and investment income earned orcasin, cash equivalents and investr
balances. The decrease in other income for fis68F Zrom fiscal 2006 resulted primarily lower irgst income on lower average ¢
balances.

The increase in interest income and other, ndtséal 2006 from fiscal 2005 resulted from highaterest rates earned on our cash balanc
these funds were invested in marketable securities.

INCOME ON CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF WARRANT LIABILITY

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(dollar amounts in thousands)

Income on change in fe
value of warrant liabilit $ 3,736 $ 886 $ 3,800 $ 2,850 321.7% $ (2,914  -76.7%
Percentage of total revent 7.0% 2.8% 33.1%

In connection with the sale of shares of our comstoek in fiscal 2005 and 2006, we issued warramtisree different equity financings. The
warrants included a provision that we must deliveely tradable shares upon exercise of the warBadause there are circumstances that
may not be within our control that could preveniivaey of registered shares, EITF Q@-requires the warrants be recorded as a lialatifair
value with subsequent changes in fair value reabadea gain or loss. The fair value of the warimdetermined using a Blackeholes optiol
pricing model, and is affected by changes in inpaithat model including our stock price, expecattmtk price volatility and contractual term.
To the extent that the fair value of the warraability increases or decreases, we record a losgome in our statement of operations. The
increase in the income from change in fair valuevafrants in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 200@us to a reduction in the fair value of
warrants resulting from a decline in our stock @riexpected stock price volatility and contractifalof the warrants which are the primary
assumptions applied to the Black-Scholes modellwhie have used to calculate the fair value of therants.

The reduction in the income from the change invalue of warrants in fiscal 2006 compared to fi205 is due to an increase in the fair
value of warrants primarily as a result of an iasein the number of shares underlying the warthatsare classified as liabilities and a sl
increase in our stock price, offset by a reductimnexpected stock price volatility and contractiialof the warrants.
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BENEFIT FROM INCOME TAXES

Year Ended March 31, Year-Over-Year Change
2007 2006 2005 2006 to 2007 2005 to 2006
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Benefit from income taxe $ - $ -8 (203) % - 0.0 $ 203 -100.0%
Percentage of total revent 0.0% 0.0% -1.8%

We had no provision for income taxes in any of fiseal years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Werdecdoa $203,000 benefit in fis
2005, from the release of income tax reserves decbin prior years and $20,000 attributable tormome tax refund received by one of
foreign subsidiaries.

At March 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carwyérds for federal and state income tax purposepproximately $148 million and $
million, respectively, that expire at various dabesgyinning in 2008 and continuing through 2027 adidition, at March 31, 2007, we
research and development credit carryforwards ddefal and state tax reporting purposes of appmteiy $3.2 million and $2.6 millio
respectively. The federal credit carryforwards wikgin expiring in 2010 continuing through 2027, ilerhthe California credit wi
carryforward indefinitely. Under the ownership charimitations of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986amended, the amount and be
from the net operating losses and credit carryfotwanay be impaired or limited in certain circumsiss.

At March 31, 2007 and 2006, we had gross defem@dassets of approximately $73.2 million and $7#dibion, respectively. Because
uncertainties regarding the realization of defeteedassets, we have applied a full valuation aioge as of March 31, 2007 and 2006.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2007, we had $6.7 million of casld aash equivalents and $5.2 million in investméntsarketable securities for a
combined total of $11.9 million. By comparisonMsrch 31, 2006, we had $6.3 million in cash andhauivalents, and $16.7 million in
investments for a combined total of $23.0 milli¥vle currently have no borrowing arrangements. Osh @nd cash equivalents balance
increased $0.5 million and the combined balanceedsed by $11.0 million during fiscal 2007. Therdase was primarily attributable to
$9.9 million used for operating activities and $ndlion of capital expenditures, as discussed Wwelmartially offset by $0.5 million of
proceeds from financing activities.

We have sustained net losses and negative cash fitom operations since fiscal 1999 that have lereded primarily through the issuance
of equity securities and borrowings. Managemerieles that current cash, cash equivalents andtimesgs will be sufficient to finance our
operations for at least the next twelve months. &l@v, we continually evaluate our cash needs andpusue additional equity or debt
financing in order to achieve our overall businelsfectives. There can be no assurance that sughdiimg will be available, or, if available, at
a price or terms that are acceptable to us. Failugenerate sufficient revenues, raise additioapltal or reduce certain discretionary
spending could have an adverse impact on ouryabiliachieve our longer term business objectiveaddition, any such financing may be
materially dilutive to our existing stockholders.

The following discussion of cash flows for the pashree fiscal years provides information about outdiquidity and changes in financial
condition during these periods.

Comparison of fiscal 2006 and 2007

Cash used in operations of $9.9 million in fisc@®2 compared to $21.2 million in fiscal 2006, apiovement of $11.3 million. The decre:
in cash used in operating activities was primatie to a reduction in the net loss of $13.3 milkaijusted for a decrease in non-cash items
including the change in the fair value of warraoft$2.9 million, offset by an increase in stock-4@ésompensation of $1.6 million and
depreciation and amortization of $0.6 million.

Accounts receivable represented a use of cash.bfifsillion in fiscal 2007 compared to a source @f4$million in fiscal 2006. The decrease
of $0.5 million in 2007 from 2006 levels was printadue to a higher receivable balance relate@tgd retail customers.

Inventories represented a use of cash of $1.0amilh fiscal 2007 compared to a use of cash of ollion in fiscal 2006.
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The increase in the use of cash of $0.9 millioA007 from 2006 levels was primarily due to highmreintory levels of customer premise
equipment (CPE).

Other current assets represented a source of €&8h3omillion in fiscal 2007 compared to a useb6f4 million in fiscal 2006. The increase
cash of $0.7 million in 2007 from 2006 levels wasnarily due to reduction of deposits, prepaid tised software and interest income
receivable.

Accrued compensation represented a use of cadh bidillion in fiscal 2007 compared to a sourc&0f4 million in fiscal 2006. The
decrease in the source of cash of $0.5 million0d72from 2006 levels was primarily due to a redarcin accrued wages, workers'
compensation, paid-time-off, and commissions prilpaue to smaller growth in headcount comparegrtor year. The change in source of
cash was offset by an increase in accrued 401 (k)himg requirements.

Deferred revenue represented a use of cash ohdillion in fiscal 2007 compared to a use of $0.1liom in fiscal 2006. The increase in the
use of cash of $0.9 million in 2007 from 2006 leveks primarily due to recognition of revenue eda the wholesale agreement entered
into in fiscal 2006 and the additional revenue ggiped in Q1 2007 due to the change in revenuegreton policy. The decrease in deferred
revenue was offset by an increase in deferred teveglated to retailers primarily due to additiosisibments to Office Depot.

Other current and nooudrrent liabilities represented a source of casplo? million in fiscal 2007 compared to a sour€eash of $0.7 milliol
in fiscal 2006. The increase in the source of adsp0.5 million in 2007 from 2006 levels was printyadue to an increase in accrued taxes,
including sales and use, universal service fundUfhd state and local E911 taxes and other lomgAfabilities offset by a reduction in
accrued inventory and accrued accounting and & fe

Cash provided by investing activities of $10.1 ioiil for fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable t@38 million of proceeds received from
sales and maturities of investments, partiallyeiffsy purchases of investments of $2.3 million &hatl million of purchases of fixed assets.
The purchases of fixed assets were primarily attable to equipment required by the growth of thekiet8 subscriber base and expenditures
for implementation fees related to third party onstr relationship management software.

Cash provided by financing activities of approxietgt$0.3 million in fiscal 2007 consisted primardy proceeds received from the sale of
common stock to employees through our employedgtorchase and stock option plans.

Comparison of fiscal 2005 and 2006

Cash used in operations of $21.2 million in fis2@06 compared to $16.6 million in fiscal 2005, aréase of $4.6 million. The increase in
cash used in operating activities was primarily ttuan increase in the net loss of $7.9 millioruatid for an increase in non-cash items
including the change in fair value of warrants af%million, depreciation and amortization of $8lion and stock-based compensation of
$0.2 million.

Accounts receivable represented a source of ca$@.4fmillion in fiscal 2006 compared to a use adlt of $0.5 million in fiscal 2005. The
increase in cash provided by accounts receivab$® & million in 2006 from the 2005 level was priihadue to strong collections from our
large retail customers and our VolP semiconduatstamer.

Inventories represented a use of cash of $0.1anilh fiscal 2006 compared to a use of cash of 8fillton in fiscal 2005. The decrease in
cash used by inventory of $1.4 million in 2007 fr@806 levels was primarily due to a decrease irptivehase of customer premise
equipment for the VolP service and VolP semiconolsct

Other current assets represented a use of caghdfitllion in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 200%ie increase in cash used by other current
assets of $0.4 million in 2006 from 2005 levels \wemarily due to an increase in deposits, prefiaghsed software and interest income
receivable.

Deferred cost of goods sold represented a $0.&safrcash in fiscal 2006 compared to a use of 0a$h.8 million in fiscal 2005. The
increase in cash provided by deferred cost of geottsof $2.4 million was primarily due to decreaséeferred cost of goods sold related to
retailers.

Accounts payable represented a source of cash.®m$illion in fiscal 2006 compared to a source astt of $3.6 million in fiscal 2005. The
decrease in cash provided by accounts payable.8frfsilion was primarily due to a reduction in pales related to consulting and outside
services, advertising, inventory, rep commissiang lagal fees. The decrease was offset by an iseri@eaccounts payable related to third
party network service fees.
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Accrued compensation represented a source of ¢&hsbmillion in fiscal 2006 compared to a souoeash of $0.1 million in fiscal year
2005. The increase in cash provided by accrued easgtion of $0.3 million was primarily due to anrgase accrued wages primarily due to
the departure of the Company's Vice Chairman ageh&ral increase in accrued worker's compensatidmpaid-time-off due to growth in
headcount, and accrued commissions.

Deferred revenue represented a use of cash ohdillidn in fiscal 2006 compared to a source of cas#2.1 million in fiscal 2005. The
decrease in cash provided by deferred revenue.afrilion was primarily due to a decrease in defdrevenue related to retailers and VolP
semiconductor products. This decrease was offsanligcrease in deferred revenue related to a reslesale agreement entered into in fi
2006.

Other current and noadrrent liabilities represented a source of casbOof million in fiscal 2006 compared to a sour€eash of $0.5 milliol
in fiscal 2005. The increase in the source of gaskided by other current liabilities of $0.3 nolii was primarily due to an increase in
accrued taxes, accrued royalty and other accraéiifies offset by a reduction in accrued lia## inventory and accrued rent.

Cash used in investing activities of $9.4 milliam fiscal 2006 was primarily attributable to $1.8lion of purchases of fixed assets and
purchases of investments of $16.4 million, pastiaffset by $8.9 million of proceeds received freailes and maturities of investments. The
purchases of fixed assets were primarily attribletédo equipment required by the growth of the P& kebscriber base and expenditures for
implementation fees related to third party custorakationship management software.

Cash provided by financing activities of approxieiat$14.4 million in fiscal 2006 consisted primgrdf $14 million of net proceeds received
from a common stock offering completed in Decen#t#95, $0.3 million of proceeds received from thie & our common stock to
employees through our employee stock purchasetank gption plans and $0.2 million attributableatbank overdraft due to the timing of
payments.

Contractual Obligations

Future operating lease payments, net of suble@senia, capital lease payments and purchase obligaéibMarch 31, 2007 for the next {
years were as follows (in thousanc

Year Ending March 31,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total
Capital lease $ 46 $ 42 $ 42 $ 26 $ 22 $ 178
Office lease:! 490 493 206 - - 1,189
Purchase obligatior
Third party network service provide 5,617 800 - - - 6,417
Open purchase orders 1,223 - - - - 1,223

$ 7,376 $ 1,335 $ 248 $ 26 $ 22 % 9,007

In April 2005, June 2006 and March 2007, we ent@neamla series of noncancelable five year capitasé agreements for office equipment
bearing interest at various rates. Assets undetatégase at March 31, 2007 totaled $182,000 watbumulated amortization of $28,000.

We lease our primary facility in Santa Clara, Qatifia under a nonancelable operating lease that expires in fis6aD2 The Company al
has leased facilities in France and Canada. Thitfdeases include rent escalation clauses, tbqtire the Company to pay taxes, insur.
and normal maintenance costs. Rent expense istedlén our consolidated financial statements @traightline basis over the term of 1
leases.

We entered into a 24 month contract with one oftbird party network service providers containingi@imum monthly commitment of
$400,000 effective June 1, 2006. At March 31, titaltremaining obligation under the contract wa$88,000. We also entered into an
additional agreement with this provider to purchaseinimum of $1,000,000 in international usageveet March 1, 2007 and May 31,
2008. As of March 31, the total remaining obligatimder this agreement was $817,000.

At March 31, 2007 we had open purchase ordersectlat our contract manufacturers and other contshobligations of approximately $:
million primarily related to inventory purchaseshese purchase commitments are reflected in omsatimlated financial statements o
goods or services have been received or at suehviinen we are obligated to make payments relatdtes® goods or services.
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At March 31, 2007, we have a $3.4 million liabilitylated to warrants issued to three investor$iiaet equity financing transactions in
fiscal years 2006 and 2005. We account for thegeants as liabilities, because the possibility, beer likely or unlikely, that we would

unable to deliver registered shares upon a futweecese of these warrants. The required accourfting warrant with an assumed "net ¢
settlement" provision under EITF A® is to estimate the fair value on the date afdsse and to record a liability equal to that vaiith
subsequent changes in the fair value recordedcasni@ or expense at the end of each reporting perioér EITF 00t9 . The amount v
record as a liability under EITF QDB is not, nor do we intend for it to be an adnaissir stipulation of the amount that we would owebe
obligated to pay the warrant holder in the eveat the are unable to deliver registered sharesagavirrant holder. In fact, we have madt
determination of the amount of liability, if anyat we would owe to the warrant holder in the ewdrsuch a breach.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In March 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force ezhalconsensus on Issue No. 06-03 "How Taxes @Gadlédcom Customers and Remitted
to Government Authorities Should Be Presentedénititome Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Ragm)" ("EITF No. 0603"). We art
required to adopt the provisions of EITF No. 06i0&he first quarter of fiscal 2008. We currentport revenue net of taxes collected and
remitted to governmental authorities. We do noteexphe adoption of the provisions of EITF No. @#d the first quarter of fiscal 2008 to
have a material impact on our results of operatarsfinancial condition.

In July 2006, Financial Accounting Standards BdaFASB") issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accaimg for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes: arinterpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (FIN 48hich clarifies the accounting for uncertaintyimicome taxes recognized in
enterprise's financial statements. This Interpi@tatequires that we recognize in our financiatesteents the impact of a tax position if that
position is more likely than not of being sustaimedaudit, based on the technical merits of thédtipos We expect to adopt FIN 48 in the first
quarter of fiscal 2008, with the cumulative effetgny, of the change in accounting principle meleal as an adjustment to our opening
retained earnings. We are in the process of evatutiie effect of FIN 48 on our results of operati@nd financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 Madue Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fduegestablishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accagrrinciples (GAAP) and expands disclosures afmuvalue measurements. SFAS

No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncemtbatsrequire or permit fair value measurementsdoes not require any new fair val
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for finalnstatements issued for fiscal years beginningy &fovember 15, 2007 and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early applicatis encouraged, provided that the reporting ehiity not yet issued financial statements for
an interim period within that fiscal year. We dd ea@pect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have anwtimpact on our consolidated results
of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accouinetin ("SAB") No. 108, "Considering the Effea$ Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Finan&tdtement.” SAB 108 was issued in order to eliteiniae diversity of practice
surrounding how public companies quantify finansiatement misstatements. There are two error ati@iutechniques most commonly ut
for quantifying the effects of financial statemenisstatements: the "roll-over" and "iron curtainéttmods. The roll-over method focuses
primarily on the impact of the misstatement ongstedement of operations and ignores the reverghleofarryover effects of prior year
misstatements. Because the focus is on the staterheperations, the roll-over method can leaddouanulation of misstatements on the
balance sheet that may be immaterial to the balsineet but correction in a single period could la¢emial to the statement of operations. The
iron curtain method focuses primarily on the effefctorrecting the accumulated balance as of thenba sheet date, essentially correcting
balance sheet with less emphasis on reversal afaitrgover effects of prior year errors on theestant of operations. In SAB 108, the SEC
staff established an approach that requires queatidn of financial statement misstatements basethe effects of the misstatements under
both the iron curtain and roll-over method anceiferred to as a "dual approach.” SAB 108 permisrapany to initially apply its provisions
either by restating prior financial statementsfdlse dual approach had always been used or regptle cumulative effect of initially
applying the dual approach as adjustments to tlemba sheet. SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscahngeending after November 15, 2006, v
early application for the first interim period endiafter November 15, 2006. We adopted SAB No.iti@Be third quarter of fiscal year 2007
and such adoption did not have any effect on onsalidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalndabilities" ("SFAS No. 159")
which permits entities to choose to measure margnfiial instruments and certain other items atfawe that are not currently required tc
measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effectordifhancial statements issued for fiscal yeardroggg after November 15, 2007 and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlykgation is permitted provided that the reportergity also elects to apply SFAS No. 157,
Fair Value Measurements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while maximizing incomehaiut significantly increasing risk. Sol

of the securities in which we invest may be subjecharket risk. This means that a change in pliegainterest rates may cause the principal
amount of the investment to fluctuate. To minimizis risk, we may maintain our portfolio of cashue@lents and investments in a variety of
securities, including commercial paper, money mifileds, debt securities and certificates of ddp@sie risk associated with fluctuating

interest rates is limited to our investment poitf@nd we do not believe that a 10% change inéstarates would have a significant impact on
our interest income.

During the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006jid/@ot have any outstanding debt instruments dtieer equipment under capital le¢
and, therefore, we were not exposed to marketreisiting to interest rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 8r8,

We have completed integrated audits of 8x8, Ilmofsolidated financial statements and of its irdecontrol over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2007 in accordance with the standardsePublic Company Accounting Oversight Board (EdiStates). Our opinions, based on
our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financidestent schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairyall material respects, the financial
position of 8x8, Inc. and its subsidiaries at MaBdh 2007 and 2006, and the results of their omeraiand their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended March 31, 2008ificzmity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America.
addition, in our opinion, the financial statemecttedule listed in the accompanying index presezitlyf in all material respects, the
information set forth therein when read in conjumtiwith the related consolidated financial statetaeThese financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsilufithe Company's management. Our responsibility express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits. We conducted our audits of thesemstants in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boarai(eld States). Those standards require that wegrdmperform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the finanatehsénts are free of material misstatement. Antancudes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréigifinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overaldiahstatement presentation. We believe that adits.provide a reasonable basis for
opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst@ements, effective April 1, 2006, the Compahgnged its method of accounting for
stock- based compensation in accordance with Seéateaf Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (re#i2004), "Share-Based Payment".

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company has restated its finbsteiements as of March 31, 2006 and for
the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management's assessmentjded in Management's Report on Internal Controlr@igancial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effectinternal control over financial reporting as ofuldh 31, 2007 based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission
(COSO0), is fairly stated, in all material respebti@sed on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinthe Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of March 31, 2007, based on critestablished ihnternal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO. The Company's managementoismgible for maintaining effective internal contosler financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offriatecontrol over financial reporting. Our respdwildty is to express opinions on
management's assessment and on the effectiventrss ©@bmpany's internal control over financial nejpg based on our audit. We conduc
our audit of internal control over financial repog in accordance with the standards of the Puimpany Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that am g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintainechiihmaterial respects. An audit of internal contyeér financial reporting includes obtaining
an understanding of internal control over finanoggdorting, evaluating management's assessmetmgtesid evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, andgrening such other procedures as we consider sacg# the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to
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permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princjfed that receipts and expenditures of

the company are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of management and directors of dmepany; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositionhaf company's assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
June 28, 2007
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTYS)

March 31,
2007 2006
(Restated)
ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 6,735 $ 6,259
Shor-term investment 5,197 14,705
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $6d $55 736 776
Inventory 2,629 1,738
Deferred cost of goods sc 1,064 1,542
Other current assets 438 774
Total current asse 16,799 25,794
Long-term investment - 1,993
Property and equipment, r 2,840 3,071
Other assets 319 262

Total assets

$ 19,958% 31,120

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl

$ 4919% 4,907

Accrued compensatic 825 937
Accrued warrant 323 301
Deferred revent 1,488 2,493
Other accrued liabilities 3,386 2,319
Total current liabilitie 10,941 10,957
Non-current liabilities 253 70
Fair value of warrant liability 3,387 7,123
Total liabilities 14,581 18,150
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 5,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding: no shares atMait¢2007
and at March 31, 20 - -
Common stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 100,000,000 shares at Marth2®07 and March 31, 200
Issued and outstanding: 61,771,832 sh
at March 31, 2007 and 61,138,280 sharbtaech 31, 200t 62 61
Additional pai-in capital 205,567 203,263
Accumulated other comprehensive | 3) (35)

Accumulated deficit

(200,249 (190,319

Total stockholders' equity 5,377 12,970

Total liabilities and stockholdegg/uity $ 19,958% 31,120

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Restated) (Restated)
Service revenue $ 45,046 $ 26,113 $ 9,086
Product revenues 8,084 5,779 2,389
Total revenues 53,130 31,892 11,475
Operating expense
Cost of service revenue 19,020 12,367 5,195
Cost of product revenu 8,074 10,732 4,546
Research and developm 4,712 5,916 3,109
Selling, general and administrative 35,657 27,863 18,534
Total operating expenses 67,463 56,878 31,384
Loss from operation (14,333 (24,986 (19,909
Interest income, ne 667 847 558
Income on change in fair value of warrant liability 3,736 886 3,800
Loss before benefit for income tax (9,930 (23,253 (15,551
Benefit from income taxes - - (203
Net loss $ (9,930 $ (23,253 $ (15,348

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.16' $ 0.42' % (0.35

Basic and diluted shares outstanding 61,365 55,889 44,373

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at March 31, 20(

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Sale of common stock and warra
in financing transactior

Stock compensation char

Deferred compensation relat
to stock option

Unrealized investment lo:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at March 31, 20(

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Sale of common stock and warrants
financing transactior

Stock compensation char

Unrealized investment lo:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at March 31, 20(

Issuance of common stock un
stock plan:

Stock compensation char

Unrealized investment lo:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at March 31, 2007

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARES)

Accumulated
other
Additional Deferred Comprehen-
Common Stock

Paid-in Compens:- sive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital tion Loss Deficit Total

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated;
38,315,76¢$ 38$ 164,469% 3% -$ (151,718% 12,786
294,830 - 424 - - - 424
15,206,39( 16 27,044 - - - 27,060
- - 2 - - - 2
- - - 3 - - 3

- - - - (20) -

- - - - - (15,348
- - - - - - (15,368
53,816,98¢ 54 191,939 - (20) (167,066 24,907
178,433 - 279 - - - 279
7,142,85¢ 7 10,808 - - - 10,815
- - 237 - - - 237

- - - - (15) -

- - - - - (23,253
- - - - - - (23,268
61,138,28( 61 203,263 - (35) (190,319 12,970
633,552 1 494 - - - 495
- - 1,810 - - - 1,810

- - - - 32 -

- - - - - (9,930
- - - - - - (9,898
61,771,83:% 62$ 205567% -$ 3% (200,249 % 5,377

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Restated) (Restated)
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (9,930 % (23,253 $ (15,348
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net aasdd
in operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizati 1,430 787 215
Stock compensation expe! 1,810 237 5
Income on change in fair value of wardatiility (3,736 (886 (3,800
Amortization of discount and premium oarketable securitie 32 96 -
Othe 251 6 32
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, r (72) 363 (536)
Inventory (1,035 (136; (1,522
Other current and noncurrent as 300 (410; (28)
Deferred cost of goods st 478 580 (1,812
Accounts payab 466 258 3,642
Accrued compensati (112 422 100
Accrued warrani 22 114 (7
Deferred revent (1,005 (109; 2,055
Other current and noncurrent liabilities 1,179 725 453
Net cash used in operating actig (9,922 (21,206 (16,551
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisitions of property and equipmt (1,424 (1,900 (1,588
Proceeds from the sale of property and equip 19 - -
Purchase of investmer (2,300 (16,424 (9,665
Sales of shc¢-term investment 1,100 850 161
Maturities of sho-term investment 12,700 8,050 450
Restricted cash decrease - - 300
Net cash provided by (used in) itivesactivities 10,095 (9,424 (10,342
Cash flows from financing activitie
Bank overdrai (153; 153 -
Proceeds from equity financing transactiomes - 13,960 35,735
Proceeds from issuance of common stock undetoyee stock plan 475 279 424
Capital lease payments (19) (18) -
303 14,374 36,159
Net cash provided by financing atitg
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 476 (16,256 9,266
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,259 22,515 13,249
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,735 $ 6,259 $ 22,515
.| .| .|
Supplemental and n-cash disclosure:
Assets acquired under capital le $ 119 $ 108 $ -
Assets disposed under capital le $ (29) % -$ -
Interest pail $ 6% 7% -

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. THE COMPANY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
THE COMPANY

8x8, Inc. ("8x8" or the "Company") develops and ke#s communication technology and services forh@eprotocol, or IP, telephony and
video applications. The Company was incorporate@afifornia in February 1987, and in December 18@8 reincorporated in Delaware. In
August 2000, the Company changed its name from I8x8to Netergy Networks, Inc. The Company chanigedame back to 8x8, Inc. in
July 2001.

The Company offers the Packet8 broadband voice lmtemet protocol, or VolP, and video communicasigervice, Packet8 Virtual Offi
service and videophone equipment and servicesPalaket8 voice and video communications serviceckK&8") enables broadband Inte!
users to add digital voice and video communicatssrsices to their high-speed Internet connectustomers can choose a dirdat phont
number from any of the rate centers offered by dtmesice, and then use an 8s8pplied terminal adapter to connect any telephone
broadband Internet connection and make or recaills rom a regular telephone number. All Packel&ghone accounts come with vc
mail, caller 1D, call waiting, call waiting calldb, call forwarding, hold, line-alternate,\8ay conferencing, web access to account con
and online billing. In addition, 8x8 offers videaptes for use with the Packet8 service. 8x8 hasldgeeé a suite of business services ci
Packet8 Virtual Office that offer feature-rich commications services to small and medigired business that eliminate the neec
traditional telecommunications services and busimsne systems. 8x8's primary product focus igeptacing private branch exchange
PBX, telephone systems in the small business naldes with a hosted business VolIP solution. Pack@etBal Office can completely repla
a company's PBX infrastructure and deliver alldeta services over a managed or unmanaged Intesneection. The Company also s
preprogrammed analog telephones with speakerphonesatidplay screen, in conjunction with our Virtuaffice service plans, whit
enable its business customers to access addifeatakes of Virtual Office through on-screen meanshe phone.

Substantially all of the Company's revenues areggad from the sale, license and provisioning @fP/products, services and technology.
Prior to fiscal 2004, the Company was focused ®V@lP semiconductor business and hosted iPBXisolibusiness. In late fiscal 2003, the
Company began to devote more of its resourcesetprbmotion, distribution and development of theke#8 service than to its existing
semiconductor business or hosted iPBX solutiongkas. The Company completed several transactiamsgifiscal 2004 to license and sell
technology and assets of these former businessdgding the sale of its hosted iPBX research andlbpment center in France, the sale and
license of its next generation video semicondudemelopment effort, and the license of technolayy manufacturing rights for its VolP
semiconductor products to other semiconductor camegaln addition, during January 2004, the Compamyounced the end of life of its
VolP semiconductor products, and began acceptstgitae buy orders from customers. The Companyicoes to own the voice and video
technology related to the semiconductor and iPB3irmsses, and utilizes this technology in the R&8ckervice offerings, and continues to
sell or license this technology to third parties.

The Company ' s fiscal year ends on March 31 dfieatendar year. Each reference to a fiscal yetirese notes to the consolidated financial
statements refers to the fiscal year ending Mafcbf3he calendar year indicated (for example ali@007 refers to the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2007).

LIQUIDITY

The Company has sustained net losses and negaskdlows from operations since fiscal 1999 thatehaeen funded primarily through the
issuance of equity securities and borrowings. Manant believes that current cash, cash equivadetsnvestments will be sufficient to
finance the Company's operations for at least éxt fwelve months. However, the Company continuallgluates its cash needs and may
pursue additional equity or debt financing in ortbeachieve the Company's overall business obggtiVhere can be no assurance that such
financing will be available, or, if available, apece that is acceptable to the Company. Failomgenerate sufficient revenues, raise additional
capital or reduce certain discretionary spendingcchave an adverse impact on the Company's abilichieve its longer term business
objectives.
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PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include #heants of 8x8 and its subsidiaries. All materigercompany accounts and transact
have been eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United Sta
requires management to make estimates and assasptiat affect the reported amounts of assetsjitieq and equity and disclosure
contingent liabilities at the date of the finana#tements and the reported amounts of revenuksxgenses during the reporting period
an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimatekjding, but not limited to, those related to fmibts, returns reserve for expe:
cancellations, valuation of inventories, income aadkes tax, and litigation and other contingencidse Company bases its estimate:
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under thenestances, the results of which form
basis for making judgments about the carrying valfiassets and liabilities that are not readilyappt from other sources. Actual res
could differ from those estimates under differesguamptions or conditions.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
VolIP service and product revenue
The Company's VolIP service and product revenuerisedd from the sale of desktop terminal adaptads\fIP service.

Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) consensus N@1QOAccounting for Revenue Arrangements with Mal#iDeliverables" requires that
revenue arrangements with multiple deliverabledibigled into separate units of accounting if théwéeables in the arrangement meet
specific criteria. In addition, arrangement consitien must be allocated among the separate uh#tsamunting based on their relative fair
values, with certain limitations. The provisioniofithe Packet8 service with the accompanying dgstdominal adapter constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In accomtawith the guidance of EITF No. 00-21, the Compalhycates Packet8 revenues,
including activation fees, among the desktop teain@lapter and subscriber services. Revenues wthtathe desktop terminal adapter or
videophone are recognized as product revenuesgitimnperiod of the sale less the allowance fomeded returns during the 30 day trial
period. All other revenues are recognized as lieamsl service revenues when the related serviegeavided.

Historically, the Company recognized new subscribgenue from its Packet8 service offerings upenetkpiration of the applicable
acceptance period. Under the terms of the Compéypisal subscription agreement, new customergeaninate their service within 30 days
of order placement and receive a full refund osfpeeviously paid. During the first few years of tiompany's Packet8 service, it lacked
sufficient history to apply a return rate and reseagainst new order revenue. Accordingly, the Camypleferred new subscriber revenue 30
days to ensure that the 30-day acceptance per®dxpred. In the first quarter of 2007, the Compeawvaluated two years of historical data
related to the termination of service during theda® acceptance period. By June 2006, the Competgyrdined that it had sufficient history
of subscriber conduct to make reasonable estinodtesncellations within the 30-day trial period.€Féfore, in the first quarter of fiscal 2007,
the Company began recognizing new subscriber reventhe month in which the new order was shippetl of an allowance for expected
cancellations. As a result of this change in reeemacognition, the Company recognized an additi68/000 of new order service revenue,
$280,000 of new order product revenue and $466000@w order cost of product during the first qeauf fiscal 2007.

Deferred cost of goods sold represents the cogtamfucts sold for which the end customer or distdb has a right of return. The cost of
products sold is recognized contemporaneously tlighrecognition of revenue, when the subscriberalsaspted the service.

Product revenue

The Company recognizes revenue from product sategHich there are no related services to be rendepon shipment to OEMs and end
users provided that persuasive evidence of an@&raant exists, the price is fixed, title has transfd, collection of resulting receivables is
reasonably assured, there are no customer accepeouarements, and there are no remaining sigmifiobligations. Gross outbound
shipping and handling charges are recorded as ueyamd the related costs are included in cosbodlg sold. Reserves for returns and
allowances for OEM and end user sales are recatiud
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time of shipment. The Company defers recognitioregénue on sales to distributors, retailers, aseélters where the right of return exists
until products are resold to the end user andrthkeperiod has expired.

License and other revenue

During fiscal 2007 and 2006, revenues from softwanel technology licensing and related arrangemesise limited. The Compa
recognizes revenue from license contracts whemacaacelable, nonentingent license agreement has been signedpftvease product hs
been delivered, no uncertainties exist surroungirafuct acceptance, fees from the agreement aed fix determinable, and collectior
probable. The Company uses the residual methcectignize revenue when a license agreement inctudesr more elements to be delive
at a future date if evidence of the fair value lbfiadelivered elements exists. If evidence offéievalue of the undelivered elements doe:
exist, revenue is deferred and recognized wheretglioccurs. When the Company enters into a licagseement requiring that the Comp
provide significant customization of the softwarmducts, the license and consulting revenue isgmized using contract accounti
Revenue from maintenance agreements is recogratably over the term of the maintenance agreenmaith in most instances is one yt
The Company recognizes royalties upon notificatbisale by its licensees. Revenue from consultiregning, and development service
recognized as the services are performed.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewtth an original maturity of three months or ldesbe cash equivalents. Managen
determines the appropriate categorization of it&s$tments at the time of purchase and reevalulhgeslassification at each reporting d
The cost of the Company's investments is deternmased upon specific identification.

The Company's investments are comprised of fedgeicy and auction rate securities. At March 30,728hd 2006, all investments were
classified as available-for-sale and reportediat&ue, based upon quoted market prices, witlealired gains and losses, net of related tax,
if any, included in other comprehensive loss arsdldsed as a separate component of stockholderisy égealized gains and losses on sales
of all such investments are reported within thetioapof other income, net in the statements of afiens and computed using the specific
identification method. The Company's investmentsarketable securities are monitored on a peribdgis for impairment. In the event that
the carrying value of an investment exceeds itsvidue and the decline in value is determinedetother-than-temporary, an impairment
charge is recorded and a new cost basis for thesiment is established.

Available-for-sale investments were (in thousands):

Gross

Amortized Unrealized Estimated
As of March 31, 2007 Costs Loss Fair Value
Money market fund $ 4,585 $ -3 4,585
Commercial pape 499 - 499
Federal agency securiti 2,500 3) 2,497
Auction rate securities 2,700 - 2,700
Total available-for-sale investments $ 10,284 $ 3)$ 10,281

Reported as (in thousand
Cash and cash equivale $ 5,084
Shor-term investment 5,197
Long-term investments -

Total $ 10,281
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Gross

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

As of March 31, 2006 Costs Loss Fair Value
Money market fund $ 3,663 $ -8 3,663
Commercial pape 997 - 997
Certificates of depos 250 - 250
Federal agency securiti 4,499 (15) 4,484
Auction rate securitie 5,500 - 5,500
Corporate bonds 7,483 (20) 7,463
Total available-for-sale investments $ 22,392 $ (35 % 22,357
I I I

Reported as (in thousanrestated):

Cash and cash equivale $ 5,659
Shor-term investment 14,705
Long-term investments 1,993
Total $ 22,357
I

Contractual maturities of money market, federahageand auction rate securities as of March 31720@ set forth below (in thousands):

Due within one yea $ 7,581
Due after one yee -
Due after five years 2,700
Total $ 10,281
I

The Company has classified certain long-term ingests, consisting of auction rate securities, astderm due to its intent not to hold them
to maturity.

INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of standard amkich approximates actual cost using the firsfinst-out method, or market. Inventory
reserves are established when conditions indibatethe current replacement cost or market is béh@carrying value due to obsolescence,
changes in price levels, or other causes. Resareesstablished for excess inventory generallydbasanventory levels in excess of demand,
as determined by management, for each specifiaugtothventory at March 31, 2007 and 2006 was céedrof the following:

March 31,
2007 2006
(in thousands
Work-in-process $ 1,919 $ 1,192
Finished goods 710 546
$ 2,629 $ 1,738
| |

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatind amortization are computed u
the straightine method. Estimated useful lives of three yemes used for equipment and software and five yiarfurniture and fixture:
Amortization of leasehold improvements is compuisithg the shorter of the remaining facility leaset or the estimated useful life of
improvements. Property and equipment at March 8Q72nd 2006 was comprised of the following:

51




March 31,

2007 2006

(in thousands
Machinery and computer equipm $ 3,941 $ 3,467
Furniture and fixture 167 82
Licensed softwar 1,709 1,579
Leasehold improvements 281 183
6,098 5,311
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,258 (2,240

$ 2,840 $ 3,071

Maintenance, repairs and ordinary replacementslzseged to expense. Expenditures for improveméiatsetxtend the physical or econo
life of the property are capitalized. Gains or &sssn the disposition of property and equipmentecerded in the loss from operations.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

8x8 reviews the recoverability of its loiged assets, such as plant and equipment wherteegeghanges in circumstances occur that ind
that the carrying value of the asset or asset gnaayp not be recoverable. The assessment of pogsiplrment is based on the Company's
ability to recover the carrying value of the agmeaisset group from the expected future pre-talk lass (undiscounted and without interest
charges) of the related operations. If these das¥sfare less than the carrying value of such aasdmpairment loss is recognized for the
difference between estimated fair value and cagryalue. The measurement of impairment requiresag@ment to estimate future cash
flows and the fair value of long-lived assets.

WARRANTY EXPENSE

The Company accrues for estimated product warremdy upon revenue recognition. Accruals for produmtranties are calculated based on
the Company's historical warranty experience adgufr any specific requirements.

WARRANT LIABILITY

The Company accounts for its warrants in accordaiteEmerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-A8¢c8unting for Derivative Financial
Instruments Indexed to and Potentially Settled @oapany's Own Stock” ("EITF 00-19") which requivesrrants to be classified as
permanent equity, temporary equity or as assdtahilities. In general, warrants that either requiet-cash settlement or are presumed to
require net-cash settlement are recorded as assdtgbilities at fair value and warrants thatuieg settlement in shares are recorded as
equity instruments. Certain of the Company's wdsraequire settlement in shares and are accouoteasfpermanent equity. The Company
has three investor warrants that are classifidihb#ities because they include a provision thagdfies that the Company must deliver freely
tradable shares upon exercise by the warrant hdd@mause there are circumstances, irrespectiliketihood, that may not be within the
control of the Company that could prevent delivefyegistered shares, EITF 00-19 requires the wisriae recorded as a liability at fair
value, with subsequent changes in fair value resbess income (loss) in change in fair value of amrtiability. The fair value of the warrant
is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricmagel, and is affected by changes in inputs tortiadel including our stock price,
expected stock price volatility and contractuafrter

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND SOFTWARE COSTS

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. Software development costsdtinare to be sold or otherwise
marketed incurred prior to the establishment dfitetogical feasibility are included in research aeselopment and are expensed as
incurred. The Company defines establishment ofrtelcigical feasibility as the completion of a worimodel. Software development costs
incurred subsequent to the establishment of teolgical feasibility through the period of generalrke availability of the product are
capitalized, if material. To date, all software dipment costs for software to be sold or othenmiseketed have been expensed as incurred.
In accordance with American Institute of Certifiedblic Accountants Statement of Position (SOP) 981, "Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Intetise,"” the Company capitalizes purchase and imgigation costs of internal use
software. In accordance with SOP No. 98-1, durisgal 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company capitafi84d000, $679,000 and $676,000,
respectively.
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ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and $&644,000, $5,265,000 and $4,100,000 for thesyeaded March 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Assets and liabilities of the Company's foreignsidiaries are translated from their respective fional currencies at exchange rates in e
at the balance sheet date, and revenues and egpareséranslated at average exchange rates preydiliring the year. If the functiol
currency is the local currency, resulting transiatadjustments are reflected as a separate comipohstockholders' equity. If the functiol
currency is the U.S. dollar, resulting conversidijuatments are included in the results of operatidioreign currency transaction gains
losses, which have been immaterial, are also ieclud results of operations. Total assets of then@amy's foreign subsidiaries were $45,
$45,000, and $39,000 as of March 31, 2007, 20062808, respectively. At March 31, 2007, the U.Sladavas the functional currency
all foreign subsidiaries. The Company does not ttale any foreign currency hedging activities.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the asseliaility approach. Under the asset and liabiligpeoach, a current tax liability or asse
recognized for the estimated taxes payable or d=fiole on tax returns for the current year. A defériax liability or asset is recognized
the estimated future tax effects attributed to terapy differences and carryforwards. If necesstry,deferred tax assets are reduced b
amount of benefits that, based on available evieleihcs more likely than not expected to be resliz

CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant concentrations of credik reonsist principally of cash and ci
equivalents, investments and trade accounts rdaeivihe Company has cash equivalents and investpodigies that limit the amount
credit exposure to any one financial institutionl aestricts placement of these funds to financistiiutions evaluated as highly crediterthy.
The Company has not experienced any material losta#ting to any investment instruments.

The Company sells its products to consumers andhiisors and OEMs. The Company performs ongoirglitrevaluations of its custome
financial condition and generally does not requicdlateral from its customers. For each of the ehyears ended March 31, 2007,
Company experienced minimal writéfs for bad debts and doubtful accounts. At MaBdh 2007, one customer accounted for 45¢
accounts receivable. At March 31, 2006, one cust@oeounted for 12% of accounts receivable.

The Company outsources the manufacturing of itdvaare products to independent contract manufactuiidre inability of any contract
manufacturer to fulfill supply requirements of tBempany could materially impact future operatinguits, financial position or cash flows
any of these contract manufacturers fail to perfomtheir obligations to the Company, such failiaréulfill supply requirements of the
Company could materially impact future operatinguits, financial position and cash flows.

The Company also relies on primarily one third yparttwork service provider to provide telephone bars and public switched telephone
network (PSTN) call termination and origination\sees for its customers. If this service providaitdd to perform on its obligations to the
Company, such failure could materially impact fetoperating results, financial position and castv$l

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair value of financial instrumenss determined by the Company using available mankfgrmation and valuatic
methodologies considered to be appropriate. Theyiogr amounts of the Company's cash and cash dguiga accounts receivable
accounts payable approximate their fair valuestdubeir short maturities. The Company's investrmeané carried at fair values.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company accounts fesramployee stock options and stock purchase rigider the 1996 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan ("Purchase Plan") under the prowsibStatement of Financial Accounting Standards
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No. 123(R), "Shar-Based Payment" ("SFAS 123(R)"), Financial Accongtbtandards Board ("FASB") Technical Bulletin B7*Accounting
under Statement 123 for Certain Employee StockHase Plans with a LooBack Option" and Securities and Exchange Commis$ieBEC")
Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB"), No. 107. Undéré provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), share-based cosgi®n cost is measured at the
grant date, based on the estimated fair valueshitard, and is recognized as an expense oventplegee's requisite service period
(generally the vesting period of the equity granét of estimated forfeitures. The Company hastetetm adopt the modified prospective
transition method as provided by SFAS No. 123(R), accordingly, financial statement amounts forgher periods have not been restated
to reflect the fair value method of expensing stmsed compensation.

Prior to April 1, 2006, the Company accounted tock-based awards in accordance with APB 25, whetted difference between the
exercise price and the fair market value on the dagrant, the intrinsic value, is recognized aspensation expense. Under the intrinsic
value method of accounting, no compensation expeasegenerally recognized since the exercise pfitee employee stock option grants
generally equaled the fair market value of the dydey common stock on the date of grant. Howet@the extent awards were granted ei
below fair market value or were modified which riggd a re-measurement of compensation costs, thg&ay recorded compensation
expense.

To value option grants and stock purchase rightieeuthe Purchase Plan for actual and pro form&sdtased compensation the Company
used the Black-Scholes option valuation model. ¥¥alme determined using the Black-Scholes optidnateon model varies based on
assumptions used for the expected stock pricesilitglaexpected life, risk free interest rates duoture dividend payments. For fiscal years
2007 and 2006, the Company used the historicatilitylaof our stock over a period equal to the ecigel life of the options to their fair value.
The expected life assumptions represents the wedgdterage period stodlased awards are expecting to remain outstandheselexpecte
life assumptions are established through the rewielistorical exercise behavior of stock-basedravgmants with similar vesting periods.
The risk free interest is based on the closing etaid yields on actively traded U.S. treasury siéies in the over-the-counter market for the
expected term equal to the expected term of thiempthe dividend yield assumption is based onGbmpany's history and expectation of
future dividend payout.

Stockbased compensation expense recognized in the Gaeteal Statements of Operations for fiscal 200Wuthed both the unvested porti
of stock-based awards granted prior to April 1,2860d stock-based awards granted subsequent tblAR6H06. Stock options granted in
periods prior to fiscal 2007 were measured base8FORS No. 123 criteria, whereas stock options géstibsequent to April 1, 2006 were
measured based on SFAS No. 123(R) criteria. Inucantjon with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), thenpany changed its method of
attributing the value of stock-based compensatioexpense from the accelerated multiple-option @ggr to the straight-line single option
method. Compensation expense for all share-basedqrda awards granted subsequent to April 1, 2006dsgnized using the straight-line
single- option method. Stock-based compensatiorresgincluded in fiscal 2007 includes the impaatstimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123
(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at theetohgrant and revised, if necessary, in subsecquenitds if actual forfeitures differ from thc
estimates. For the periods prior to fiscal 200&,@mmpany accounted for forfeitures as they ocdurre

The adoption of SFAS 123(R) had the impact of iasieg net loss and net loss per share by $1,81@y08®0.03 per share, respectively, in
fiscal 2007.
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As prescribed in SFAS No. 123(R), the followingleabummarizes the distribution of stock-based camsggon expense related to employee
stock options and employee stock purchases undes Sf. 123(R) among the Company's operating funstior the year ended March 31,
2007 that was recorded as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
March 31,
2007
Cost of service revenu $ 94
Cost of product revenus 17
Research and developmt 372
Selling, general and administrative 1,327
Total stocl-based compensation expense related to employde
options and employee stock purchase:«tax 1,810
Tax benefit -
Stock based compensation expense related to engpdbyek options
and employee stock purchases, net of tax $ 1,810
I

Prior to April 1, 2006, the Company accounted fuaire-based compensation to employees in accoraédticdPB 25. The Company also
followed the disclosure requirements of SFAS N@&.Ithe following table reflects the pro forma retd and net loss per share for the years
ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands, exegghare amounts):

Years Ended March 31,

2006 2005
(Restated) (Restated)

Net loss: $ (23,253 $ (15,348
Add: Employee stoc-based compensation expel

included in reported net lo 237 5
Deduct: Total employee stc-based compensatic

determined pursuant to SFAS No.123 (2,798 (2,426

Pro forma net loss $ (25,814 $ (17,769

I I

As reported net loss per sh $ (042 $ (0.35

Pro forma net loss per shi $ (0.46' $ (0.40

SFAS No. 123(R) requires the Company to calculseatditional paid in capital pool ("APIC Pool")aable to absorb tax deficiencies
recognized subsequent to adopting SFAS No. 123@if,we had adopted SFAS No. 123 at its effeddiate of January 1, 1995. There are
two allowable methods to calculate our APIC Pob):the long form method as set forth in SFAS N&(R) and (2) the short form method
set forth in FASB Staff Position No. 123(R)-3. TBempany has elected to use the long form methodrumbich the Company tracks each
award grant on an employee-by-employee basis at-tyiy-grant basis to determine if there is a txdiit or tax deficiency for such award.
The Company then compares the fair value expentettax deduction received for each grant andeagded the benefits and deficiencies to
establish the APIC Pool.

Due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, some exesaissult in tax deductions in excess of previoustprded benefits based on the option
value at the time of grant, or windfalls. The Compaecognizes windfall tax benefits associated Withexercise of stock options directly to
stockholders' equity only when realized. Accordingleferred tax assets are not recognized for pertading loss carryforwards resulting fre
windfall tax benefits occurring from April 1, 20@Hhward. A windfall tax benefit occurs when the attax benefit realized by the company
upon an employee's disposition of a share-basetdaaxaeeds the deferred tax asset, if any, assdowith the award that the company had
recorded. The Company uses the "with and withopgit@ach as described in Emerging Issue Task FOEEER") Topic No. D-32, in
determining the order in which its tax attributes atilized. The "with and without" approach restiit the recognition of the windfall stock
option tax benefits only after all other tax atttibs of the Company have been considered in thaeshtex accrual computation. Also, the
Company has elected to ignore the indirect taxcesfef share-based compensation deductions in cimgpeur research and development tax
and as such, the Company recognizes the full edfiettiese deductions in the income statement ipénsd in which the taxable event occ
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In March 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force ezhalconsensus on Issue No. 06-03 "How Taxes @adlédcom Customers and Remitted
to Government Authorities Should Be Presentedénititome Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Rasm)" ("EITF No. 0603"). We art
required to adopt the provisions of EITF No. O6kd&he first quarter of fiscal 2008. We currentgport revenue net of taxes collected and
remitted to governmental authorities. We do noteexphe adoption of the provisions of EITF No. #d the first quarter of fiscal 2008 to
have a material impact on our results of operatargsfinancial condition.

In July 2006, FASB issued FASB Interpretation N®, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes:laterpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109" (FIN 48), which clarifies the accountiray fincertainty in income taxes recognized in aermise's financial statements. T
Interpretation requires that we recognize in onaficial statements the impact of a tax positighaf position is more likely than not of being
sustained on audit, based on the technical mdriteegoosition. We expect to adopt FIN 48 in thetfquarter of fiscal 2008, with the
cumulative effect, if any, of the change in accognprinciple recorded as an adjustment to our operetained earnings. We are in the
process of evaluating the effect of FIN 48 on @auits of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 Madue Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fduegestablishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accagrrinciples (GAAP) and expands disclosures afaiuvalue measurements. SFAS

No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncematisrequire or permit fair value measurementsdoes not require any new fair val
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for finalnstatements issued for fiscal years beginningr ffovember 15, 2007 and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early applicatis encouraged, provided that the reporting ehiity not yet issued financial statements for
an interim period within that fiscal year. We da eapect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will haveatemial impact on our results of
operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accoulingetin ("SAB") No. 108, "Considering the Effea$ Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year FinanS8tdtement." SAB 108 was issued in order to elitaitiae diversity of practice
surrounding how public companies quantify finanstkatement misstatements. There are two error atiatutechniques most commonly ut
for quantifying the effects of financial statememisstatements: the "roll-over" and "iron curtainéttmods. The roll-over method focuses
primarily on the impact of the misstatement ongtatement of operations and ignores the revergaleofarryover effects of prior year
misstatements. Because the focus is on the staterheperations, the roll-over method can leaddoumulation of misstatements on the
balance sheet that may be immaterial to the balsineet but correction in a single period could lag¢emal to the statement of operations. The
iron curtain method focuses primarily on the effefctorrecting the accumulated balance as of thenlba sheet date, essentially correcting
balance sheet with less emphasis on reversal afargover effects of prior year errors on theestant of operations. In SAB 108, the SEC
staff established an approach that requires queatidn of financial statement misstatements basethe effects of the misstatements under
both the iron curtain and roll-over method andeferred to as a "dual approach.” SAB 108 permisrapany to initially apply its provisions
either by restating prior financial statementsfalse dual approach had always been used or regptie cumulative effect of initially
applying the dual approach as adjustments to ttamba sheet. SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscahngeending after November 15, 2006, v
early application for the first interim period endiafter November 15, 2006. The Company adopted 8ABL108 in the third quarter of fiscal
year 2007 and such adoption did not have any effiethe consolidated financial stateme

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalndabilities" ("SFAS No. 159")
which permits entities to choose to measure margnfiial instruments and certain other items atfawe that are not currently required tc
measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effectordifiancial statements issued for fiscal yeardribggg after November 15, 2007 and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlybgation is permitted provided that the reportergity also elects to apply SFAS No. 157,
Fair Value Measurements. We are in the processalfiating the effect of SFAS 159 on our resultspérations and financial condition.

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Comprehensive loss, as defined, includes all ctaimgequity (net assets) during a period from pamer sources. The difference betweer
loss and comprehensive loss is due to unrealizesbfoon investments classified as availablesébe: Comprehensive loss is reflected ir
consolidated statements of stockholders' equity.
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NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividingloss available to common stockholders (numerdigrjhe weighted average numbe
common shares outstanding during the period (demetar). Due to net losses incurred for all periptssented, weighted average basic
diluted shares outstanding for the respective gerave the same. The following options and warnaete not included in the computation:
net loss per share because the effect on the atitmg would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Restated) (Restated)
Common stock option 8,930 8,871 7,146
Warrants 8,663 8,663 6,537
17,593 17,534 13,683

2. RESTATEMENT

The Company has restated its consolidated finastagééments to correct certain errors that existéd previously issued consolidated
financial statements for the years ended Marct28@6 and 2005, principally related to our appl@matdf Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 0C-19, " Accounting for Derivative Financial Instrumie Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a ComysaOwn Stock" ("EITF 00-19")
with respect to the accounting for warrants issoetthiree investors in three different equity finiags consummated in fiscal 2005 and 2006
("Equity Financings"). In fiscal years 2005 and @0the financial statements accounted for theseants as equity. The warrants include a
provision that specifies the Company must deliveelly tradable shares upon exercise by the wan@lder. Because there are circumstances
that may not be within the control of the Compamgttcould prevent delivery of registered share$FHI0-19 requires the warrants to be
recorded as a liability at fair value with subseatiughanges in fair value recorded as an item oéegp or income. The restated financial
statements reflect a liability for the warrantghe consolidated balance sheets and income oinldee consolidated statement of operations
for the change in fair value of the warrant lialyifrom period-to-period. In connection with thestatement, the Company also has corrected
an error that it had previously identified and deii@ed not to be material with respect to the ctidated financial statements for the affected
periods. This correction relates to the reclassiiion of $2.0 million from long-term investmentsdioort-term investments as of March 31,
2006.

In addition, as part of the Company's review ofdabéstanding warrants, the Company determinedath&nmaterial number of warrants were
not included in our outstanding warrants in thdgadresented under "NET LOSS PER SHARE", above.Jdmpany has restated the
outstanding warrants for the periods ended Marci28@6 and 2005 to reflect the correct number afavds outstanding.

Summary of Restatement Adjustments

The following summarizes the effects of the restegiet on the 2006 consolidated balance sheet armbtisolidated statements of income and
cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2006 &% Zin thousands, except shares or per share as)oun

As of March 31, 2006

As Previously Restatement

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Reported Adjustments Restated
Shor-term investment $ 12,726% 1,979% 14,705(1)
Total current asse $ 23,815% 1,979% 25,794
Long-term investment $ 3,972% (1,979% 1,993(1)
Fair value of warrant liability (non currer $ -$ 7,123% 7,123(2)
Additional paic-in capital $ 215,072% (11,809%  203,263(3)
Accumulated defici $ (195,005% 4,686% (190,319(4)
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(1) To reflect a reclassification of $1,979,000nfrtong-term to short-term investments.
(2) To reflect warrant liability due to changingetblassification of certain warrants from equityiability.

(3) To reflect a reduction of additional paid-ipdal for the fair value of the warrants at issuadae to changing the classification of certain
warrants from equity to liability.

(4) To reflect change in fair value of the warratitsssified as a liability.

Year Ended March 31, 2006

As Previously  Restatement
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS Reported Adjustments  Restated

Income on change |

fair value of warrant liability $ -$ 886 $ 886(1)
Loss before benefit for income tax $ (24,139 $ 886 $ (23,253
Net loss $ (24,139 $ 886 $ (23,253
Basic and diluted loss per shi $ (0.43'$ 0.01% (0.42

(1) To reflect change in fair value of the warratisssified as a liability.

Year Ended March 31, 2005

As Previously  Restatement
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS Reported Adjustments  Restated

Income on change |

fair value of warrant liability $ -$ 3,800%  3,800(1)
Loss before benefit for income tax $ (19,351 % 3,800 % (15,551
Net loss $ (19,148 $ 3,800 % (15,348
Basic and diluted loss per shi $ 0.43' % 0.08% (0.35

(1) To reflect change in fair value of the warratitsssified as a liability.
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Year Ended March 31, 2006

As Previously Restatement

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Reported Adjustments  Restated
Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss $ (24,139 % 886 $ (23,253(1)
Income on change in fair value of warrant liabi $ -$ (886) % (886,
Net cash used in operating activit $ (21,206 $ - $ (21,206(2)

(1) To reflect change in fair value of the warratitsssified as a liability.
(2) The change in warrant classification from auniggto a liability does not change operating cistvs.

Year Ended March 31, 2005

As Previously Restatement

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Reported Adjustments  Restated
Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss $ (19,148 $ 3,800 $ (15,348(1)
Income on change in fair value of warrant liabi $ -$ (3,800% (3,800
Net cash used in operating activit $ (16,551 $ - $ (16,551(2)

(1) To reflect change in fair value of the warratitsssified as a liability.

(2) The change in warrant classification from aniggto a liability does not change operating cisivs.
3. COMMON STOCK OFFERINGS (AND WARRANTS)

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2006

In December 2005, the Company sold 7,142,858 sludiescommon stock at $2.10 per share for agdespgeoceeds of approximately
$15,000,000, before placement fees and other nffexpenses. The purchasers also received fivewaaants to purchase 1,785,714 shares
of the Company's common stock at an exercise pfi§8.00 per share. The warrants have been recaslédbilities in accordance with EI
00-19. The shares and warrants issued in thisioffavere issued under a shelf registration statémeviously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission relating to the sale of upl26$000,000 of 8x8 securities. The Company paal tzsh fees of six percent of the gl
proceeds to the placement agents, and issued pabement agents three-year warrants to purcha8398 common shares at $2.10 per
share and 35,714 common shares at $3.00 per Jherglacement agent warrants have been classifieduity in accordance with EITF 00-
19. That offering triggered certain awlilution provisions included in warrants issuedrteestors in common stock offerings completed dy
fiscal 2005. Accordingly, the Company modified arraat to purchase 2,000,000 shares at an exendtseqf $2.88 per share to be
exercisable for 2,071,818 shares at an exercise pfi$2.79 per share. The Company also modifiedraant to purchase 1,498,538 shares at
an exercise price of $3.84 per share to be exéleisar 1,587,806 shares at an exercise price @&1$3er share. No other terms of the
warrants were modified. All of the warrants weréstanding as of March 31, 2007. Issuance costs he®g allocated between additional |

in capital and the warrant liability based on atieke fair value allocation.

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2005

In March 2005, the Company sold 6,897,618 sharés ebmmon stock at $2.10 per share for aggrguateeds of approximately
$14,500,000, before placement fees and other nfferkpenses. The shares issued in that offering isseued under a shelf registration
statement previously filed with the Securities &x¢hange Commission. The Company paid total cashdésix percent of the gross
proceeds to the placement agents, and issuedybegevarrants to purchase 137,952 common shaf#sHl per share. The placement agent
warrants have been classified in equity in accardamvith EITF 00-
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19. That offering triggered certain awfilution provisions included in warrants issuedreestors in common stock offerings completed dy
fiscal 2005. Accordingly, the Company modified arraat to purchase 1,920,000 shares at an exendtseqf $3.00 to be exercisable for
2,000,000 shares at an exercise price of $2.88mae. The Company also modified a warrant to @eeli,403,509 shares at an exercise
price of $4.10 to be exercisable for 1,498,538 ehat an exercise price of $3.84 per share. No &hms of the warrants were modified. All
of the warrants were outstanding as of March 30,20

In October 2004, the Company sold 3,508,772 shafritss common stock at $3.42 per share for aggeegaiceeds of approximately
$12,000,000, before placement fees and other nffesxpenses. The purchaser also received a fivesaaaant to purchase 1,403,509 shares
of the Company's common stock at an exercise pfi§d.10 per share. The warrants have been recaslédbilities in accordance with EI
00-19. The shares and warrants issued in thatingfevere issued under a shelf registration statéme@viously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Company paid total cashdésix percent of the gross proceeds to theeplaat agents and issued three-year
warrants to purchase 175,438 common shares at $8rdshare and 70,175 common shares at $4.10 aez. Sthe placement agent warrants
have been classified in equity in accordance witfFED0-19. All of the warrants were outstandingpédlarch 31, 2007. Issuance costs have
been allocated between additional paid in capitdlthe warrant liability based on a relative faatue allocation.

In June 2004, the Company sold 4,800,000 sharigs cdmmon stock at $2.50 per share for aggremateeeds of approximately
$12,000,000, before placement fees and other nffemxpenses. The purchaser also received a fivesaaaant to purchase 1,920,000 shares
of the Company's common stock at an exercise pfi§8.00 per share. The warrants have been recaslédbilities in accordance with EI
00-19. The shares and warrants issued in thatioffevere issued under a shelf registration statém@viously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Company paid total cashdésix percent of the gross proceeds to theeplaat agents and issued three-year
warrants to purchase 240,000 common shares at p2rxhare and 96,000 common shares at $3.00 ger. Sthe placement agent warrants
have been classified in equity in accordance witfFED0-19. All of the warrants were outstandingpd#larch 31, 2007. Issuance costs have
been allocated between additional paid in capitdithe warrant liability based on a relative faifue allocation.

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2004

In November 2003, the Company completed a privitegment of 2,639,773 shares of common stock &3%2er share for aggregate net
proceeds of approximately $7 million. The invesw@iso received common stock warrants with ternfsvefyears to purchase 1,860,055
shares at $3.40 and 779,718 shares at $3.61. Weaesmnts are classified in equity in accordancé &ifTF 00-19. In addition, the investors
were also granted certain preemptive rights allgvwiirem to purchase additional shares of commork $tom the Company, in proportion to
their ownership percentage, to the extent thateshaf the Company's common stock are issued inemtiom with financing activities. The
Company paid a five percent cash fee and issuedantarto purchase 131,989 common shares at aqirk283 per share to its placement
agent in the transaction. These warrants are fiedan equity in accordance with EITF 00-19. AsMéérch 31, 2007, warrants for the
purchase of 1,311,676 shares of common stock wittxarcise price of $3.40 per share and warranthépurchase of 770,597 of common
stock with an exercise price of $3.61 per shareewetstanding. All of the warrants issued to ttezeiment agent were outstanding as of
March 31, 2007.

In July 2003, the Company completed a private preg of 2,260,000 shares of common stock at $Q(#h@daverage closing price for the
five days prior to the sale) per share for aggeegat proceeds of $859,000. The investors alsivextevarrants with terms of five years to
purchase 2,260,000 common shares at $0.60, 565t208s at $0.75 and 565,000 shares at $1.00. Waesants are classified in equity in
accordance with EITF 00-19. In addition, the ineestwere also granted certain preemptive rightsditlg them to purchase additional shares
of common stock from the Company, in proportiothieir ownership percentage, to the extent that steaves of the Company's common
stock are issued in connection with financing atigis. The Company paid a five percent cash féestplacement agent in the transaction. In
December 2003, all of the non-insider investorg@sed their warrants using cashless exercise gias, and as of December 31, 2003 the
preemptive rights had terminated. As a result efdghshless exercises, the Company cancelled wataptirchase 342,928 shares, and is
2,882,072 shares of common stock for which it neegino proceeds. As of March 31, 2007, warrantshfepurchase of 70,000 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $0.60 pareshwarrants for the purchase of 17,500 sharesrafmon stock with an exercise price of
$0.75 per share and warrants for the purchase,60@%&hares of common stock with an exercise @fidd.00 per share were outstanding as
of March 31, 2007.

4. TJF WARRANT

In connection with, and in consideration for, thxe@ution of a marketing and distribution agreenwveittt TJF Associates, LLC ("TJF") on
December 10, 2004, the Company agreed to issuerarwao TJF for the purchase of up to 4,500,0G0eh of 8x8 common stock. The terms
of the warrant provided that at any time prior tecBmber 31, 2009, TJF or its transferees
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could exercise in whole or in part a warrant touseup to 4,500,000 shares (subject to certaitoouary adjustments) of 8x8 common stock,
at a purchase price per share equal to $5.50 (@ubjeertain customary adjustments). Only theaggbrtion of the warrant could be
exercised, and vesting was based on the numberstdroers subscribing to the Company's Packet8ceetivat were referred by TJF. The
shares subject to the warrant would commence eetice TJF had delivered 50,000 subscribers t@#uoget8 service. TIF did not deliver
50,000 subscribers to the Packet8 service, so n@ata had vested by December 31, 2005, and themtawvas automatically cancelled as of
that date.

5. INCOME TAXES

For the year ended March 31, 2005, the Companyrdedoa benefit for income taxes of $203,000, whigs attributable to the release
income tax reserves recorded in prior years anefund received by one of the Company's foreign igidrges. There were no income
provisions for the years ended March 31, 2007 ad@62 The components of the consolidated benefitifoome taxes for fiscal 20
consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current:
Federa $ (157,
State 7
Foreign (53)

$ (203)

The Company's loss before income taxes included0$26 $25,000, and $20,000 of foreign subsidiagoine for the fiscal years enc
March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Deferred tax assets were comprised of the followinghousands):

March 31,
2007 2006

Research and development credit carryforw. $ 5012 $ 6,212
Net operating loss carryforwar 55,792 49,862
Inventory valuatior 490 453
Reserves and allowanc 1,401 1,573
Fixed assets and intangibles 10,478 12,441
73,173 70,541

Valuation allowance (73,173 (70,541
Total $ -$ -

Because of uncertainties regarding the realizatiodeferred tax assets, management has applielll @afuation allowance as of March
2007 and 2006.

At March 31, 2007, the Company had net operatings loarryforwards for federal and state income tarp@ses of approximate
$148,000,000 and $96,000,000, respectively, whiglire at various dates beginning in 2008 and cairiigp through 2027. The net operat
loss carryforwards include approximately $10,000,08sulting from employee exercises of rqpralified stock options or disqualifyi
dispositions, the tax benefits of which, when @&l will be accounted for as an addition to addai paidin capital rather than as
reduction of the provision for income taxes. Iniidd, at March 31, 2007, the Company had reseanthdevelopment credit carryforwa
for federal and state tax reporting purposes of@pmately $3,200,000 and $2,600,000, respectivEhe federal credit carryforwards v
expire at various dates beginning in 2010 and oairig through 2027, while the California credit wgarryforward indefinitely. Undk
applicable tax laws, the amount of and benefitmfreet operating losses and credits that can béeeddarward may be impaired or limited
certain circumstances. Events which may causedtoits in the amount of net operating loss carwéwds that the Company may utilize
any one year include, but are not limited to, a glative ownership change of more than 50% overeetlgear period.
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A reconciliation of the tax provision (benefit) tee amounts computed using the statutory U.S. &decome tax rate of 34% is as follows
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Restated) (Restated)
Benefit at statutory rat $ (3,376 $ (7,906 $ (5,287
State income tax benefit before valuat
allowance, net of federal effe (580, (1,356 (907,
Research and development cre 250 (501 (45)
Change in valuation allowan: 3,582 9,648 6,704
Income from change in fair value of warrant liatlyi (1,488 (353 (1,513
Release of income taxes previously acct - - (203
Compensation/option differenc (14) 9) (332
Prior year loss carryforward reducti 797 261 1,216
Non-deductible compensatic 720 94 2
Foreign rate difference (2) (8) (6)
Other 111 130 168
$ -$ -$ (203,

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiages indefinitely reinvested in foreign operatioNs. provision has been made for taxes that
might be payable upon remittance of such earnimgsis it practicable to determine the amount &f Hability.

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees
Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company imiféeea other parties, including customers, lessord parties to other transactions with the
Company, with respect to certain matters. The Compas agreed to hold the other party harmlessisplaisses arising from a breach of
representations or covenants or intellectual ptgpefringement or other claims made against cenparties. These agreements may limit the
time within which an indemnification claim can bade and the amount of the claim. In addition, tbenfany has entered into
indemnification agreements with its officers ancediors.

It is not possible to determine the maximum posdretmount of the Company's exposure under thesarinification agreements due to the
limited history of prior indemnification claims atide unique facts and circumstances involved i gacticular agreement. Historically,
payments made by the Company under these agreehs@ ot had a material impact on the Companysabipg results, financial position
or cash flows. Under some of these agreements, yewiie Company's potential indemnification lighimight not have a contractual limit.

Product Warranties

The Company accrues for the estimated costs thabmancurred under its product warranties upoenexe recognition. Changes in the
Company's product warranty liability, which is indkd in cost of product revenues in the consoldlatatements of operations, during the
years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follimmhousands)

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006
Balance at beginning of ye $ 301 $ 187
Accruals for warrantie 331 576
Settlement (270; (375
Changes in estimates (39) (87)
Balance at end of year $ 323 $ 301
I I
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Sandby letter of credit

At March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had ceréstricted deposits totaling $250,000 which weerded in the other assets line item
on the consolidated balance sheets. This depositieale in order to obtain a standby letter of tiediccordance with certain contractual
obligations, and is collateralized by a cash degmighe Company's bank.

Leases

The Company leases its primary facility in Santar&| California under a nazancelable operating lease agreement that expirésigus
2009. The Company also has leased facilities imd&gaand Canada. The facility leases include recélaon clauses, and require
Company to pay taxes, insurance and normal maintenaosts. At March 31, 2007, future minimum anrieabe payments under non-
cancelable operating leases, net of sublease inowere as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending March 31

2008 $ 490
2009 493
2010 206
Total minimum payments $ 1,189
]

Rent expense for the years ended March 31, 20@5 20d 2005 was $434,000, $478,000 and $394,080ectvely.

The Company subleases office space under an apgiatise agreement expiring in 2007. The totakéutainimum rentals to be received
under this noncancelable sublease agreement apmates $12,000 in fiscal 2008.

Capital Leases

In April 2005, June 2006 and March 2007, we entémtxla series of non-cancelable five year capéiase agreements for office equipment
bearing interest at various rates. At March 31,72@0ture minimum annual lease payments under muwatable capital leases were as follc
(in thousands):

Year ending March 31

2008 $ 46
200¢ 42
201C 42
2011 26
2012 22
Total minimum payment 178
Less: Amount representing interest a7
161

Less: Short-term portion of capital lease obligagio (39)
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ 122
|

Capital leases included in office equipment wer&2$200 at March 31, 2007. Total accumulated amatitim was $28,000 at March 31, 20
Amortization expense for assets recorded undetaldpases is included in depreciation expense.

Minimum Third Party Network Service Provider Commitments

In July 2006, the Company entered into a contraitt @ne of its third party network service provideontaining a minimum monthly
commitment of $400,000 effective June 1, 2006 tbribnths. At March 31 2007, the total remaininggdilon under the contract was
$5,600,000. In March 2007, the Company enteredadntadditional agreement with this provider to pase a minimum of $1,000,000 in
international usage between March 1, 2007 and May08. As of March 31, the total remaining obigia under this agreement was
$817,000.
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Legal Proceedings

The Company from time to time is involved in vaidegal claims or litigation, including patent iimyement claims that have arisen in
normal course of the Company's operations. Penairfigture litigation could be costly, could cauke diversion of management's atten
and could upon resolution, have a material adveffeet on the Company's business, results of opastfinancial condition and cash flows.

Sate and Municipal Taxes

In general, the Company does not collect or retatesor municipal taxes (such as sales and usisegxtility user, and ad valorem taxes),
fees or surcharges ("Taxes") on the charges t€timepany's customers for its services. The Compaeg dollect and remit California sales
and use tax, however. In September 2006, the Coyigpkamgest third party network service providegéme passing through state and local
E911 taxes to the Company. Beginning October 162t0& Company began collecting certain state acal E911 charges from our
customers that are paid to and remitted throughhiing party network service provider. The Compéaag received inquiries, demands or
audit requests from several states and municipaidgaand 911 agencies, and is currently under dydiine state, seeking payment of Taxes
that are applied to or collected from the custonoégroviders of traditional public switched telepte network services. The Company has
consistently maintained that these Taxes do ndydppts service for a variety of reasons depegdin the statute or rule that establishes
obligations. The Company has recorded an expen$84if,000 and $531,000 for the years ended MarcB®I7 and 2006, respectively as
best estimate of the probable tax exposure for asshssments. The cumulative estimate for prolaaiskessments is $1,570,000 as of March
31, 2007, which is recorded in other accrued lidd line item in the consolidated balance sheets.

Aside from Taxes, certain other fees and chargashaapplicable to the Company's offering. Oneestantends that providers of
interconnected VolP services, like us, must contghio its USF fund. The Company does not agreestizh state surcharges are applicak
its service. Should the Company become subjedate §/SF fees or other telecommunications-relaiecharges, the Company will likely
pass such charges through to its customers. Thacingp this price increase on our customers oCthi@pany's inability to recoup its costs or
liabilities in remitting USF contributions or othtactors could have a material adverse effect ertbmpany's financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

Several state regulatory authorities have contatte@ompany regarding its Packet8 service. Thepdries have ranged from notification
that the Packet8 service should be subject to lecpllation, certification and fees to broad ingsiinto the nature of the Packet8 services
provided. The Company responds to the various atateorities as inquiries are received. Based eitadf counsel, the Company disputes
the assertion, among others, that the Packet8cgeshiould be subject to state regulation. WhileGbmpany does not believe exposure to
or penalties exist, if 8x8 is subject to an enfareat action, the Company may become subject tditiab and may incur expenses that
adversely affect its financial position, resultopkrations and cash flows.

Regulatory

To date VolP communication services have been langeregulated in the United States. Many reguiatmtions are underway or are be
contemplated by federal and state authoritiesudioh the Federal Communications Commission (F@@GY state regulatory agencies.
date, the FCC has treated Internet service providerinformation service providers. Informatiorvgss providers are currently exempt fr
federal and state regulations governing commoriezarrincluding the obligation to pay access chauaed contribute to the universal ser
fund. The FCC is currently examining the statudndérnet service providers and the services theyide. The FCC initiated a notice
public rule-making in early 2004 to gather public comment lom &ppropriate regulatory environment for IP tetaph In November 200
the FCC ruled that the VoIP service of a compettod "similar" services are jurisdictionally intext® and not subject to state certificat
tariffing and other legacy telecommunication carrigulations. The FCC ruling was appealed by sdwtates and on March 21, 2007,

United States Court of Appeals for th& &ircuit affirmed the FCC ruling.

Interconnected VolP providers, like us, are requtreoffer 911 emergency calling capabilities sanib those available to subscribers of
traditional switched phone lines. Moreover, intencected VolP providers were required to distritaiiekers and labels warning customers of
the limitations associated with accessing emergeeroyices through an interconnected VolP servisavall as notify and to obtain

affirmative acknowledgement from our customers thestomers were aware of the differences betweepriergency calling capabilities
offered by interconnected VolP providers as comgawdraditional, wireline providers of telephorendce. The FCC's Enforcement Bureau
released an order stating that the EnforcementaBunéll not pursue enforcement against intercorew®olP providers that have received
affirmative acknowledgement from at
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least 90% of their subscribers. We have receivédredtive acknowledgement from substantially alloeir customers and have substantially
satisfied this requirement of this rule.

Like many interconnected VolP providers, we cuigeaannot offer VolP E911 services that route erargy calls in a manner consistent
with the FCC rules for all of our customers. We addressing this issue with our VolP E911 Solupooviders. On November 28, 2005, we
began routing certain 911 calls to a national eergey call center. The emergency dispatchers imtiimnal call center utilize the location
information provided to route the call to the catrBublic Safety Answering Point (PSAP) or firsspender. The FCC may determine that our
VolP E911 solution for these customers does nigfgahe requirements of the VolP E911 order beeaimssome instances, we will not be
able to connect our subscribers directly to a PSAP.

On June 1, 2007, the FCC released a Notice of BeapRulemaking Proceeding to consider whetheotilshmpose additional VolP E911
obligations on interconnected VolP providers inahgdconsideration of a requirement that intercoted/olP providers automatically
determine the physical location of their custonaher than allowing customers to manually registeir location. The Notice includes a
tentative conclusion that all interconnected VodP/e providers that allow customers to use theivice in more than one location (nome
VolIP service providers such as us) must utilizemuatic location technology that meets the sameracgistandards applicable to provider
commercial mobile radio services (mobile phoneiserproviders). We cannot predict the outcome f pinoceeding nor its impact on the
Company at this time.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC unanimously adoptedrderaequiring interconnected VolP providers to pnmwith the Communications
Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA. CALE&quires covered providers to assist law enforegmgencies in conducting
lawfully authorized electronic surveillance. Undiee FCC order, interconnected VolP providers werglired to comply with CALEA
obligations by May 14, 2007 and make certain filiqgior to that date. Consistent with the relevatds, we continue to work with a third-
party solution provider to devise a CALEA-compligofution. As of May 14, 2007, we had installeg tholution in our network operations
and data centers, but had not yet completed testiali required intercept capabilities of this grjuent. We are diligently working to
complete the testing of this equipment in ordesdbieve full compliance with the FCC's order. Weyrba subject to enforcement actions
including, but not limited to, fines, cease andistesrders, or other penalties if we are not ableamply with CALEA.

On June 21, 2006, the FCC expanded the base oéts$aivService Fund, or USF, contributions to irdareected VolP providers. The FCC
established a safe harbor percentage of 64.9%alf\foIP service revenue to which federal USF dbmtions apply. We may calculate our
contribution based on the safe harbor or by submgit traffic study that is subsequently approvedhe FCC. For a period of at least two
quarters beginning October 1, 2006, we are requé@dntribute to the USF for our subscribers'itegvenues as well as through our
underlying carriers' wholesale charges. Beginniatper 1, 2006, we began charging our subscribe¥SRsurcharge fee equal to the USF
contribution amounts we were required to contriblitee FCC order applying USF contributions to iotemected VolP providers was
appealed and on June 1, 2007, the U.S. Court oé&lpgdor the District of Columbia ruled that the®&®as within its authority when it
required interconnected VolIP service providersawtgbute to the Universal Service Fund, thougstriick down the provision of the order
which required prepproval of traffic studies by the FCC and the piown that required double contributions to thedidior two quarters fror
our underlying carriers' wholesale charges. Whigeare still examining the impact of the ruling, bedieve that we are entitled to a credit for
the two quarters in which we double contributetV®F and for the portion of our contribution thateeded the percentage of interstate tr
that we produced in our traffic study. We furtheliéve that we will have a reduced USF contributiate on a going-forward basis.
Meantime, the FCC continues to evaluate alternatigthods for assessing USF charges, including img@s assessment on telephone
numbers. The outcome of these proceedings canrdétlemined at this time nor can we determine ttenial financial impact as the det:
of an alternative method of USF contribution haweleen determined at this time. There is alsslathat state USF funds may attempt to
impose state USF contribution obligations and otiatre and local charges and fees. In fact, one statends that providers of
interconnected VolIP services, like us, must contgho its USF fund.

On April 2, 2007, the FCC released an order extanthie application of customer proprietary netwiofermation, or CPNI, rules to
interconnected VolP providers. CPNI includes infation such as the phone numbers called by a constimegrequency, duration, and
timing of such calls; and any services/featuresipased by the consumer, such as call waitingfaallarding, and caller ID, in addition to
other information that may appear on a consumét'sddmder the FCC's existing rules, carriers may mse CPNI without customer approval
except in narrow circumstances related to theivigion of existing services, and must comply widtadled customer approval processes
when using CPNI outside of these narrow circumsan€he new CPNI requirements are aimed at edtaidisnore stringent security
measures for access to a customer's CPNI data fiotim of enhanced passwords for on-line accesgalith access to account information
as well
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as customer notification of account or passworadgha. At the present time we do not utilize outauer's CPNI in a manner which would
require us to obtain consent from our customersirbiine event that we do in the future, we willfeguired to adhere to specific CPNI rules
aimed at marketing such services. Effective Decer@h2007, we will be required to implement intdmcesses in order to be compliant
with all of the FCC's CPNI rules. This may imposiliional compliance costs on the Company and redur profitability or cause us to
increase the retail price for our services.

On April 18, 2007, the FCC released a Notice opBsed rulemaking or Notice tentatively concludihgttproviders of interconnected VolP
services, like us, should pay regulatory fees. Adiog to the Notice, the FCC would like to begidlection of such fees in the August to
September 2007 timeframe. The FCC is consideritayzding contribution obligations for interconnedtVolP providers based on either
revenues or telephone numbers used by us. We cpreditt the outcome of this proceeding.

On June 8, 2007, the FCC released an order impkimgerarious recommendations from its IndependemePReviewing the Impact of
Hurricane Katrina on Communications Networks Paineluding a requirement that certain interconneédatelP providers submit reports
regarding the reliability and resiliency of thelt19systems. At this time, we are not subject teahreporting requirements but may become
subject in future years.

On June 15, 2007, the FCC extended the disabditgss requirements of Sections 225 and 255 of dinen@inications Act, which applied to
traditional phone services, to providers of intemected VolP services and to manufacturers of afpeciesigned equipment used to provide
those services. Section 255 of the Communicatiastgéquires service providers to ensure that itspgent and service is accessible to and
usable by individuals with disabilities, if readéghievable, including requiring service provid@rensure that information and documente
provided in connection with equipment or servicesabcessible to people with disabilities, wherelitgachievable and that employee
training account for accessibility requirementsattdition, the FCC said that interconnected Vol#vioters were subject to the requirements
of Section 225, including contributing to the Telganunications Relay Services, or TRS, fund andttiet must offer 711 abbreviated
dialing for access to relay services. At this tinve,cannot predict the outcome of this proceedinguo ability to comply with these disability
obligations. We may be subject to enforcement astincluding, but not limited to, fines, cease dedist orders, or other penalties if we are
not able to comply with these new disability obtigas. When the Order becomes effective, we wiffibeontributing to the federal TRS
fund and we will likely pass those fees througlvtio customers increasing their bills for servicerbbver, compliance with the new
disability rules may impose additional costs on@uwenpany and reduce our profitability or causeousitrease the retail price for our servi

The effect of any future laws, regulations and dinders on our operations, including, but not limit®, the Packet8 service, canno
determined. But as a general matter, increasedatigu and the imposition of additional funding igfaltions increases our costs of provic
service that may or may not be recoverable fromoustomers which could result in making our sewvitEss competitive with traditior
telecommunications services if we increase ouilnetaes or decrease our profit margins if we @ to absorb such costs.

7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
1996 Stock Plan

In June 1996, the Board adopted the 1996 Stock (#en1996 Plan) and reserved 1,000,000 shareseo€bmpany's common stock
issuance under this plan. The Company's stockiokldrsequently authorized increases in the nunfb&mases of the Company's comr
stock reserved for issuance under the 1996 Pl&00f000 shares in June 1997 and 2,000,000 shawksgust 2000. The 1996 Plan ¢
provides for an annual increase in the number afeshreserved for issuance under the 1996 Planeofirst day of the Company's fiscal y
in an amount equal to 5% of the Company's commacksssued and outstanding at the end of the imatelgti preceding fiscal year, subj
to a maximum annual increase of 1,000,000 shates.afinual increase was 1,000,000 shares in edidtalf 2007, 2006 and 2005. To d.
this provision has resulted in increases in shexesrved for issuance under the 1996 Plan tot&jB85,967. The 1996 Plan provides
granting incentive stock options to employees amustatutory stock options to employees, directorsomsultants. The stock option price
incentive stock options granted may not be less tha determined fair market value at the daterafig Options generally vest over f
years and expire ten years after grant. The 1986 &tpired in June 200

1996 Director Option Plan

The Company's 1996 Director Option Plan (the Doe&tan) was adopted in June 1996 and becameieéfentJuly 1997. A total of 150,01
shares of common stock were initially reservedigeuance under the Director Plan. The Companytkistdders subsequently authorizec
increase in the number of shares of common staved for issuance under the
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Director Plan to 500,000 shares in August 2000,18860,000 in July 2002. The Director Plan provifteshoth discretionary and periodic
grants of nonstatutory stock options to non- emgiéogtirectors of the Company (the Outside Directdrsg exercise price per share of all
options granted under the Director Plan will beada the fair market value of a share of the Comyfsacommon stock on the date of grant.
Options generally vest over a period of four ye@nstions granted to Outside Directors under the@or Plan have a ten year term, or shi
upon termination of an Outside Director's statua dsector. The Director Plan expired in June 2006

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 2000, the Board approved the 1999 Nouostay Stock Option Plan (the 1999 Plan) with 600,88ares initially reserved for issua
thereunder. In fiscal 2001, the number of sharssried for issuance was increased to 3,600,00@slbgrthe Board. Under the terms of
1999 Plan, options may not be issued to eithecedf§i or directors of the Company provided, howetrat options may be granted to
officer in connection with the officer's initial gnoyment by the Company. Options generally vest doer years and expire ten years ¢
grant. The 1999 Plan has not been approved bytdieklwlders of the Company. In May 2006, the Bazadcelled the 1999 Plan, and no |
grants may be made from the 1999 Plan.

2006 Stock Plan

In May 2006, the Board approved the 2006 Stock Rlan"2006 Plan"). The Company's stockholdersegbently adopted the 2006 Plan at
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held Sepemi8, 2006, and the 2006 Plan became effecti@ztober 2006. The Company
reserved 7,000,000 shares of the Company's comtack for issuance under this plan. The 2006 Ptarniges for granting incentive stock
options to employees and nonstatutory stock optiomsnployees, directors or consultants. The stgtion price of incentive stock options
granted may not be less than the fair market vaiuthe effective date of the grant. Other typespiions and awards under the 2006 Plan
may be granted at any price approved by the adtrates, which generally will be the compensatiomeaittee of the board of directors.
Options generally vest over four years and exgireyears after grant. The 2006 Plan expires in RH6.

Option Activity

Option activity under the Company's stock optioangl since March 31, 2004, is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Shares Average
Shares Subject to Exercise
Available Options Price
for Grant Outstanding Per Share
Balance at March 31, 20( 5,061,322 6,213,30¢ $ 2.77
Change in options available for gr. 975,000 - -
Grantec (1,860,500 1,860,50( 2.39
Exercise( - (251,610 1.38
Canceled/Forfeited 676,462 (676,462 5.06
Balance at March 31, 20( 4,852,228t 7,145,73¢ 2.50
Change in options available for gr. 992,000 - -
Grantec (2,401,500 2,401,50C 1.70
Exercise( - (59,898 1.41
Canceled/Forfeited 616,620 (616,620 2.18
Balance at March 31, 20( 4,059,40% 8,870,71¢ 2.31
Change in options available for gr. 8,000,00C - -
Grantec (3,074,200 3,074,20C 1.42
Exercise( - (383,746 0.90
Canceled/Forfeite 2,631,194 (2,631,194 1.96
Termination of plans (5,689,940 -
Balance at March 31, 2007 5,926,45¢ 8,929,97¢ $ 2.17

Significant option groups outstanding at March 3007 and related weighted average exercise pridecantractual life information for 8x
Inc.'s stock option plans are as follows:
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Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate Exercise Aggregate
Price Contractual Intrinsic Price Intrinsic
Shares Per Share Life (Years) Value Shares Per Share Value
$0.01t0$1.3. 2,04541C$ 1.16 7.6 9% 614,842 1,004,28¢€ $ 1.08% 146,191
$1.33t0%$1.7. 2,019,54C $ 1.55 8.7 4,72¢ 624,124 $ 1.57 250
$1.73t10%$1.8 2,542,05¢ $ 1.81 6.0 1,949,77€¢ $ 1.82
$1.88t0 % 4.0 1,787,594 $ 2.81 5.8 1,307,542 $ 2.96
$4.01to $14.94 535,376 $ 8.00 4.1 501,728 $ 8.23
8,929,97¢ $ 619,567 5,387,45¢ $ 146,441
I I |

The Company recognized stock compensation expenfiscal 2007 and 2006 of $1,810,000 and $239,88pectively. Stock compensat
expense in fiscal 2006 was primarily comprised 28%000 attributable to the change in option tefarsa former employee director
connection with his resignation from the Board.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (theraggte difference between the closing stock
price of the Company's common stock on March 30724nd the exercise price for in-the-money optidina) would have been received by
the option holders if all in-the-money options heekn exercised on March 31, 2007.

The total intrinsic value of options exercisedhe years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 vi€®@ @00, $32,000 and $455,000,
respectively. As of March 31, 2007, there was $8ilon of unamortized stockased compensation expense related to unvestédagitions
which is expected to be recognized over a weigatedage period of 1.43 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchds#saces under the Purchase Plan for the yearsievidech 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were
$0.5 million, $0.3 million, and $0.4 million. Thetal tax benefit attributable to stock options eiged in the year ended March 31, 2007 was
$15,000.

The Company did not recognize and does not expeeicbgnize in the near future any tax benefitteelao employee stock-based
compensation cost as a result of the full valuatibowance on its net deferred tax assets and Beaaflits net operating loss carryforwards.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1996 Stock Purchase Plan (the PwrdbPlasm) was adopted in June 1996 and became g#egfion the closing of tl
Company's initial public offering in July 1997. Ti@»mpany suspended the Purchase Plan in 2003 antiveged the Plan in fiscal 20!
Under the Purchase Plan, 500,000 shares of comtook were initially reserved for issuance. At tharsof each fiscal year, the numbe
shares of common stock subject to the Purchaseiftegases so that 500,000 shares remain avafiabissuance. This provision resultec
an increase of 416,589 shares issuable under ttuhd&e Plan during the fiscal year ended March2803. During fiscal 2007 and 20
249,806 and 118,535 shares, respectively, weredssader the Purchase Plan. In May 2006, the Bajppdoved a tegear extension of ti
Purchase Plan so that it would be effective ur@il2 Stockholders approved a tggar extension of the Purchase Plan at the 2006@&
Meeting of Stockholders held September 18, 2006. Hilwrchase Plan is effective until 2017.

The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees tohase common stock through payroll deductionspaica equal to 85% of the fair mar
value of the common stock at the beginning of eaahyear offering period or the end of a six moptirchase period, whichever is low
When the Purchase Plan was reinstated in fiscab,20@ offering period was reduced from two yearsre year. The contribution amo
may not exceed ten percent of an employee's baspearsation, including commissions but not includimguses and overtime. In the e\
of a merger of the Company with or into anothempooation or the sale of all or substantially alltioé assets of the Company, the Purc
Plan provides that a new exercise date will bé®eatach option under the plan which exercise dalteoccur before the date of the merge
asset sale.
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The fair value of each of the Company's option tydras been estimated on the date of grant ussgltéckScholes pricing model with t
following assumptions:

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected volatility 90% 135% 142%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 4.6% to 5.0% 3.8% to 4.7% 3.7% to 4.3%
Weighted average expected option te 3.4 years 3.5 years 5 years
Weighted average fair value of options grar $ 0.88 $ 134 % 2.11

For the purpose of providing pro forma disclosuteghe fiscal years during which the Purchase Rlas in effect, the estimated fair value of
stock purchase rights granted under the PurchaseviRire estimated using the Black-Scholes pricindehwith the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected volatility 84% 135% 141%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 5.13% 3.95% 1.79%
Weighted average expected rights t¢ 0.75 year 0.72 year 0.5 year
Weighted average fair value of rights gran $ 0.36 $ 114 % 0.33

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
401(k) SavingsPlan

In April 1991, the Company adopted a 401(k) savipgs (the Savings Plan) covering substantiallyadlits U.S. employees. Eligik
employees may contribute to the Savings Plan frioeir tcompensation up to the maximum allowed by Ititernal Revenue Service.
matching contributions were made in fiscal 200@005. On January 1, 2007, the Company reactivaeemployer matching contributic
The employee matching contribution is 100% of eawiployee's contributions in each year, not to ex&ie500 per annum. Our expens
fiscal 2007 was $0.1 million. The Savings Plan doetsallow employee contributions to be investethimn Company's common stock.

9. SEGMENT REPORTING

SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of aarfarise and Related Information,” establishes alna@interim reporting standards for
an enterprise's business segments and relatedsiises about its products, services, geographésamed major customers. Under SFAS No.
131, the method for determining what informatiomeport is based upon the way management orgathigesperating segments within the
Company for making operating decisions and assg$isiancial performance. The Company has only epertable segment.

The following table presents net revenues by groggbf similar products (in thousands).

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Packet8 service, equipment and of $ 52,799 $ 31,221 $ 10,006
Semiconductors and related softw 230 624 1,348
Hosted iPBX solutions 101 47 121
Total revenues $ 53,130 $ 31,892 $ 11,475
| | |
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The following table illustrates net revenues bygephic area. Revenues are attributed to courttdesd on the destination of shipmen
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
United State: $ 52,463 $ 31,141 % 10,472
Europe 317 291 646
Taiwan 165 127 157
Other 185 333 200
$ 53,130 $ 31,892 $ 11,475

The majority of the Company's property and equipmeas located in the United States. The followiaplé illustrates property a
equipment by country (in thousands):

March 31,
2007 2006
United State: $ 2,838 $ 3,069
France 2 2
$ 2,840 $ 3,071
—— ——

No customer represented more than 10% of the Coyfgptotal revenues in fiscal 2007, 2006 or 2(
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SCHEDULE Il -- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

8X8, INC.

(IN THOUSANDS)

Additions
Balance Charged to
at Costs, Balance
Beginning Expenses at End
Description of Year and Other Deductions of Year
Year ended March 31, 200
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 135 $ -$ 67 $ 638
Valuation allowance for deferred tax as: 54,190 6,704 - 60,894
Year ended March 31, 200
Allowance for doubtful accoun 68 5 18 55
Valuation allowance for deferred tax as: 60,894 9,647 - 70,541
Year ended March 31, 200
Allowance for doubtful accoun 55 48 49 54
Valuation allowance for deferred tax as: 70,541 2,632 - 73,173
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

(UNAUDITED)
QUARTER ENDED
March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,
2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Service revenues $ 12,414 $ 11,515 % 11,240 $ 9,877 $ 8,629 $ 6,769 $ 5719 % 4,996
Product revenues 1,974 1,800 1,916 2,394 1,712 1,714 1,344 1,009
Total revenues 14,388 13,315 13,156 12,271 10,341 8,483 7,063 6,005

Operating expense

Cost of service revenues 4,688 4,555 5,015 4,762 4,177 3,326 2,795 2,069

Cost of product revenues 1,974 1,818 1,354 2,928 2,733 3,357 2,537 2,105

Research and developm: 1,040 1,094 1,257 1,321 1,676 1,470 1,446 1,324
Selling, general, and

administrative 9,121 8,833 8,498 9,205 8,712 7,244 6,042 5,865

Total operating expenses 16,823 16,300 16,124 18,216 17,298 15,397 12,820 11,363

Loss from operations (2,435 (2,985 (2,968 (5,945 (6,957 (6,914 (5,757 (5,358

Other income, net 128 112 184 243 311 125 189 222

Loss on fair value of warrant liability (603, 40 401 3,898 994 624 (957, 225

Net loss $ (2,910 $ (2,833 % (2,383 $ (1,804 $ (5,652 $ (6,165 $ (6,525 $ (4,911

Net loss per shari

Basic $ (0.05' $ (0.05 $ (0.04' $ (0.03' $ (0.09 $ (0.11'$ 0.12'$ (0.09

Diluted $ (0.05' $ (0.05 $ (0.04' $ (0.03' $ (0.09 $ (0.11'$ 0.12'$ (0.09
Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic 61,605 61,420 61,329 61,138 61,105 54,836 53,871 53,823

Diluted 61,605 61,420 61,329 61,138 61,105 54,836 53,871 53,823

As described in Note 2 of the Notes to the Conatdid Financial Statements, the Company has regiedeibusly issued financial statements
relating to the accounting for certain of its watsa In connection with the restatement, the Comdso corrected other errors in the
quarterly financial statements that it had previpigdentified and determined not to be materiale Tbllowing summarizes the impact of the
restatement on the quarterly information (unaudifedeach of the quarters in fiscal 2006 and trst three quarters of fiscal 2007.

Three months ended December 31, 2006 Three months ended September 30, 2006
As previously  Restatement As previously  Restatement
Reported Adjustments  Restated Reported Adjustments ~ Restated

Service revenue $ 11,423 % 92 $ 11,515(1) $ 11,332 % (92)$ 11,240(1)
Total revenue $ 13,223 % 92% 13315 % 13,248 $ (92)$ 13,156
Research and developme  $ 1,187 $ 93)% 1,094(2) $ 1,293 % (36)% 1,257(3)
Total operating expens ~ $ 16,393 $ (93)$ 16,300 $ 16,160 $ (36)$ 16,124
Loss from operation $ (3,170' $ 185% (2,985 % (2,912° $ (56)$ (2,968
Income on change in fe
value of warrant liability $ -$ 40 $ 404) $ -$ 401 $ 401(4)
Net loss $ (3,058 $ 225% (2,833 % (2,728 $ 345% (2,383
Net loss per shar
Basic $ (0.05'% 0.00 $ (0.05 $ 0.04'% 0.00 $ (0.04
Diluted $ (0.05'% 0.00 $ (0.05 $ 0.04'% 0.00 $ (0.04

(1) To reflect the increase in revenue due to iremdly recording $92,000 in licensing revenue ia $kecond fiscal
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quarter of 2007 as opposed to the third fiscal tgmanf 2007.

(2) To reflect a $67,000 reduction in expense egldb a tooling cost in the period ended DecemlibePB306, that was recorded as a period
expense, but should have been amortized over timeagsd life of the tooling and a $26,000 reductfiostock compensation expense in the
third fiscal quarter of 2007, due to excess expéms@rrectly recorded related to the terminatiomofemployee.

(3) To reflect a $36,000 reduction in stock compdios expense in the second fiscal quarter of 2680&,to excess expense incorrectly
recorded related to the termination of an employee.

(4) To reflect change in fair value of the warratitsssified as a liability during the quarter.

Three months ended June 30, 2006

As previously Restatement
Reported Adjustments Restated

Research and developmt 1,360 (39) 1,321(1)
Total operating expens 18,255 (39) 18,216
Loss from operation (5,984 39 (5,945
Income on change in fe
value of warrant liability - 3,898 3,898(2)
Net loss $ (5,741 $ 3,937 $ (1,804
Net loss per shar
Basic $ (0.09 $ 0.06 $ (0.03;
Diluted $ (0.09 $ 0.06 $ (0.03;

(1) To reflect a $39,000 reduction in stock compdios expense, due to excess expense incorrectlyded related to the termination of an
employee.

(2) To reflect change in fair value of warrantsssified as a liability during the quarter.

Three months ended March 31, 2006 Three months ended December 31, 2005
As previously  Restatement As previously Restatement
Reported Adjustments  Restated Reported Adjustments  Restated
Income on change in fe
value of warrant liability - 994 994(1) - 624 624(1)
Net loss $ (6,646 $ 994 % (5,652 $ (6,789 $ 624 $ (6,165
Net loss per shar
Basic $ (0.11'% 0.02 $ 0.09 $ (0.12 % 0.01$% (0.11
Diluted $ (0.11'% 0.02 $ 0.09 $ (0.12 % 0.01% (0.11
Three months ended September 30, 2005 Three months ended June 30, 2005
As previously  Restatement As previously  Restatement
Reported Adjustments  Restated Reported Adjustments  Restated
Income (loss) on change in fi
value of warrant liability - (957, (957(2) - 225 225(1)
Net loss $ (5,568 $ (957 (6,525 $ (5,136 $ 225% (4,911
Net loss per shar
Basic $ (0.10% (0.02 % 0.122 $ (0.10% 0.01$ (0.09
Diluted $ (0.10% (0.02 % 0.122 $ (0.10% 0.01$ (0.09

(1) To reflect change in fair value of warrantsssiéied as a liability during the quarter.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findret@ements contained in Item 8 of this Annual é&tepn Form 1K, the Company hi
restated its 2006 and 2005 annual consolidateddinbstatements to correct an error related tdimpany's accounting for certain warre
As a result of this error, the Company has alstated its interim consolidated financial statemdatsthe first three quarters of 2007 anc
quarters for 2006. In connection with this restaamthe following material weakness was identitieat existed during fiscal 2006 and p
periods. A material weakness is a control defigieloc combination of control deficiencies, thatuks in more than a remote likelihood th.
material misstatement of the annual or interimririal statements will not be prevented or detecié@ Company did not maintain effeci
controls over the accounting for warrants. Speaifyc the Company's controls did not ensure thergmiate classification of warrants a
liability in accordance with generally accepted @anting principles. This control deficiency resditen the misstatement of stockhold
equity, liabilities, and net loss which resultedhie need to restate the Company's previously égsBnancial statements as discussed above.

In reaching the conclusion that the Company's d&ok controls and procedures and internal coatret financial reporting were effective
of March 31, 2007, management considered, amorey tiings, the material weakness described abowgn@®the quarter ended Septen
30, 2006, the Company engaged new legal counseMakth 31, 2007, management evaluated the designoparating effectiveness
controls over the accounting for warrants, whicbluded enhanced review by our legal counsel andnewly appointed Chief Financ
Officer and concluded that the material weakness dlve accounting for warrants had been remedidtkchagement concluded that
Company's controls over the accounting for warrarteh were remediated in the quarter ended Semesl, 2006, operated effectively
of March 31, 2007 and that it was the effectiverapjen of those controls that resulted in the testent discussed above.

Evaluation of Effectiveness of Disclosure Controland Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and phaess (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15de) under the Securities and Exch
Act of 1934 ("Disclosure Controls") that are designto ensure that information the Company is reguio disclose in reports filed
submitted under the Securities and Exchange AtB8# is accumulated and communicated to managemehiging our principal executi
and principal financial officers, as appropriate atiow timely decisions regarding required disal@s and that such information is recort
processed, summarized and reported within the pieniods specified in Securities and Exchange Cosionigules and forms.

As of the end of the period covered by this Anrfraport on Form 1@, under the supervision of our Chief Executivei@f and our Chi¢
Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectivenes®wr Disclosure Controls. Based on this evaluatom Chief Executive Officer and ¢
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that ourdisure Controls were effective as of the end efgilariod covered by this Annual Rej
on Form 10-K.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaicitaining adequate internal control over finahmporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15
() and 15d15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)r @ternal control over financial reporting is @p®ed to provide reasonal
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdading and the preparation of financial statemdotsexternal purposes in accordance '
generally accepted accounting principles. Becaf@i#is mherent limitations, internal control ovéndincial reporting may not prevent or de
misstatements. Also, projection of any evaluatibeftectiveness to future periods is subject torikk that controls may become inadeq
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand our Chief Financial Officer,"
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofirtternal control over financial reporting as of idia 31, 2007. This evaluation was base
the criteria ininternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commissic
Based on our assessment using the criterlatennal Control - Integrated Framework , we concluded that our internal control over ficiai
reporting was effective as of March 31, 2007.
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Management's assessment of the effectiveness ointarnal control over financial reporting as of idia 31, 2007, has been auditec
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registpublic accounting firm, as stated in their ®pohich appears in Item 8 of tl
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

The Company's management, including the Chief BrexwOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, does nexpect that the Compan
Disclosure Controls or internal control over finaaeporting will prevent all errors and all fraudl control system, no matter how w
designed and operated, can provide only reasonadii@bsolute, assurance that the control systanestives will be met. Further, the des
of a control system must reflect the fact that éhare resource constraints, and the benefits dfa@emmust be considered relative to t
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in afitool systems, no evaluation of controls can gte\absolute assurance that all control is
and instances of fraud, if any, within the Comphaaye been detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dwamncial reporting that occurred during the fisqahrter ended March 31, 2007 that t
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART Il

Certain information required by Part Il is omitttdm this Report on Form 1K-in that the Registrant will file its definitiverBxy Statemet
for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the 200@®r Statement) pursuant to Regulation 14A of theuiges Exchange Act of 1934,
amended, not later than 120 days after the enteofiscal year covered by this Report, and ceilit#fiormation included in the 2007 Prc
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this is included in tB807 Proxy Statement under the captions "ElectibiDirectors -- Nominees" an
"Corporate Governance" and is incorporated hergireference.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics thaliea to our principal executive officer, princigiinancial officer and all othi
employees at 8x8, Inc. This Code of Conduct andcEtis posted in the corporate governance sectimuowebsite at www.8x8.com. V
intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement urigen 10 of Form & regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a jzion of this Code ¢
Conduct and Ethics by posting such informatiorhim ¢orporate governance section on our websitevat.8x8.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be indeed in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the captiglestion of Directors -Compensatic
of Directors," "Executive Compensation” and is irpmrated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be setth in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the captiémilitional Information --Security
Ownership" and "Additional Information Equity Compensation Plan Information" and is ipayated herein by reference. Informa
relating to securities authorized for issuance uredgiity compensation plans will be presented uidecaption "Securities Authorized
Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans" in thrypstatement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stam#ers.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item will be set forth the 2007 Proxy Statement under the captiongta@e Relationships and Rela
Transactions" and "Corporate Governance" and srparated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorp@ctby reference from the information contained untte caption "Ratification
Independent Accountants -Principal Accounting Faes Services" and "Ratification of Independent Aottants - Prédpproval Policies ar
Procedures" in the proxy statement for our 2007ushiMeeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@)(2) Financial Statements. The information required by this item is includedtiem 8.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. The information required by this item is includedtem 8.

(@)(3) Exhibits. The documents listed on the Exhibit Index appeaiimthis Report are filed herewith or hereby inargied by referenc
Copies of the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Indexl be furnished, upon request, to holders or lhierse owners of the Company's comn
stock.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fd)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Reagyidt 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporati
has duly caused this Report on FormKL@ be signed on its behalf by the undersigneekeatinto duly authorized, in the City of Santa G
State of California, on June 29, 2007.

8X8, INC.

By: /s BRYAN R. MARTIN

Bryan R. Martin,

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each peratiose signature appears below constitutes andirgp@®ryan R. Marti
and Daniel Weirich, jointly and severally, his atteys-infact, each with the power of substitution, for Himany and all capacities, to s
any amendments to this Report on FornKl@nd to file the same, with exhibits thereto atlier documents in connection therewith, with
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ragifgimd confirming all that each of said attorneyaat, or his substitute or substitutes, 1
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitieskawthange Act of 1934, this Report on FormKl®as been signed by the following pers
in the capacities and on the date indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl BRYAN R. MARTIN Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal June 29, 2007
Bryan R. Martin Executive Officer)
/s/ DANIEL WEIRICH Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance June 29, 2007
Daniel Weirich and Secretary

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ GUY L. HECKER Director June 29, 2007
Guy L. Hecker, Jr.

/s/ CHRISTOPHER MCNIFFE Director June 29, 2007
Christopher McNiffe

/s/ JOE PARKINSON Director June 29, 2007
Joe Parkinson

/s/ DONN WILSON Director June 29, 2007
Donn Wilson
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Exhibit
Number

3.1()

3.2 (b)

3.4 (c)

4.1 ()

4.2 ()

4.3 (k)

4.4 (K)

4.5 (K)

4.12 (I)

4.13 (m)

4.14 (n)

4.15 (o)

4.16 (p)

10.1 (a)

10.2 (a)*

8X8, INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title
Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incoapion of Registrant.
Bylaws of Registrant.
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedif@ate of Incorporation of Registrant.

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Investaponnection with the sale of the Registrantisicmn
stock and warrants under its shelf registratiotestent (File No. 333-114133), as amended, and as
supplemented by a prospectus supplement dated21u2€04.

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Placémgents in connection with the sale of the Regists
common stock and warrants under its shelf registrattatement (File No. 333-114133), as amendediaan
supplemented by a prospectus supplement dated21u2€04.

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Invesyathe Registrant in connection with the salehef t
Registrant's common stock and warrants under @ gigistration statement (File No. 333-114133), a
amended, and as supplemented by a prospectus sigrtldated September 29, 2004.

Side Letter dated September 30, 2004 between thstRant and the Investor to amend the warrantddatee
23, 2004 in connection with the sale of the Regigts common stock and warrants under its sheiétragjon
statement (File No. 333-114133), as amended, asdmsdemented by a prospectus supplement dated
September 29, 2004.

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Placémgents in connection with the sale of the Regists
common stock and warrants under its shelf registrattatement (File No. 333-114133), as amendediaan
supplemented by a prospectus supplement datedrSieg@t@9, 2004.

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Invedbgrthe Registrant in connection with a private
placement of equity securities on July 29, 2003

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to AGE Invagsninc., dated March 7, 2005, in connection with
the sale of the Registrant's common stock and wesrtander its shelf registration statement (File B@8-
114133), as amended, and as supplemented by aeptosgupplement dated March 3, 2005

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Griffiru8ees, Inc., dated March 7, 2005, in connectiathw
the sale of the Registrant's common stock and werkander its shelf registration statement (File BR8-
114133), as amended, and as supplemented by aeptosgupplement dated March 3, 2005

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Investoconnection with the sale of the Registrant's
common stock and warrants under its shelf registrattatement (File No. 333-126350), as amendetiaan
supplemented by a prospectus supplement dated Decdr, 2005

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued to the Placémgeants in connection with the sale of the Regists
common stock and warrants under its shelf registrattatement (File No. 333-126350), as amendediaan
supplemented by a prospectus supplement dated Decdr, 2005

Form of Indemnification Agreement

1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and form afkSBption Agreement
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10.3 (d)* 1996 Stock Plan, as amended, and form of Stoclo@ptgreement

10.4 (a)* 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedommaf Subscription Agreement
10.5 (e)* 1996 Director Option Plan, as amended, and formidctor Option Agreement

10.6 (f)* 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, as amendeatif@m of Stock Option Agreement
10.7 (9)* 2006 Stock Option Plan.

10.8 (9) Sublease dated September 29, 2004 between thetf@ageand SafeNet, Inc

10.9 (h)*  Agreement dated January 22, 2006 between the Ragisind Dr. Barry Andrews

10.10 (i)*  Form of 2006 Stock Option Agreement under the 28k Option Plan

10.11* Agreement dated March 19, 2007 between the Regisirad Mr. Richard Murray. PDF provided as

courtesy

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for EmployErscutive Officers and Directors PDF provided as
courtesy

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant. PDF provided as courtesy

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring. PDF provided as courtesy
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on page 77).

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Retgant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedipaigo
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002PDF provided as courtesy

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Risgrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedipntgo
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002PDF provided as courtesy

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Retgant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedipnigo
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002PDF provided as courtesy

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Risgrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedipntgo
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002PDF provided as courtesy

* Indicates management contract or compensatory @iarrangement.

(a) Incorporated by reference to identically nuneldeexhibits filed in response to Item 16 (a), "Bits," of the registrant's Registrat
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-15627), as dewndeclared effective July 1, 1997.

(b) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 filedesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits" of the Registiafiorm S-3 dated April 1, 2004.

(c) Incorporated by reference exhibits filed inp@sse to Item 14(a), "Exhibits,” of the Registrathnual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended March 31, 20(

(d) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 filedesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the Registimform S-8 dated November 7, 2000.
(e) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 filedesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the RegistiefRorm S-8 dated November 7, 2000.
(f) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 filedesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the RegistimRorm S-8 dated July 17, 2000.

(9) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed @sponse to Item 9.01, "Exhibits," of the RegisteaReport on Form 8-K filed on October 5,
2004.
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(h) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filedesponse to Item 9.01 "Exhibits" of the Registls Report on Form 8-K filed on January
26, 2006.

(i) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filadesponse to Item 6, "Exhibits" of the Registim@Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2006.

() Incorporated by reference to identically nunmdzbexhibits filed in response to Item 7, "Exhibité'the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K
filed on June 22, 2004.

(k) Incorporated by reference to identically nundzkexhibits filed in response to Item 9.01, "Extsibof the Registrant's Report on ForniK8-
filed on October 1, 2004.

() Incorporated by reference to identically nurmdzkexhibit filed in response to Item 7, "Exhibits"the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K
filed on July 31, 2003.

(m) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 filedesponse to Item 9.01, "Exhibits" of the Registls Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March
8, 2005.

(n) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.4 filadesponse to Item 9.01, "Exhibits" of the Registls Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March
8, 2005.

(o) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 filedesponse to Item 9.01, "Exhibits" of the Registls Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
December 20, 2005.

(p) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.5 filedesponse to Item 9.01, "Exhibits" of the Registls Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
December 20, 2005.

(g) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 filedesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the Registi®Form S-8 dated September 26, 2006.
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Exhibit 10.1:
March 19, 2007

Richard Murray
President, 8x8, Inc.

Dear Richard:

This letter confirms that you are effectively resioy from 8x8, Inc. ("8x8") on March 27, 2007, whistarts the severance provisions outlined
below, pursuant to final approval via formal resmn by 8x8's Board of Directors at its regularbheduled meeting on March 27, 2007:

1. EMPLOYMENT. You effectively remain an employee8x8 through September 27, 2007, though are freed& employment
elsewhere, subject to honoring the obligationsafaompete (which are determined at the time yoweagaging in any new activity,
and are intended to prevent 8x8 from paying yoargakhile you are working for a direct competiteuch as Vonage, SunRocket or
Covad, whereas employment at Google or elsewhevédwmt conflict so long as there is no direct cetitpn with 8x8) and
nondisclosure, as well as assignment of intellégit@perty developed through March 27, 2007. Yow as nothing on intellectual
property developed after March 27, 2007. You afpea period of six months after March 27, 200 béocavailable to consult on
matters as they might arise that relate to yourleympent prior to March 27, 2007, including answgrguestions or talking to some
partner or party who may require reassurance, eraipnal or legal assistance. Your approved exgeimeurred through March 27,
2007 will be paid out through the normal expeng®reprocess. You resign as an officer effectivedia7, 2007. You will continue
to be paid via 8x8's normal payroll through Septenity, 2007, at which time you will be reimbursedyour PTO at your final exit
interview.

2. STOCK, MEDICAL AND OTHER BENEFITS. You will comiue to vest your existing stock grants subjectdoksplan provisions
through September 27, 2007. You will continue weree medical and other benefits, including 40H{) ESPP, for this 6 month
period (through September 27, 2007) other than ®hi{oh ceases to accrue on March 27, 2007.

3. 8x8 PROPERTY AND E-MAIL. You may continue to usey 8x8 equipment presently in your possessionuf gesire. After March
27, 2007 you will be reimbursed for any approve# phone calls/expenses on your cell phone or elsemihcurred as part of any ¢
consulting herein through the normal expense rgpoitess. 8x8 will discontinue your access to Repit, Packet8 Administration,
E-mail and other internal systems on March 27, 20@u will deliver all 8x8 property back to the cpany on or before September
27, 2007 at your final exit interview.

4. WAIVER. You hereby waive any and all claims agai®x8, Inc., its affiliates and subsidiaries (lretf@x8"), and 8x8's officers,
directors, employees, consultants, contractorscagtbmers.

Thank you for your cooperation and for your mangitabutions to 8x8.

Approved:

Richard Murray
Sincerely,

Bryan R. Martin
Chairman & CEO, 8x8, Inc.




Exhibit 14.1

8x8, Inc.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Employees,
Executive Officers and Directors

Introduction

8x8, Inc. (the "Company") strives to apply highiesih moral and legal principles in every aspedt®business conduct. This Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is a guide for all Camgppersonnel consisting of employees and directors

This Code applies to all Company personnel, ardliessed to each employee and director indivigluakets forth broad ethical principles
that the Company has established for the conduit$ biisiness, and outlines certain key legal reguénts of which all Company personnel
must be aware and with which all Company persommedt comply. This Code is not intended to covergissue that may arise, and in the
course of performing their duties and responsieslifor the Company, all personnel should act wigse principles in mind and should use
good judgment and common sense at all times.

This Code is designed to deter wrongdoing and pterite following:

e Honest and ethical conduct, including the ethi@addiing of actual or apparent conflicts of intettestween personal and professional
relationships

e Avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disslre to an appropriate Company representativayfraterial transaction or
relationship that reasonably could be expectedvi® ise to such a conflict

e Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandabgeldisure in reports and documents that the Comfil@sywith the Securities and
Exchange Commission and in other public commurocatmade by the Company

e Compliance with applicable governmental laws, raled regulations

Prompt internal reporting of violations of this &otb an appropriate person

e Accountability for adherence to this Code.

Company personnel who violate the standards cadaimthis Code will be subject to disciplinaryiant possibly including termination of
employment.

1. Conflicts of Interest

A "conflict of interest" exists when an employe@ficer's or director's private interest interfekgith or appears to interfere with the interests
of the Company. A conflict of interest can ariseewthe individual acts or has interests that malenitadifficult for him or her to objectively
and effectively perform his or her work for the Quamy. Conflicts of interest also can arise whenildévzidual, or a member of his or her
family, receives improper personal benefits becatfises or her position in the Company.




Unless approved by the Board, neither you nor aesnber of your immediate family can acquire a finahioterest in, or accept employment
with, an entity doing business with the Companyé interest or employment could conflict with yalurties to the Company and the
performance of such duties. For example, it is Isaaconflict of interest for Company personneltork simultaneously for a competitor,
customer or supplier. Also, you cannot work foloapetitor as an employee, consultant or board membe

In addition, you and your immediate family membeaanot accept material gifts or favors that coulhte the appearance that your business
judgment could be affected by the receipt of sufis gr favors. You and members of your immediatmily, however, can accept gifts
nominal value from existing sources, prospectiu@sas or persons, firms or companies with whomQbmpany does or might do business.

The purpose of business entertainment and gifiscommercial setting is to create good will andsbworking relationships, not to gain
unfair advantage with customers. You cannot offfts gr favors to any employee, or a member ofdlmployee's immediate family, of a
competitor, supplier or customer if the gifts ovdes might place the recipient under any obligatmgou or to the Company.

Conflicts of interest are prohibited as a matte€ofmpany policy. You are required to bring any ¢iohdf interest or potential conflict of
interest to the attention of your immediate supmyithe Company's chief financial officer or othppropriate person as described in Section
13. Conflicts of interest may not always be apparemif you have a question regarding whetherriquaar situation is a conflict of interest,
you should consult with your immediate supervisocantact the Company's chief financial officer eEutive officers or members of t

Board should consult with a member of the Audit @Quttee of the Board, which consists entirely ofside, independent directors.

2. Corporate Opportunities

Company personnel cannot take personal advantaggpoftunities discovered using corporate propénfgrmation or position. Company
personnel cannot use corporate property, informato position for personal gain, and cannot compéth the Company directly or
indirectly. It is the duty and responsibility of @lompany personnel to advance the Company'stegfiéi interests when the opportunity to do
SO arises.

3. Confidentiality

Company personnel must maintain the confidentialftgll confidential and non-public information e#eed from the company or its
customers and suppliers, except when discloswaeti®rized by an executive officer of the Compangampelled by disclosure laws or ve
legal process. Confidential information includdsr#fiormation that, if disclosed, might be of usecompetitors, or harmful to the Company
its customers or suppliers. It also includes infation that customers and suppliers have entrustdtetCompany. For example, confidential
information includes financial documents, pricimgvendor information, corporate development matgriae cost of goods, personnel files,
manuals and procedures, computer software, desigumakents, videos and internal reports or memordnéizzmation that the Company has
made public, such as press releases, advertiseoretidsuments filed with governmental regulatorthauties, is not confidential
information. The obligation to preserve confidehitidormation extends




beyond the term of employment with, or serviceltie, Company. Furthermore, in addition to your ethabligation to preserve the
confidential nature of such sensitive informatipoy must abide by the terms of your proprietarpinfation and assignment of inventions
agreement with the Company.

4. Fair Dealing

The Company seeks to outperform its competitioriyfaind honestly through superior performance astdhrough unethical or illegal
business practices. Company personnel must endeadeal fairly with customers, suppliers, compesitand colleagues. Company perso
cannot steal proprietary information, possess tezaeet information obtained without the owner'ssemt, or induce such disclosures by past
or present employees of other companies. You mayake unfair advantage of anyone through manimriatoncealment, abuse of
confidential information, misrepresentation of nnatiefacts or any other intentional unfair practid&e knowing or deliberate falsification of
any documents or data in connection with servighéoCompany will be the basis for immediate disgeaand may subject the violator to
civil and/or criminal penalties.

5. Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets

Company personnel must endeavor to protect the @oygpassets and property and ensure their effiagm Theft, carelessness, and waste
have a direct adverse impact on the Company'stabdfty. All payments with Company funds requifgpaoval by an authorized officer who
has knowledge of the purpose of the payment, adegudstantiation of the identity of the payee amitten contracts establishing the
payment obligation. Company personnel must reportsaispected incident of fraud or theft immediafelyinvestigation. Moreover,
Company personnel must use all assets and propfetiey Company only for legitimate business purgose

The obligation of Company personnel to protectGloenpany's assets extends to the Company's intedlgatoperty. Intellectual property
includes trade secrets, patents, patent applicatteademarks, and copyrights, as well as busimesdseting and service plans, engineering
and manufacturing ideas, designs, databases, seaaiadry information and any non-public finandata and reports. Unauthorized use or
distribution of this information violates Companglicy and may subject the violator to civil andfwiminal penalties.

6. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

All Company personnel must respect and obey ths,lawes and regulations of the cities, statesyipoes, territories and countries in which
the Company operates. Company personnel shouldaiahe Company's chief financial officer with aquestions as to the applicability of
any law, rule or regulation or the appropriate nerof compliance therewith. The chief financialiogf will be responsible for conferring
with legal counsel and resolving the issue.

7. Insider Trading

Company personnel who have access to confidenf@imation cannot use or share such informatiorsfock trading purposes or for any
other purpose except the proper conduct of the @owlp business. All Company personnel are subjettiet Company's




Policy on Insider Trading and Confidentiality iffexft from time to time. Insider trading is a criaued can lead to criminal and civil fines,
penalties and charges against the Company anddiagor.

If you have any questions regarding non-publicrimfation and the use of such information or the Camyfs Policy on Insider Trading and
Confidentiality, you should contact the Companyigtfinancial officer.

8. Discrimination and Harassment

The Company requires strict adherence to its msiand applicable laws regarding equal employmgordunities and discrimination in the
workplace. The Company will not tolerate illegadatimination or harassment. Relationship with aiiges and business relationships with
competitors, suppliers and customers always musbbducted free of any discrimination, including®a on race, color, creed, religion, age,
sex, sexual preference, national origin, marit@iust, veteran status, handicap or disability.

9. Health and Safety

The Company strives to provide all Company persbwith a safe and healthful work environment. Ydause responsibility for maintaining
safe and healthy workplace by following safety aedlth rules and practices and reporting accidanjtsjes and unsafe equipment, practices
or condition.

The Company will not tolerate violence or threatgnbehavior in the workplace. In addition, Compaeysonnel are required to report to
work in condition to perform their duties, freeirfidhe influence of illegal drugs or alcohol. Thengany will not tolerate the use of illegal
drugs in the workplace.

10. Record-Keeping

The Company requires honest and accurate recoatidgeporting of information in order to make rasgble business decisions. You must
document and record accurately all of your busieggenses. If you are unsure whether a particulgerese is legitimate, you should ask the
Company's chief financial officer. Executive offiseor members of the Board should confer with a tremof the Audit Committee. Rules
and guidelines regarding business expenses aralaedirom the Company's account department.

All of the Company's books, records, accounts amghtial statements must be maintained in reaserdsihil, must appropriately reflect the
Company's transactions and must conform both tbcatye legal requirements and to the Company'tesy®f internal controls. Unrecorded
or "off the books" funds or assets cannot be maiathunless permitted by applicable laws or regamat Furthermore, all Company
personnel are subject to the Company's DocumerinRen Policy. Any questions concerning the ComfmBpcument Retention Policy
should be directed to the Company's chief finarmfifiter.

Company personnel must avoid exaggeration, derogegmarks, guesswork or inappropriate charactéozs of people and companies in
business records and communications. This probibépplies equally to e-mail, internal memos andchéd reports.




11. Payments to Government Personnel or Candidatdor Office

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act prohibits givargthing of value, directly or indirectly, to offads of foreign governments or foreign
political parties or candidates to obtain or retaiisiness. Making payments to government offiaélany country is illegal.

Kickbacks, bribes, rebates or other illegal consitien are prohibited, and must never be giverncoepted by any Company personnel. All
Company personnel dealing with government agemoigest be aware of, and comply with, any agency rieiing or prohibiting gifts or
other favors.

The Company cannot contribute, directly or indifgdb any political campaign or party. Companygmemel cannot use expense accounts to
pay for any personal political contributions orlseay other form of reimbursement from the Compfamysuch contributions. Of course, you
are free to engage in political activity with yaawn resources on your own time.

12. Waivers of the Code of Business Conduct andHics

Any waiver of this Code for executive officers drettors requires the approval of the Board andtreslisclosed promptly as required by
applicable law, rules or regulations.

13. Compliance and Reporting

If you are concerned about a possible ethicallegall situation or any violation of this Code oe &iot sure whether specific conduct meets
applicable Company standards, you should discgssithation with your immediate supervisor or cahthe Company's chief financial
officer. Executive officers or members of the Comya board of directors should discuss the sitmatith a member of the Audit Committ

Company personnel must report violations of lawkes, and regulations of this Code to immediateestipors, the Company's chief financial
officer, or the chairperson of the Audit Committesecutive officers or members of the Board mugbresuch matters to a member of the
Audit Committee.

The Company prohibits retaliation for reports dfieal misconduct made by Company personnel in daitkl. If a situation requires that the
identity of the person reporting any such miscomaat be disclosed, the Company will protect hisligranonymity, to the extent legally
possible.

For further information and guidance regardingréqgorting of potential violations of this Code, ystwuld review the Audit Committee's
Policy on Complaints of Accounting, Internal Accding Controls and Auditing Matters.

14. Amendments

This Code may only be amended by the Board. Thepgaosnmust report promptly any amendments pertaittrexecutive officers or senior
financial officers as required by applicable lawses or regulations.







8x8, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
8x8 Europe SARL France
8x8 (Hong Kong) Limited China
Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. California, USA

Netergy Networks Canada Holding Company Delawd&A
UForce Holding Company Delaware, USA
Visit, Inc. California, USA

EXHIBIT 21.1




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referemtiee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N83-3930, 333-
49414, 333-80379, 333-75402, 333-108289, 333-11,1328-114133, 333-118643, 333-120457, 333-126338; 3
126350 and 333-131823) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-3@B8&-50519, 333-41594, 333-49410, 333-66296, IBFY,
333-108290, 333-118642, 333-126337 and 333-137&98%8, Inc. of our report dated June 28, 20074thed) to the
consolidated financial statements, financial stat@nschedule, management's assessment of the\effexss of
internal control over financial reporting and thieetiveness of internal control over financial ogjing, which appeal
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
June 28, 2007




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bryan R. Martin, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16#i8x8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notagorny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢e))%nd internal control over financial reportif@g defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

A.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingpared;

Designed such internal control over financialaming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in at@oce with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registramgdasure controls and procedures and presentindsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehlis report based on
such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regigts internal control over financial reportingtloccurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anbalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiitiernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxmmittee of the registrant's board of direcf@nspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A.

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordka@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize @&port financial information;
and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

June 29, 2007

/S/ BRYAN R. MARTIN
Bryan R. Martin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.Z
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel Weirich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKx8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donftate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememi3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢e))%nd internal control over financial reportif@g defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

A. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared;

B. Designed such internal control over financialaming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registram@asure controls and procedures and presentindsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

D. Disclosed in this report any change in the regrgts internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer andblve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatauminmittee of the registrant's board of direci@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A. All significant deficiencies and material weakaes in the design or operation of internal cordx@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize @&port financial information;
and

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involeanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

June 29, 2007

/S/ DANIEL WEIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of 8x8, Inthe("Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended M&t, 2007, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat@h@he "Report"), I, Bryan R. Martin, Chairman a@tief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 3% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sask@nley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@@mn and results of operations of the
Company.

/S/ BRYAN R. MARTIN

Bryan R. Martin

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
June 29, 2007




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of 8x8, Inthe("Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended M&t, 2007, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date@h@he "Report"), I, Daniel Weirich, Chief FinaatiOfficer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipot$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @22@hat:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenit§ection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@mn and results of operations of the
Company.

/S/ DANIEL WEIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer
June 29, 2007




